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as required under SFAS 141 “Business Combinations”, (“SFAS No 1417) The followng are the estimated fair value of assets acquired and
Liabilities assumed as of the Closing Date (dollars 1n thousands)

Current assets i ' T i ) T s " si618
Property and equipment ) 372.405
Goodwill ~ ) . o ’ 212,530
Other intangible assets o o ) ] o 68,052
Other long-term assets B T B . B o o : ] 2933
Total assets acquired ) S ) L o . 707.538
Current habilities ' : o ) o . o T (58,193)
Long-term habilities (12.790)
Total habihties acquired - ) ’ ’ ’ L ) S (70.983)
Purchase price $  636.555

Of the $68 1 million of acquired intangible assets, approximately $5 7 million was assigned to various trade names and are being amortized
over four years and approximately $62 4 milhon was assigned to the Acquired Businesses’ customer base, which has an esumated useful Iife of
3 years The values assigned 1n these financial statements are preliminary and represent management's best estimate of current values which
are subject to revision due to changes n estimates of fair value as well as the pending claim discussed above The goodwill recorded from this
acquisition was adjusted for impairment as discussed 1n note 3

The results of operations for the Acquired Businesses are included 1n the accompanying consohdated financial statements from the Closing
Date through December 31, 2004 The following 1s unaudited pro forma financial information of the Company assuming the Allegiance
acquisiion had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented (dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2004 2003
Revenue ’ o ' X o $. 1,529753 _ $ 1,630,042
Net loss apphcable to common ‘shares ) o ) 471,690y s (336 580)
Net loss per common share — basic and diluted N B 3 Qe 5 T 239y
Weighted average shares — basic and diluted 181.457,087 " 141,012,858

3.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Principles of Consolidation
The Company's consolidated financial statements include all of the assets. habilities and results of operations of subsidiaries 1n which the
Company has a controlling interest All inter-company accounts and transactions among consolidated entiies have been eliminated
(b} Use of Estimates and Assumpnons

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 1n the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumpuions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabihties and disclosure of contingent
assets and habilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period Management penodically assesses the accuracy of these estimates and assumptions Actual results could differ from those esimates

Certain reclassificatrons have becn made to prior pertod amounts 1n order to conform to the current year presentation
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(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers alt ighly higuid investments with maturitics of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents
Cash equivalents consist pnmarily of money market accounts that are available on demand The carrying amount of these instruments
approximates fair value due to their short maturnties

(d) Marketable Securites and Other Investments

The Company’s marketable securities currently consist of debt and equity investments 1n publicly traded compames The Company
classifies 1ts tnvestments 1n equity securities as available-for-sale and records such investments at fair value The fair values are based on
quoted market prices Other investments are recorded at cost, which approximates farr value Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale
marketable seccunities are reported as a separate component of comprehensive income Realized gains and losses for available-for-sale securiues
are recognized 1n mvestment income

(e} Long-Lived Asscts

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, broadband wireless licenses, and intangible assets to be held and used Long-hved
assets, excluding intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 1n circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount should be addressed pursuant to SFAS No 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” (“SFAS No 1447) The cniteria for determining impairment for such long-lived assets to be held and used 1s determined by comparing
the carrying value of these long-lived assets to management’s best estimate of future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use
of the assets The Company belicves that no impairment existed under SFAS No 144 as of December 31, 2004 [n the event that there are
changes 1n the planned use of the Company's long-lived assets or 1ts expected future undiscounted cash flows are reduced sigmficantly, the
Company's assessment of its ability to recover the carrying value of these assets under SFAS No 144 could change

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually dunng the fourth quarter, or more frequently if an event
indicates that the asset might be impaired, 1n accordance with SFAS No 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets™ (“SFAS No 1427) XO
retained independent apprasers to perform a preliminary valuation of 1ts assets and habilities as of December 31, 2004 This valuation was
necessary as XO’s fair value as determined by 1ts stock pnice, was less than its book value Based on this appraisal, XO recorded a
$212 5 mulhion non-cash impairment charge on 1ts goodwill This report wall be finalized 1n the first quarter of 2005. and could result in a
change to this preliminary estmate The Company performed the required transitional impairment tests of goodwill primanly from the
Concentnc merger as of January 1. 2002, and determined that the goodwill was totally impaired Accordingly, 1n the first quarter of 2002 the
Company recogmzed a $1,876 6 milhon charge as a cumulative effect of accounung change to write off all of 1ts goodwill

(f) Property and Equipment

Addiuons to property and equipment dunng 2004 and 2003 are stated at cost. Property and equipment acquired prior to December 31, 2002
1s stated at its fair value at January 1. 2003 Depreciation 1s calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets
beginning 1n the month telecommunications networks and acquired bandwidth are substantially complete and available for use and 1n the
month equipment and furmture are acquired Telecommunications networks and bandwidth include the deployment of fiber optic cable and
telecommunications hardware and software for the expressed purpose of delivening telecommunications services Costs of additions and
improvements are capitalized. and repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred Direct costs of constructing property and
equipment arc capitahized including interest costs related to construction
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Equipment held under capital leases 1s stated at the lower of the fair valuc of the asset or the net present value of the minimum lease
payments at the incepuion of the lease For equipment held under capital leases, depreciation 1s provided using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the esumated uscful lives of the leased assets or the related icasc term

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows

Telecommunications networks and acquired _b':'.u'idwxdlh . - 3-20 years .

Furniture. fixtures, equipment, and other 5-7 years o o

Leasehold improvements ) the shorter of the estimated useful lives or the terms of the
: leases : '

These useful lives are determined based on historical usage with considcration given to technological changes and trends 1n the industry,
which could impact the nctwork architecture and asset uuhzation Accordingly, in making this assessment, the Company considers 1ts planned
usc of the assets, the views of experts within the Company and outside sources regarding the impact of technological advances and trends 1n
the 1industry on the value and useful lives of 1ts network assets The Company periodically evaluates the estimated useful lives used to
depreciate 1ts assets While the Company believes its estimate of uscful lives are reasonable, sigmficant differences 1n actual expenence or
significant changes 1n assumptions may affect future depreciation expenses

(g) Broadband Wireless Licenses and Other Intangibles

Broadband wireless hicenses are stated at their fair values at January 1. 2003 The Company 1s amoruzing these licenses over the portion of
the onginal hicense term remaining after the license ts placed into service, or 10 years, whichever 1s shorter. Amortization commences when
commercial service using broadband wireless technology 1s deployed 1n the heense's geographic area

Other 1ntangible assets consist of customer relatonships. internally developed technology and trade names Customer relationships and
nternally developed technology are amortized ustng the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of three years The XO trade name
was dctermined to have indefinite Iife and 1s not being amortized, but1s reviewed at least annually for impairmentn accordance with
SFAS No 142 Other trade names are amortized over their estimated useful lives of four years

(h) Other Assets
Other assets consist primarily of a $25 0 million escrow as well as secunty deposits and pledged secunties The escrow and security
deposits and pledged securities are stated at cost, and their fair value approximates their carrying value

(1) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxcs 1n accordance with the provisions of SFAS No 109. “Accounung for Income
Taxes,” (“SFAS No 109™) which requires that deferred income taxes are determined based on the esumated future tax effects of differences
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and habilities given the provisions of the enacted tax laws Valuation allowances are
used to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount considered likely to be realized

() Class A Convernble Preferred Stock

The Company accretes changes 1n the redemption value of its Class A Convertible Preferred Stock as they occur and adjusts the carrying
value of the secunty to cqual the redemption value at the end of each reporting period The accretion 1s included 1n net income (loss) apphcable
to common shares 1n the Company’s consolidated statement of stockholders equity
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(k) Revenue Recognition

Revenues from telecommunications services are recogmzed when the services are performed, evidence of an arrangement exists, the fee 1s
fixed and determinable and collectibility 1s probable In circumstances when these critenia are not met. revenue recognition 1s deferred until
resolution occurs

Service discounts and incentives related to telecommunication services are recorded as a reduction of revenue when granted or ratably over
a contract period Fees billed 1n connection with service nstallations and other non-recurring charges are deferred and recognized ratably over
the estimated customer life of three years

The Company establishes allowances for collection of doubtful accounts and other sales credit adjustments Allowances for sales credits are
established through a charge to revenue, while allowances for doubtful accounts are established through a charge to selling, operating and
general expense The Company assesses the adequacy of these reserves monthly by considenng general factors, such as the length of ime
individual recervables are past due, histonical collection expenence. the economic and competitive environment, and changes 1n the
creditworthiness of 1ts customers The Company believes that the established valuation allowances are adequate If circumstances relating to
specific customers change or econommce conditions worsen such that the Company’s past collection experience and assessment of the economic
environment are no longer relevant, XO's estmate of the recoverability of its trade receivables could be further reduced

Revenue from the sale or lease of unlit network capacity 18 recogmzed upon consummation of the transaction and the acquirer’s acceptance
of the capacity 1n instances when the Company receives upfront cash payments and 1s contractually obligated to transfer title to the specified
capacity at the end of the contract term 1f the transaction does not meet these critena. revenue ts recogmzed ratably over the contract term
There were no sales of unlit capacity during the reported periods whereby revenue was recogmzed "up front” upon consummation of the
transaction

(1) Cost of Service

Cost of service includes expenses directly associated with providing telecommunications services to customers, including. among other
items, the cost of connecting customers to the Company’s networks via leased facilities, the costs of leasing components of our network
faciliies and costs paid to third party providers for interconnect access and transport services All such costs are expensed as incurred The
Company accrues for the cxpected costs of services received from third party telecommunications providers duning the period the services are
rendered Invoices received from the third party telecommumcations providers are often disputed due to billing discrepancies

The Company accrues for all disputed invoiced amounts as these amounts represent contingent lhabihitics that are considered probable and
mecasurable and typically must pay the invoiced amounts even while they're being disputed Disputes resolved 1n the Company’s favor may
reduce cost of service 1n the penod the dispute 15 settled Because the period of time required to resolve these types of disputes often lapses
over several quarters. any benefits associated with the favorable resolution of such disputes normally are realized 1n periods subsequent to the
accrual of the disputed invoice

(m) Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Net income (loss) per common share. basic and diluted. 1s computed by dividing net income (loss) applicable to common shares by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period In periods of net loss, the assumed common share equivalents for
options and warrants are anti-dilutive

{n) Stock-Based Compensanon

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-
Transiion and Disclosure.” (“SFAS No 148") As allowed
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by SFAS No 148, the Company has chosen to continuc to account for compensation cost associated with its employee stock plan 1n
accordance with the intrinsic value method prescribed by APB No 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (“*APB No 25") adopting
the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No 123 Under this method, no compensation expense 1s recorded 1f stock options are granted at an
exercise price equal to or greater than the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the grant date If the Company had adopted the fair
value method of accounting for its stock awards, stock-based compensation would have been determined based on the fair value for all stock
awards at the grant date using a Black-Scholes pricing model and the following weighted average assumptions

Predecessor X0

2004 2003 2002
Expected volaulty .~ - . ' ) 610%  750% . 1250%
Risk free interestrate. ) ) L 318 26% | 40%
Dividend yield T ) I - . 00% 00% | 00%
Expected life (range 1n ye.n's) ) ; 40 40 A0
Fair value per share at grant date ) $ 219 $295 - 8011

The Company’s pro forma net loss applicable to common shares, and pro forma net loss per common share, basic and diluted. 1f the
Company had used the fair value method would have been as follows (dollars 1n thousands, except per share data)

Predecessor X0
December a1, December 31, December 31,
) i 2004 2003 2002

Net loss apphcable to common shares, as reported $ (405.543) $ (102.554) |$ . (3,350,362)
Add Stock-bascd employee compensation expense included 1 net loss

apphcablc to common shares. as reported 406 708 o 28,928
Deduct Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined ’ ) )

under fair value based methods for all stock awards ) (7.966) (16.189) (1,462)
Pro forma net loss $ (413,103) $ (118.035) |$ (3.322.896)
Net loss pcr common shan. baslc and diluted - ' ) ' T X .
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted — as rt.porled $ 257) % (107) |3 (7 58)
Net loss per common share; basic and diluted — pro forma $ (258) § 123 |s° - - (152

(0) Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes the Company’'s net loss applicable to common shares, as well as net unrealized gans and losses on available-
for-sale investments and. for any periods prior to the second quarter of 2002, foreign currency translation adjustments relating to the
Company’s European operations, which were disposed of 1n February 2002

(p) Concentration of Credut Risk

Other financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit nsk consist pnmanly of trade receivables
Although the Company’s trade receivables are geographically dispersed and include customers 1n many different industnes, a portion of the
Company's revenue ts generated from services provided to other telecommunications service providers Several of these compamies have filed
for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code while others have expenienced business downturns The Company beheves that its
established valuation and credit allowances arc adequate to cover these nsks '
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(q) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No 107, "Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments™ ("SFAS No 1077), requires disclosure of fair value information
about financial instruments, for which 1t 1s practicable to estimate the value The carrying amounts for the majonty of the Company's financial
nstruments classified as current assets and habilities approximate therr fair value due to their short matunties Marketable secunities are
recorded at fair value Amounts outstanding under long-term debt agreements approximate their esimated fair values as they accrue interest at
rates that are vanable every 3-6 months

(r) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Statement No 123 (revised 2004), “Sharc-Based Payment” (“SFAS No 123R™), was 1ssued 1n December 2004 Once effective this
statement will require entities to recogmzed compensation cost for all equity-classified awards granted. modified or settled after the effecuve
date using the fair-value measurement method In addition, public companies will recognize compensation expense for the unvested portion of
awards outstanding as of the cffective date based on their grant-date fair value as caiculated under the original provisions of SFAS No 123
The effective date for public entities 1s June 15, 2005 The amount of compensation expense that XO records after the adoption of
SFAS No 123R 1n 2005 and beyond, will depend on the amount, tming and pricing of stock option grants

4. MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gatns and losses and fair value of the investment secunities available-for-sale as of December 31, 2004
and 2003, are in the following table Other investments consist of debt securities as of December 31, 2004 that mature 1n 2007 and 2008
(dollars 1n thousands)

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrcalized
Fair Value Cost Basis Holding Gains Holding Losses

As of December 31, 2004 _ ] ]
Equity secunties ) $ 6417 5 1705 § 4712 $ —
Debt secunties = T . . 10,883 . 10.883 . — - —
Total marketable secunties $ 17.300 S 12.588 3 4.712 S —
As of December 31, 2003 ) . L : . .
Equity secunties . . 30041 5 28,663 § 001 s (1.623)
Debt securities - : 12011 12011 — C—
Total marketable sccuntics $ 42.052 $ 40.674 S 3001 S (1.623)

As part of the purchase effort with Allegiance, XO acquired $92 5 million 1n face value of unsecured Allegiance debt securities for
$36 4 million Consequently, XO 1s a claimant 1n Allegiance’s bankruptcy The ATLT will eventually scttle all outstanding claims against the
Allegiance estate with cash or the XO common stock that was distributed to 1t on the Closing Date Based on our best esumate of XO's share
of the net assets of the ATLT as disclosed 1n the latest report that the ATLT filed with the Bankruptcy Court, a $10 4 million impairment
adjustment has been recorded as the decline in fair value was considered to be other than temporary It 1s difficult to assess how much of the
claim XO will recover, or when the recovery will be pard This assessment could change based upon the total amount of claims the ATLT 1s
directed to pay. the amount of admimistrauve costs that 1t incurs and the value of 1ts assets, including 45 4 milhon shares of XO's stock
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5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following components (dollars 1n thousands)

December 31.
2004 2003

Telecommumcanons nctworks and acquired bandwidth ~ R T . $ 675844 $ 382.854°
Furniture. fixtures, equipment, and other 236.788 77.783
. . SRR - o . B 512632 260,637
Less accumulated depreciation 208.032 79.501
Construction-n-progress and inventory 115,936 104.848
: ! ARy . N . Y ®05% . 5 485984

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, depreciation expense was $140 1 mathon, $83 1 millien, and $598 5 million, respectively During 2004, 2003
and 2002 the Company capitalized interest on construction costs of $4 0 milhion, $3 0 milhon, and $11 1 milhon. respectively Assets classified
as construction-n-progress and inventory are not being depreciated as they are not currently ready for their mlcndcd use and have not yet been

placed into service

6. BROADBAND WIRELESS LICENSES AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

Broadband wireless hicenses and other intangible asscts consisted of the following (dollars in thousands)

December 31.

2004 2003

Broadband wireless icenses o ’ S h $  59.508 $  59.508
Customer relationships. - o ) ) B 112,366 49.987
Internally developed technology o L . X I 9.521 .
Acquired tradenames 5.673 —
c o ' . . 187,068 119,016
Less accumulated amortization (63.864) (26.163)
L e e ) o 123,204, 192,853 ¢
XO Trade name — indefimite hife asset 16.662 16.662

T o B ' ’ $ 139866  $ 109515

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $37 7 mithon, $26 2 million and $101 3 million,
respectively As of December 31. 2004, approximately $23 5 million of broadband wireless licenses are not being amortized as commercial
services have not been deployed 1n the license’s geographic area Estimated amortization expense for the next five ycars 1s $48 4 million,

$28 5 mullion, $17 7 nullion, $4 9 mullion and $0 1 million. respectively
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7. ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued habiliies consisted of the following components (dollars 1n thousands)

December 31.

2004 2003

Accrued compensation. . o o s 54405 S 461247
Deferred revenue ) o B o ) ) 53.556 26.01]
Accrued operating taxes i o - o ) 50,277  49.046
Accrued operating expenses R ] . o o o ) ) 31937 27.837
Accrued telecommunications costs L L 24881 . 19.491 ¢
Accrued restructuring charges =~ B o ] ) 13.776 20.046
Other accrued habihties . L ) . 12,700 19,798

$ 241,532 $ 208.353

8. ACCOUNTING FOR ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Company has vanous agrecments in which 1t leases conduit space and pole attachment nghts from govemmental entities, pubhc
utiltties. and other telecommunications service providers for its fiber Additionally, the Company has its telecommumcations and data center
equipment in vanous leased technical facilives In many cases, the Company has contractual obligations to remove the assets associated with
these lease agreements upon termination of the agreements Accordingly, the Company has recorded a hability and asset for the present value
of the estimated future capital expenditures associated with the related asset retirement obligations. The following table 1s a reconciliation of
the beginning and ending asset retirement obhgations (dollars 1n thousands)

Balance as of December 31,2003 - X B . ) . $ 12,855
Accretion . o . S L. o o ., 16
Revisons | =~ 0 3 N A1)
Balance as of December 31, 2004 3 5.893

The asset retirement obligations and associated asset are estimated based on several assumptions If information becomes known that 1s
different than the assumptions 1n use, revisions are made using the more precise informanon If actual results differ from the assumptions used,
the amount of the obligations will differ, perhaps sigmficantly, from the amounts reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements

9. LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company has a secured credit facility (the “Credit Facihity™) which matures on July 15, 2009 There are no additional borrowings
available under the Credit Facility At December 31, 2004, more than 90% of the underlying loans of the Credit Facility are held by an entity
controlled by Mr Carl C Icahn, Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors (“Mr Icahn™) At December 31, 2004, long-term debt
consisted of $361 0 million in principal and $5 2 million of accrued 1nterest that, 1f not paid, converts to pnncipal The Company paid down the
Credit Facility by $197 6 mullion 1n January 2004 There are no current debt service requirements since cash interest payments as well as
automatic and permanent quarterly reductions on the principal amount outstanding do not commence until 2009 However, tn the event that
consohdated excess cash flow (as defined 1n the Credit Facility) for any fiscal quarter duning the term of the agreement 1s greater than
$25 0 mullion, at the request of the lender, the Company will pay an amount equal to 50% of such excess cash flow greater than $25 0 million
toward the reduction of outstanding indebtedness In addition, 1f the ratio of XO's consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciauon and
amortization (“EBITDA™) to consohdated 1nterest expense for four consecutive quarters exceeds 4 I, XO would be required to pay cash
terest, unless waived by the lenders
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The secunty for the Credit Facility consists of all assets of XO including the stock of its direct and indirect subsidianes, and substantially
all the assets of those subsidianies The Credit Facility mats additional indebtedness, liens, dividend payments and certain mmvestments and
transactions, and contains certann covenants with respect to EBITDA requirements, as the term EBITDA 15 defined 1n the Credut Faciity, and
maximum capital expenditures In addition, the Company was required to achieve a minimum consohdated EBITDA of not less than $62 0
mullion for the twelve-month penod ended December 31, 2004, which requirement was not met by the Company On August 3, 2004 the lender
waived the apphicability of the mimmum EBITDA covenant for each quarter from March 31, 2004 through December 31, 2005 The Credit
Facility has various contractual financial covenants, which XO did not meet 1n 2004 and for which XO has obtained waivers through
December 31,2005 If XO 1s not able to do any of the following by May 10, 2005 (1) amend the Credit Facility covenants. (1) obtain an
extension on the current warvers to at least March 31, 2006, or (1n) repay the Credit Facility with a new debt or equity offering, so that XO 15 1n
comphance, under the current accounting guidehnes, XO will be required to reclassify the $366 2 rmllion amount outstanding from long term
to short term 1n 1ts March 31, 2005 Form 10-Q While the existing waivers prevent the lenders under the Credit Facihty from demanding
payment until March 31, 2006, this reclassification would cause a significant detenoration to XO's disclosed working capntal and financial
position The Company 1s also required under the terms of the Credit Facility to maintain an unrestricted cash balance of $25 0 million at the
end of each fiscal quarter

The Company obtained on the Closing Date the waiver and consent of the lenders with respect to the following covenants contamned 1n the
Credit Facility and subject to XO providing updated collateral descriptions and legal opinions not later than November 22, 2004. (1) the
$25 0 million limitation on the incurrence of permitted indebtedness. permitted equipment financings, acquired debt, and capital leases, (1) the
limitation on the icurrence of additional hens with respect to iens on the Allegiance assets that remained m place following the effective date
of the Allegiance plan of reorgamzation, (1) the restriction on making acquisitions 1n excess of $50 0 million. (1v) the requirement that
accounts acquired as part of the Allegiance acquisition be subject to control agreements untill November 22, 2004: and (v) any noncomphance
ansing from the entening into of an Operating Agreement with Allegiance.

As discussed above, the Company 1s not required to pay cash interest accrued on the principal amount under the Credit Facihty unul 1t
meets certain financial ratios, however, the Company can elect to begin paying interest in cash prior to the required date. Loans under the
Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company's option, at an alternate base rate, as defined. or a Eurodollar rate plus, in each case, applicable
margins Once the Company begins to pay accrued interest in cash, the applicable margins are reduced At December 31, 2004, the annualized
weighted average nterest rate applicable to outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility was 7 77%

10. CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

On August 6, 2004, XO completed a private placement of 4 0 nulhon shares of 1ts 6% Class A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Preferred
Stock Offering™) for net proceeds of $199 4 milhon Affihiates of Mr Icahn purchased 95% of the preferred shares sold 1n the Preferred Stock
Offering, and an affiliate of Amalgamated Gadget. L P, holder of approximately 8% of XO's outstanding common stock. purchased the
remaining five percent As of December 31, 2004, the higuidation and redemption value of the 6% Class A Convertible Preferred Stock was
$204 4 million.

The Preferred Stock Offenng was revicwed and approved by a special commuittee of XO's Board of Directors consisting of XO's three
independent directors, Messrs Dell, Gradin and Knauss The special committee selected 1ts own counsel and financial advisor The financial
advisor advised the special committee that, subject to specified quahifications, assumptions and lmitations, the material terms of the 6%
Class A Convertible Preferred Stock were fair to XO, from a financial point of view, at the ume of 1ssuance. Proceeds of the Preferred Stock
Offering will be used for gencral working capital purposes and to fund possible future acquisitions that would add additional scale and
synergies to XO's business

F-19



BOWRE INYEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM Ste BOWNE OF WASHINGTON Phone (202)783-9191 _ Operator BOWYY99IT _ Date 18-MAR-2005 09 13 54 39
Name XO COMMUNICATIONS [B /E] RE 103
3

BOWWO06781 075.00.00.00 16/1
EDGAR 2 D0 0 A

W6781 SUB. DocName 10-K, Doc 1, Page 75

The Class A Preferred Stock ranks semsor to the Company’s common stock Holders of the Class A Preferred Stock are not enutled to
recerve annual dividends, however, the iquidation preference of the Class A Preferred Stock automatically mcreases at a rate of 1 5% cach
quarter through the matunty date, January 15, 2010 The Company 1s required to redeem the then-outstanding shares of Class A Preferred
Stock on the matunty date at 100% of their aggregate iquidation preference, tncluding compounded accretion through that date, unless earhier
redeemcd or converted 1nto common stock If all of the shares of Class A Preferred Stock were (o remain outstanding on the maturity date, and
assuming the accretion of all the required increases to the hquidation preference thereof, holders of the Class A Preferred Stock would be
entitled to 59.868.561 shares of common stock and would have an aggregate liquidation preference of approximately $276 6 million The
shares of Class A Preferred Stock are convertible into common stock based on a share price of $4 62, a premium of approximately 20% above
the trading price of the common stock on the closing date of the Preferred Stock Offering The Company may also, at its sole option, redeem
the Class A Preferred Stock at any time after the third anmiversary of the 1ssue dalte of such shares 1f the average market price of the Company's
common stock for the 20 days pnor to such redemption 1s equal to or greater than 250% of the conversion price of the Class A Preferred Stock
Each holder of the Class A Preferred Stock 1s entitled to one vote for cach share of common stock 1ssuable upon the conversion of the shares of
Class A Preferred Stock as of the record date for such stockholders vote Both the conversion ratio and the voung power of cach share of
Class A Preferred Stock will be automatically increased each quarter as the hquidation preference increases at the rate of 1 5% each quarter
The holders of Class A Preferred Stoack also have anti-dilution protection in the event that the Company 1ssues shares of common stock at a
price below the then-prevailing market price of the Company s common stock

11. STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

The Company tmtiated a nghts offering (the “Rights Offering™) during the fourth quarter of 2003 offering 40 0 milhion shares of s
common stock at a pnice of $5 00 per share The Rights Offenng closed on January 5. 2004 An aggregate of 39 7 million shares were 1ssued,
vielding net proceeds of $197 6 million

XO has warrants outstanding to purchase up to an addittonal 23 75 mllion shares of 1ts common stock The warrants consist of-

* Series A Warrants to purchase 9 S million shares of XO common stock at an exercise price of $6 25 per share,

* Senies B Warrants to purchase approximately 7 1 milhon shares of XO common stock at an exercise price of $7.50 per share, and

¢ Series C Warrants to purchase approximately 7 1 milhon shares of XO common stock at an exercise price of $10 00 per share

The warrants were valued at 1ssuance at approximately 544 9 million using a Black Scholes model and are included 1n XO's common stock

1n the accompanying consolidated balance sheet The warrants will expire 7 ycars after the date of 1ssuance or 1n 2010 The exercise price
applicable to cach respective series of warrants 1s subject to adjustment 1n certain events

In addition to the outstanding warrants discussed above, the Company has a stock option plan that can further dilute investors if exercised
This stock option plan 1s discussed further in note 13 See note 17 for related party disclosure on XO's stockholder’s equity

12. INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2004. XO had net operating loss carryforwards of approxmmately $2 50 bilhon, of which $1 08 billion related to the
acquisition of the Acquired Businesses The acquired net operating loss carryforwards expire between 2011 and 2023 The remainder of XO's
net operating loss carryforwards expire between 2023 and 2024 Use of the Acquired Businesses net operating loss carryforward 1s
signtficantly mited due to the limitations imposed under the ownership change rules in the U S Internal
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Revenue Code XO's use of the surviving capital loss carryforward of $0 2 bilhon, which expires 1n 2005, 15 also subject to limitations imposed
under the ownership change rules 1n the U S Internal Revenue Code The utihization of the expected tax benefit from property and cquipment
depreciation could also be impacted by the ownership change rules of the U S Internal Revenue Code

XO was a member of the affiliated group of corporations controlled by Mr Icahn in filing a consolidated federal income tax return from
January 2003 through January 2004, when Mr Icahn’s ownership percentage fell below the amount required by the Internal Revenue Code for
the filing of consolidated returns As such, i January 2004, XO deconsolidated with Starfire Holding Corporation (*Starfire™), the Parent
entity of the affihated group of corporations controlled by Mr Tcahn XO had entered into a Tax Allocation Agreement with Starfire 1n January
2003 which provides that while XO files on a consolidated basis with Starfire, Starfire will pay all consolidated federal income taxes on behalf
of the consolidated group that includes XO. and XO will make payments to Starfire 1n an amount equal to the tax hiabahty, 1f any. that it would
have had 1f it were to file as a group separate and apart from Starfire Upon deconsolidation, the Tax Allocation Agreement gencrally provides
that Starfire will reimburse XO cach year going forward for the excess of XO's actual income tax expense over the income tax that XO would
have owed 1f net operating losses or other tax attnbutes used 1n prior penods by the Starfire consolidated group were sull available to XO
XO's net operaung loss carrvforward has been reduced by the amount used by Starfire 1n 2003 No amount has been recorded for the potential
reimbursements from Starfire under the Tax Allocation Agreement

The provisions of SFAS No 109 have been applied as 1f the Company were a separate taxpayer As reflected in the following table, XO
established a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets of $2.021 nulhion and $1.541 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively A majonty of the $480 milhon valuation increase from 2003 to 2004 relates to the acquisition of net operating losses from the
Acquired Businesses Valuation allowances are used to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts considered hikely to be realized Components
of deferred tax assets and hiabilities were as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2004 2003

Dcfcrred tax asscls

., Provisions not currentlv deducuble 1?2.368

s 103959 s

" Property. equipment and other long-term aseels {net). e 820,885 .- + 18939577
Net operating loss and upnal loss c.xrryforv\ ards 1.109.575 483,453
Total deferred tax asséts . - . S ST S 2039419, 1,549,778 o
Valuation allowance - (2,021.103) (l .540.61 ")
Net deferred tax ssets : B e e e o T male v R o166
Deferred tax habiliues . . U L
Other 1dentifiable ntangibles, o . o Q5147 T C (15997 .
Total deferred tax habilines (25.147) ©(15.997)
Net'deferred tax habaley™** 07 7.0 e T T g TH6,831) 8 L FE L (6.831) L

X0 X0
2004 2003

350% . 350%

Stamtory U'S federal rate 7, Lot
State income laxce net of federal bcncﬁl

Valuall()n allowance for d:.fcrred tax dsselﬁ e . RS : . (4]
Impairment (18 4%) —%

Effective ncome tax Tate | - g g |
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13. STOCK COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS

The XO Communications, Inc 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan™) was adopted 1n January 2003 Under the 2002
Stock Incentive Plan. the Company 1s authonzed to 1ssue awards for up to 17 6 million shares of 1ts common stock 1n the form of restncted
stock or options to purchase stock The 2002 Stock Incentive Plan 1s administered by the Compensation Commuttee of the Company ‘s Board of
Directors. which has the discretionary authority to determine all matters relating to awards of stock options and restricted stock, including the
selection of ehigible participants, the number of shares of common stock to be subject to each option or restricted stock award, the exercise
price of each option. vesting. and all other terms and conditions of awards Unless the Compensation Commuittee designates otherwise, all
options expire on the earhier of (1) ten years after the date of grant, (1) twelve months after termnation of employment with XO due to death or
complete and permanent disability, (11) immediately upon termination of employment by XO for cause, or (1v) three months after tenmination
of employment by the employee or by XO for other than cause

In June 2003, XO filed a registration statement covenng the offer and sale of stock options and stock appreciation nghts (“*SARs™) to be
granted 1n conjunction with the 2003 Employee Retenuon and Incentive Plan (the “"Retention Plan”) for an aggregate award of 1 9 million
shares of 1ts common stock (the “Retention Plan Awards™) The financial goals and the terms of the Retention Plan were established by the
Company’s Board of Directors The per share excrcise price for the Retention Plan Awards was set at $5 84 Any compensation was recorded
as deferred compensation and amortized to on a straight line basis expense based on the associated vesting period

The following two tables summanze information regarding option activity under the 2002 Stock Option Plan for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2004

Number of Weighted Average
Shares Exeraise Price

Outstanding at January 1, 2003 -

Granted | . Y e e, 18394162 $
Canceled ;% ° -7 R T (3.697.068); $
Exercised (1.274.139) $
Outstanding at Décember 31,2003~ -~ T4 L 10422955 $
Exercisable, at December 31. 2003 2.424.903 $
Outstanding at December 31,3003 ** .. 5= - 70 T L e = 4 10,4229557 - 8
Granted . _ e e e . 3577382 8
Canceled”, SO e i e e, T(2,184093) 0 TS
Exercised (556.429) $
Outstanding at December 31,2004 ~.:7 . 7 ST 11259815 8
Exercisable, at December 31, 2004. 3.726.298 $
Options OQutstanding
Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Options Remaining  Average Options Average
Range of Excrcise Outstanding Contractual  Exercise Exercisable Exercise
. . Prices o at December 31, ] Life Price at December 31, Price
2003 . e % . 480-8705 70 . - 110422955 0 w91 $¢ 5120 i42424903%°S 510
2004 $ 480-8705 11.259.815 86 3% 509 3.726.298 § 502
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14. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
Cash flows

Supplemental disclosure of the Company’s cash flow information 1s as follows (dollars 1n thousands)

Predecessor XO
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31. December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Non:cash financing and 1nvesting activities wére as follows: L R L o

Stock 1ssued for acquired businesses o $ 311306 .

Assets and obligations acquired through capital leases L e 39320 o )

Conversion of accrued interest Lo long-term debt 28.746 _ ..29,901

Lo C S, 24810 0 s Tams s

Cash paid for inter

Emplovee Savings and Retirement Plan

At December 31, 2004, the Company had a defined contnbution plan. generally covening ail full ume employeces in the United States The
Company provides a match to all eligible employees based on certain plan provisions and the discretion of the Board of Directors The
Company makes a 50% matching contnibution up to 5% of the participant’s compensation Company contributions net of forfeiures were
$2 3 milhon, $4 8 million and $7 0 mithon duning 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively

15. OPERATING SEGMENTS
Reportable Segments

The Company operates 1ts business as one telecommunications segment The Company s commumcations segment includes all of 1ts
services including voice services. data services and integrated voiee and data services These services have similar network assets, operations,
and technology requirements and are sold through similar sales channels to a similar targeted customer base Therefore, the Company manages
these services as a single segment that are sold 1n geographic areas. or markets, within the United States

Products and Services

The Company classifics its services revenues offered by 1ts telecommunicanions segment into voice services, data services and integrated
voice and data services (dollars 1n thousands)

Predecessor XO

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
_ B o 2004 2003 2002
Vowce services . - - . T C 673318 8 -0 57,7747 s 659,558
Data services A48 392,742 472,247

Integrated voice and data services . . . a, : L 21232047 144,967 - 128,048
Total revenue $ 1.300.420 § 1.110.483 S 1.259.853
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16. SELECTED QUARTERLY DATA (Unaudited)

Quarterly financial information 1s summarized 1n the table below (dollars tn thousands, except per share data)

Quarier ended 2004 (a)
March 31, June 30, September 30, ) December 31,
Revenue $7°260.9450.7: 87278,183  $% - - 391,885 0 TT§ - " .- 369.407
Cost of servi 109,961 118,822 L 161946 162,006
Loss from op 27(43266) 1. (34,853) c (36.227). ~ G v (255,946)

Netloss o (48.494) (43.820) L. (41.779) e A450)
Net loss Jppllcdble to common shares . TR D (48.494) - P (43, 830) .. . C(43619) (274, 3”())
Net loss per common share (basic and dlluted) (037) (0 31) (0 24) (151)

Quarter ended 2003

March 31, June 30, September 30. L
Revenue . -\ - R ) § 286093, S 283918 ©$ - 279433 . §
Cost of service o . . 107, 506 104.898 106935
Loss from operations - * . U (14.015).% (13,260) _ (35,878) °
Net loss(b) o (20.488)  (19.836) (40,787)
Net loss applicable to common shares:- . - i (20.488)'_"':__'_' C(19.836) ... . 140,787) -
Net loss per common share (basic and dl]uled)(b) (022) (0 21) (0 42) (0 22)

(a) The 2004 results include the results of the Acquired Businesses from June 23. 2004 through December 31, 2004
(b)  Fourth quarter of 2003 includes a $33 5 million realized ivestment gain

(¢) Fourth quarter of 2004 includes a $212 § mithon non-cash goodwill impairment charge

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Varnous entities controlled by Mr 1cahn hold the following interests in XO

Qutstanding Series A, B and C
Common Stock Warrants Credit Faaility _ Preferred Stock
Greuler than 50% st e Greale'r than 40% . Greater than, * : 5%

PP e . B 90

In August 2004, after the closing of the Preferred Stock Offening, Mr Icahn filed a schedule 13D amendment with the Secunties and
Exchange Commission disclosing that his beneficial ownership, as defined therein, was 60 7% of XO As u result of his majonty ownership.
Mr Icahn can clect all of XO's directors, who 1n turn appoint the members of the commuttees of XO's Board of Directors, appoint key
members of XO's executive management tcam, and appoint XO's auditors Currently, Mr Icahn 1s Chairman of the Board of Directors and
three employees of Icahn Associates also sit on the Board of Directors and various Commuttees of the Board of Directors Under apphicable law
and XO's Certificate of Incorporation and by-laws. certain action cannot be taken without the approval of holders of a majonty of XO's voung
stock, 1ncluding. without imitation, mergers, acquisitions, the sale of substantially all XO's assets. and amendments to XO's Certificate of
Incorporation and by-laws

Mr Icahn, through vanous entities that he controls, has the nght to require XO to register, under the Secunties Act of 1933, shares of XO's
common stock held by such entiies and o include shares of XO's common stock held by them 1n certain registration statements fited by XO

Dixon Properues, LLC ("Dixon™), which 1s controlled by Mr Icahn, owns the building in which XO’s headquarters 1s located XO
currently leases approximately 170,000 square feet of space 1n that bmlding Pursuant to the lease agreement, XO has paid $3 5 mullion 1n lease
rent to Dixon for the ycar ended December 31, 2004 and XO 1s obhigated to pay approximately $12 1 mutlion to Dixon through the expiratuon
of the imtal term of the lease, which 1s November 30, 2007
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XO has entered 1nto a Tax Allocation Agreement with an Icahn affihiate, that 1s more fully discussed 1n note 12

The Company provides certain tclecommunications services to companies affiliated with Mr Icahn For the year ended December 31.
2004, the total revenue recogmzed on such services affiliated with Mr Icahn was approximately $2 0 milion The Company has purchased
approximately SO 6 million in services from Icahn affiliates during 2004 Durning 2004, XO purchased approximately $1 0 nmlhion 1n hardware
and services from Dell Computers, Inc Mr Adam Dell, an XO director, 1s the brother of Mr Michael Dell. the Chairman of Dell, Tnc¢

XO provided telecommunications services to Allegiance from February 18, 2004 through the Closing Date Total revenue recogmzed for
those services was approximately $1 7 million In addition. XO provided Allegiance management services under an Operating Agreement
between Apnl 13, 2004 and the Closing Date XO believes 1t 1s owed monies under the terms of the Operating Agreement and this 1$ part of the
total clamm that 1s discussed 1n note 2 Based on the contingent nature of this claim. 1t 1s not recorded 1n the accompanying consohidated
financial statements

On June 8, 2004 XO entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with the ATLT, holder of approximately 24 9% of XO's outstanding
common stock. pursuant to which XO agreed to utilize 1ts best efforts to register for public resale. the 45,380,000 shares of XO common stock
1ssued as part of the acquisition of the Acquired Businesses XO has not filed such registranon statement

On November 2. 2004, XO entered 1nto an Indemmificatton Agreement with each of Mr Dell, Robert L Knauss and Frednk Gradin, cach
of whom 15 an independent member of XO's Board of Directors, pursuant to which XO has agreed to indemnify cach of such directors for any
personal habihty and costs that he may incur 1in connection with the performance of services as a director of XO, and advance to each such
director any expenses that he may incur 1in connection with any htigation or.actions related to such services

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Commutinents
The Company 1s leasing premses under various noncancelable operatung leases for admimistrative space. building access, and other leases,
which. 1n addition to rental payments, require payments for insurance, maintenance, property taxes and other executory costs related to the

leases The lease agreements have vanous expiration dates and renewal options through 2029 The Company also has various noncancelable
Jong-term contractual obligations assoctated with maintenance and service agreements

Future mimmum lease commitments required under noncancelable operating leases and contractual obligauons are as follows (dollars 1n
thousands) :

Operating Other long-term
lease contractual
Year Ending December 31, obligations obhgations
2005, o Lo : A STen 8 e 70,822 gmnes T 6127300
2006 52,521

2007 48,806
2008 47524
2009- 33679 ;

_ 95.787
S 461892, 7§ ¢ 339,590 %

Total mimmum commitments

Rent expensc for cancelable and noncancelable leases totaled approximately $57 4 milhon, $53 7 million, and $76 4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively The
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mimmum lease payments noted above have not been reduced for sublease income totaling approximately SO 7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004

Capital Leases

Network assets under capital Jeases totaled approximately $9 3 milhion and $1 4 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003. respectively.
and are included tn telccommunications networks in property and equipment Deprectation on leased assets of $0 4 million for each of the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 15 included 1n depreciation expense Future mimmum lease payments under capital lease obhgations
as of December 31, 2004 are as follows (dollars 1n thousands)-

Year Ending December 31,

2005, . $ . AT8Y
2006 _ v sy
2007:: 3,854
2008 i ) _ 2308
2009 . L SO NS ('
Thercafter 13.681
Total minimum capital. lease payment n , 1-31,029°
Less imputed interest - . . (10.814)
Less current‘portion of capital lease obligations . e - (2.820)

Long-term poruon of capital lease obhgation 3 17.395

The Company provides intercity transport primanty through five year leases of wavelength capacity that were paid for at the beginning of
the term  The first of these leases expires in 2006 At that ime, XO will either renew these leases or ight ats intercity fiber network, either of
which will be a substantial capital commitment

Legal Proceedings

In addition to the hitigation disclosed n note 2, XO 1s involved n lawsuits, claims. investigations and proceedings consisting of
commercial, regulatory. securities, tort, and employment matters, which anse 1n the ordinary course of business In addition. disputes with
respect 1o general unsecured claims and one admimistrative expense claim in the amount of approximately $2 | mullion, remain pending from
the Company's Chapter 11 proceedings In accordance with SFAS No S, “Accounting for Conungencies,” XO makes a provision for a hability
when 1t 1s both probable that a liabihty has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably esttmated XO believes 1t has adequate
provisions for any such matters XO reviews these provisions at least quarterly and adjusts these provisions to reflect the impacts of
ncgotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case Litigation 1s
mnherently unpredictable. However, XO believes that 1t has vahd defenses with respect to legal matters pending against it Nevertheless, 1t 15
possible that cash flows or results of operations could be matenially atfected 1n any parucular penod by the unfavorable resolution of one or
more of these contingencies

19. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES AND ASSET WRITE-DOWNS

Duning 2003. the Company recorded restructuring charges from the reduction of 1ts work force and estimated losses associated with
restructured leases A restructunng charge was rccorded during the first half of 2002 when the Company implemented a plan to restructure
certamn of 1ts business operations  The restructuring plan included divesting 1ts European operations and reducing the Company's discretionary
spending, capital expenditures and workforce
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As of December 31, 2004. the remaining restructuring accrual was $43.7 nullion, which relates pnmanly to payments due to landlords on
exited leased faciliies The restructunng accrual has decreased from $60 0 million as of December 31, 2003, mainly due to $13.3 million 1n
payments associated with exited leased facilines

20. REORGANIZATION

On January 16, 2003 (the “Effecuve Date™), XO's helding company (“XO Parent”) consummated 1ts Plan of Reorgamzation and emerged
from us Chapter 11 reorgamzation proceedings with a significantly restructured balance sheet The consummation of the Plan of
Reorgamzation resulted in the following changes 1n XO Parent’s capital structure

*» The conversion of $1 0 billion of loans under 1ts pre-petition secured credit facility into $500 0 million of outstanding principal amount
under an amended and restated credit agreement,

*» The extingwishment of all amounts due under 1ts pre-petition unsecured senior and subordinated notes and certain general unsecured
obligations:

» The cancellation of all outstanding shares and 1nterests 1n 1ts pre-petition preferred stock and pre-petition common stock, and

* The 1ssuance of approxmmately 95 0 million shares of common stock of the reorganized Company and warrants to purchase up to an
additronal 23 75 ymihon shares of the common stock of the reorganized Company

The Company adopted the fresh start accounting provisions (“fresh start™) of SOP 90-7 “Financial Reporting by Entites m Reorganization
under the Bankruptcy Code™. (“SOP 90-7") during the first quarter of 2003. Duc to the immatenality of the results of operations for the period
between January 1, 2003 and the Effcctive Date. the Company aceounted for the consummation of the Plan of Reorgamzation as 1f 1t had
occurred on January 1. 2003 and implemented fresh start reporting as of that date Fresh start requires that the Company adjust the historical
cost of 1ts assets and labiahitics to their farr value The fair value of the reergamzed Company of approxmmately $1 3 billion was determined
based on the negotiated sum of the reorgamzed Company’s habilitics and cquity that were 1ssued and outstanding after final negotiations and
Bankruptcy Court approval These included $500 0 nullion of debt outstanding under the Credit Facility, $475 0 million of XO's common
stock. and $373 1 million of other liabilities that were not ehminated or discharged under the Plan of Reorganization

Fresh start requires that the reorganization value be allocated to the entity’s net assets i conformity with procedures specified by SFAS
No 141 The Company engaged an tndependent apprasser to assist in the allocation of the reorgamzation value to the reorgamzed Company’s
assets and habihities by determining the fair market value of its property and equipment, intangible assets and certain obligations
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related to its facility leases. A reconciliation of the adjustments recorded 1n connection with effecting the Plan of Reorganizatton and adopting

fresh start accounting 1s presented below (dollars 1n thousands)

Predecessor XO
December 31. 2002

ASSETS
Current assets

Reorpanization

Fresh Start
Ad 4

Reorgamzed

X0

January 1, 2003

Cash and cash equivaients © 314,038 $ — 314,038~
Marketable securitics 246,945 — ) ) 246,945
Accounts recervable, net iie, 541 — S R, 116.541-
Other currcm asscls §3.480 — (48.288) 35.192
Total current assets PR B 761,004 - — S (48.288) 22712716
Property and cquipment. net 2,780,589 —_ (2,304.001)

and other 1mitangibles.

476,588

. 135678

984,614 ).
59.289 (36.181) 23.108
4,585,496 " (3.237406) $ . i 1,348,090

Current habllmu TR R s N v e Tt
Accounts payable $ 63,729 IS _ — 3 3539 s 67.268
Acéried habilities - Lo S T 2661027 | T = . (30910) 235,192
Current liabilities suhy.u o comprommc 5.497.207 (5.466.667)(a) (30.5400) —

-~ Total current habilities. ) . . 5,827.038 P ar (5.466,667) T39I e 302.460 ..

Long-term debt T = ) 500.0000b) = 500.000

~Other long-term liabilitics e T e 152920 L sao— (4.612) y
Long term habiliies suh]cct o compr()mw: 7.182 — (7.182) —
Total habaliies ;. - E E 15909462 T, (4,966,667) - (69.705) 873,090
Predeccssor XO redecmablc preferred stock
subject to compromise ) . 1,708316 (1,708.316)(a) — —

Stockholders™ (deficity equity
Predecessor XO common stock
Rc()rgamnd XO common stock and “_

4628139

" 475.0000)

14,628.139)

Deferred cuinpensatiol o . (8,500} — ) 8,506(:‘_'
7 Accuimulated othér ¢omprehensive mcome i ;2512 Lot = Lo@s1y -
Accumulated defiert (7.654.433) 6.199.983(c) 1.454.450 —
“ Total stackholders’ (defiaty equny .-~ 5. S (3,032,282) - B 6.674.983 0 N (3.167.701)(c) S+ . 475000 ©
Total habilitics and stockholders® (dcﬁc.n) cquny $ 4,585.496 S — 5 (3.237.406) $ 1.348.090

(2) To record the discharge of pre-peution indebtedness, including a $1 0 hilhon credit facility, $4 2 billion of semor and convertible subordimated notes, $245 2 mithion of
accrued nterest, and the ehmination of $1 7 billion of pre-petition redeemable preferred stock and $50 6 million of accrued dividends, all 1n accordance with the Plan of

Rcorganization

(b) To record the outstanding principal under the Credit Agreement. 1n accordance with the Plan of Reorganization

(¢} To record the 1ssuance of 95 0 million shares of New Common Stock and warrants in accordance with the Plan of Reorganization Participation in the Rights Offening was

recorded 1n the first quarter of 2004

(d}  To adjust the carrying value of assets, habihities and stockholders” equity to fair value. 1n accordance wath fresh start

(¢)  Net reorgamizanon gamn on January 1, 2003 consisied of the following (dollars in thousands)

Net gain restlting from reorganization of debi. preferred §iock and equity |
Nt loss n:sultlng fmm frc:h start f:nr value nd}uslmcnu to assets and lmbllmcs
Total réorganization gan! net . .

F-28

76.199,983 ,
(3.167 701)

3.032.282
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21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Unaudited)

On March 16, 2005, McLeodUSA Inc, (“"McLeod™) announced that 1t 15 looking 1nto financial restructuning options due to its on-gong cash
requurements XO currently holds McLeod debt securnities that are included 1n marketable secunties and other investments It 1s too early to
conclude what type of restructuring option McLeod will choose. or if any will be approved by their creditors and how that would impact our
mvestment Based on this announcement, there 1s a nisk that the carrying value of $10 8§ million will be impaired, and require adjustment 1n
2005 '

F-29
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XO Communications, Inc.

Schedule 11 — Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
For The Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Additions/
Reductions
Beginming Reorganization charged to Ending
tdollars 1n th ds) Bal Ady expense Reduclions Balanee
Allowance {or doubtful accodnts| = 7aiz et i i i o R
2002 (49.093)  $37.030
2003 . (34,042) " $32.986
004 (28.903) _ $38.981
Restructuring accrual =~ - . R S
0026) e $(526951)  $78.990
<2003¢h) . <T$ 26809, CUTAI8) $59,976:
2004 N — S (13349) $ 43,656

() Only 549 7 million of the reduction n 2002 restructuning accrual was for cash payments The balance was associated with the non-cash asset write down resulting from an
agreement with Level 3 to amend various agreements relating to XO's Level 3 interaity fiber nctwork facilives

(b) The beginming balance was adjusted 10 1ts fair value when we implemented fresh start

S-1
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Exhibit 10 4
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT, dated as of June 23, 2004, between Allegiance Telecom. Inc . (*Allegiance™), Allegiance
Telecom Company Worldwide (“Allegiance Worldwide™), Allegiance Telecom Liquidating Trust (the “Trust™, and together with Allegiance
and Allegiance Worldwide, the “Allegiance Parties™) and XO Communications, Inc . a Delaware corporation (the “Company”)

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Trust will acquire shares of Common Stock, par value $ 01 per share, of the Company (the “Common Stock™) to be
1ssucd pursuant to that certain Assct Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”). dated as of February 18. 2004, between the Company
and Allegiance as debtor-in-possession and Allegiance Worldwide as debtor-in-possession,

WHEREAS, pursuant to their Jomnt Plan of Reorganization of, confirmed by order of the Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District
of New York on June 23, 2004, Allegiance and Allegiance Worldwide will transfer the Common Stock to the Trust established thereunder to
hold, sell or distribute to their pre-petition creditors in accordance with its terms, and

WHEREAS. the Company has agreed, pursuant to the Stipulation and Order. entered on June 23. 2004. to grant the Trust registration
nghts upon the
terms and subject to the conditions heremnafter set forth: and

NOW. THEREFORE, 1n consideration of the foregoing premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereby
agree as follows

SECTION | DEFINITIONS. As used 1n this Agreement. the following terins have the respective meanings set forth below:

COMMISSION. shall mcan the Secunities and Exchange Commussion or any other federal agency at the ume administering the
Securities Act,

EXCHANGE ACT: shall mean the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
MARKET STAND-OFF PERIOD has the meaning defined 1n Section 5(a)

PERSON: shall mean an individual., partnership joint-stock company, corporation, trust or unincorporated organization, and a
government or agency or political subdivision thereof;

REGISTER, REGISTERED and REGISTRATION shall be deemed to refer to registration cffected by preparing and filing a
registration statement 1n comphance with the Securities Act (and any post-effective amendinents filed or required to be filed) and the
declaration or orderning of effectiveness of such registration statement.
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REGISTRABLE SECURITIES shall mean (A} shares of Common Stock 1ssued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement held by the
Trust and (B) any stock of the Company 1ssued as a dividend or other distnibution with respect to. or 1n exchange for or 1n replacement of. the
shares of the Common Stock referred to 1n clause (A) held by the Trust,

REGISTRATION EXPENSES shall mean all expenses incurred by the Company 1n compliance with Section 2(a), (b) and (c) hereof,
including, without imttation, all registration and filing fees. printing expenses. fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company (other than
bluc sky fees and expenses), and the expense of any special audits incident to or required by any such registration (but excluding the
compensation of regular employees of the Company, which shall be paid 1n any event by the Company),

SECURITY, SECURITIES shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2(1) of the Securities Act;
SECURITIES ACT shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. and

SELLING EXPENSES shall mean all underwniting discounts and selling commuissions apphicable to the sate of Registrable Sceunties
and all fees and disbursements of counsel for the Trust, blue sky fees and expenses, including blue sky fees and expenses of counsel for the
Company

SECTION 2 INVESTMENT REPRESENTATIONS

(A) PRIVATE PLACEMENT EXEMPTION Each of the Allegiance Parties understands that the Common Stock has not becn
registered under the Secunties Act, nor quabfied under any state securities laws, and that 1t has been offered and sold pursuant to an exemption
from such rcgistration and qualification based n part upon the representations of each of the Allegiance Parties contained herein

(b} KNOWLEDGE OF OFFER Each of the Allegiancc Parties 15 fanuliar with the business and operations of the Company and has
been given the opportumty to obtain from the Company all information that 1t has requested regarding 1ts business plans and prospects

(c) KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENCE, Ability to Bear Economic Risks Each of the Allegiance Parttes has such knowledge and
expenence 10 financial and business matters that it 1s capable of evaluaung the mernts and nsks of its investment 1n the Company Each of the
Allegiance Parties 1s able to bear the economic risk of 1ts investment in the Company (including a complete Joss of 1ts investment)

(d) LIMITATIONS ON DISPOSITION Each of the Allegiance Parties understands that it must bear the economic risk of this
investment indefinitely uniess 1ts Common Stock 1s registered pursuant to the Secunucs Act or an exemption from such registration 1s
available. and unless the disposition of such Common Stock 15 qualified under applicable state secunties laws or an exemption from such
quahfication 1s available Each of the Allegiance Parues further understands that there 1s no assurance that any exempuon from the Secunties
Act will be available, or. if available, that such exemption wall allow 1t to transfer any or all of the Common Stock. 1n the amounts, or at the
time such Allegiance Party might propose
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(e) INVESTMENT PURPOSE Each of the Allegiance Parties 1s acquinng the Common Stock solely. for its own account for
mvestment and not with a view toward the resale, transfer, or distribution thereof, nor with any present intention of distributing the Common
Stock No other Person has any nght with respect to the Stock received by any of the Allegtance Parties, nor has any of the Allegiance Parties
agreed to give any Person any such shares of Common Stock or nght in the future

(f) ACCREDITED INVESTOR Each of the Allegiance Partics 1s an “accredited investor™ as such term s defined 1in Rule 501
(a) promulgated under the Securities Act and was not formed for the sole and specific purpose of making the investment contemplated by this
Agreement

(2) CAPACITY Each of the Allegiance Parties has the requisite corporate power and authonty to enter nto this Agreement and to
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement The execution and delivery of this Agreement by each of the Allegiance Parties
and the consummation by each such party of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action
on the part of each such Allegiance Party This Agreement has been duly exceuted and delivered by each of the Allegiance Parties and.
assuming this Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligatton of the Company, constitutes the valid and binding obligation of each of
the Allegiance Parties, enforceable against each such Allegiance Party 1n accordance with 1ts terms

SECTION 3 REGISTRATION RIGHTS

(a) FORM S-3 REGISTRATION The Company represents and warrants that it currently qualifies for registraton on Form S-3 for
secondary sales. and covenants and agrees that. during the Shelf Period (as defined below). 1t will continue to file all reports required by the
Exchange Act necessary to mamntain such quahification So long as the Company remains qualified for the use of Form S-3 for secondary sales,
the Company shall use 1ts best efforts to prepare. file and cause the effectiveness of a Registration Statement on Form S-3 for all of the
Registrable Securities (provided that the Trust shall have informed the Company 1n wrniting of 1ts intended method of disposition of the
Registrable Secunties), and (provided that Rule 415. or any successor rule under the Securities Act, at the time permits an offering on a
continuous or delayed basis, and provided further that applicable rules under the Secunues Act governing the obligation to file a post-effective
amendment permit, mn heu of filing a post-effectuve amendment which () includes any prospectus required by Section 10(a) of the Secunties
Act or (z) reflects facts or events representing a material or fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement, the
mncorporation by reference of information required to be included 1n (y) and (z) above to be contamned n penodic reports filed pursuant to
Section 12 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act 1n the registration statement) the Company will use 1ts best efforts to maintain the effectiveness of
such registration for three years following the Closing under the Asset Purchase Agreement, or unul such time as all such Registrable
Secunties are sold or are otherwise ehigible for sale without registration (such penod. the “Shelf Penod™). provided, however. that (A) such
three year penod shall be extended for a perod of ime equal to the period duning which the Trust refrains from selling any secunites included
1n such registration in accordance with provisions in Section 3 and 5(a) and for any time necessary to make corrections to the applicable
prospectus pursuant to Section 6(b), provided that the Company shall not be obligated to effect. or take any action to effect or
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maintam the effectiveness of, any such registration pursuant to this Section 3(a)
(1) duning a Market Stand-Off Penod, or

(1} In any junisdiction 1n which the Company would be required 10 exccute a general consent to service of process 1n effecting
such registration. qualification or complhiance, unless the Company 1s already subject to service 1n such junisdiction and except as may be
required by the Securities Act or applicable rules or regulations thereunder

(b) S-1 REGISTRATION In the cvent that the Company becomes inehgible to use Form S-3 and cannot cerufy 1ts reasonable. good
faith expectauon that it will regain such eligability within 90 days, upon request of the Trust, the Company will as soon as practicable, use 1ts
best efforts to effect a registration of sales of the Registrable Secunties on another appropnate form (including. without limitation, the
execution of an undertaking to file post-effective amendments. appropriate qualification under applicable blue sky or other state secunties laws
and appropnate compliance with apphcablc regulations 1ssued under the Securities Act) as would permit or facilitate the sale and distribution
of all or such portion of such Registrable Secunties in such manner as the Trust shall specify to the Company in wnting. provided that the
Company shall not be obhgated to effect, or take any action to effect, any such registration pursuant to this Section 3(b)

(1) In any particular junsdiction mn which the Company would be required to execute a general consent to service of process in
effecting such registration, qualification or comphance, unless the Company 1s already subject to service 1n such jurisdiction and except as
may be required by the Secunties Act or applicable rules or regulations thereunder. or

(1) After the Company has effected three (3) such registrations pursuant to this Section 3(b) and such registrations have been
declared or ordered effective and the sales of such Registrable Secunties shall have closed, or

(1) Duning a Market Stand-Off Period

(1v) The Company will use 1ts best efforts to keep such registration effective for a period of one hundred twenty (120) days or
until the Trust has completed the distnibution descnbed 1n the registration statement relating thereto, whichever first occurs, provided
however, that such 120-day peniod shall be extended for a peniod of time equal to the peniod during which the Trust refrains from selling
any securities included 1n such registration 1n accordance with provisions mn Section 3 and 5(a) and for any ume necessary to make
corrections to the applicable prospectus pursuant to Section 6(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company’s inehgibility to use
Form S-3 for secondary offerings 1s the result of a breach of the first sentence of Section 3(a), und (provided that Rule 415. or any
successor rule under the Sccunities Act, at the tume permits an offering on a continuous or delayed basis) the Company will use 1ts best
efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such registration for three years following the Closing under the Asset Purchase Agreement, or until
such time as all such Remistrable Secunties are sold or are otherwise
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chigible for sale without registration (such penod, the “Shelf Penod™), provided that the Company shall not be obligated to effect. or take
any action to effect or maintain the effecivencss of, any such registration under the condittons sct forth 1n Section 3(a)(1) and (1),
provided, further, that (A) such threc year period shall be extended for a period of ume cqual to the penod during which the Trust refrains
from sclling any securities included 1n such registration 1n accordance with provisions 1n Section 3 and 5(a) and for any time necessary to
make corrections to the applicable prospectus pursuant to Section 6(b)

(v) The registration statement filed pursuant to the request of the Trust may, subject to the provisions of Section 3(b)(vi1) below.
include other secunties of the Company which are held by Persons (not including the Company or any of 1ts officers. directors or other
entitics controlled by Mr Carl Icahn) who, by virtue of agreements with the Company, are entitled to include their secunities in any such
registration (“Other Stockholders™)

(v1) If Other Stockholders request such mclusion, the Trust shall offer to include the securities of such Other Stockholders in the
underwniting and may condition such offer on their acceptance of the further applicable provisions of this Section 3 The Trust and the
Company shall (together with all Other Stockholders proposing to distnbute their secunties through such underwnting) enter mnto an
underwnting agreement in customary form with the representative of the underwriter or underwnters selected for such underwriting by the
Trust and reasonably acceptable to the Company Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 3(b), if the representative advises the
Trust in writing that marketing factors require a limitation on the number of shares to be underwritten. the number of shares included 1n the
registration by the Trust and cach Other Stockholder shall be reduced on a pro rata basis (based on the number of shares held by the Trust
and Other Stockholder). by such minimum number of shares as 1s necessary to comply with such request No Registrable Secursties or any
other secunties excluded from the underwnting by reason of the underwrniter’s marketing limitation shall be included 1n such registration.
If any Other Stockholder who has requested inclusion 1n such registration as provided above disapproves of the terms of the underwriting,
such Person may clect to withdraw thercfrom by written notice to the Company, the underwriter and the Trust The secunuies so withdrawn
shall also be withdrawn from registration If the underwriter has not limited the number of Registrable Securities or other securities to be
underwritten, the Cosnpany and officers and directors of the Company may include 1ts or their securities for 1ts or their own account 1
such registration 1f the representative so agrees and if the number of Registrable Securities and other secunties which would otherwise
have been included n such registration and underwntng will not thereby be hmited

(c) EXPENSES OF REGISTRATION All Registration Expenses incurred in connection with any registration, qualification or
comphance pursuant to this Section 3 shall be bome by the Company All Selling Expenses shall be borne by the Trust.

(d) TERMINATION The registrauon rights set forth n this
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Section 3 shall not be available to the Trust if, (1) 1n the opimon of counsel to the Company. all of the Registrable Secunties then owned by the
Trust could be sold 1n any 90-day period pursuant to Rule 144 (without giving effect to the provisions of Rule 144(k)) or (11) all of the
Registrable Securities held by the Trust have been sold 1n a registration pursuant to the Secunities Act or pursuant to Rule 134

SECTION 4 RULE 144 REPORTING With a view to making available the benefits of certain rules and regulations of the Commission
which may pernit the sale of restricted securiues to the pubhic without registration, the Company agrees to

(a) make and keep public informatron available as those terms are understood and defined 1n Rule 144 under the Secunties Act
(*Rule 1447), at all umes,

{b) use 1ts best ciforts to file with the Comnussion 1n a umely manner all reports and other documents required of the Company under
the Securities Act and the Exchange Act at any time after 1t has become subject to such reporting requirements, and

(c) so long as the Trust owns any Registrable Securities, furmsh to the Trust upon request, a wntten statement by the Company as to
its comphance with the reporting requirements of Rule 144, and of the Securnities Act and the Exchange Act, a copy of the most recent annual
or quarterly report of the Company, and such other reports and documents so filed as the Trust may reasonably request in avaihing 1tself of any
rule or regulation of the Commussion allowing the Trust to sell any such securnttics without registration

SECTION 5 COVENANTS

(a) MARKET STAND-OFF Each of the Allegiance Parties agrees that 1t will not scll or otherwise transfer or dispose of any
Registrable Securities held by such Allegiance Party during the pentod referred to below (a “Market Stand-Off Penod™)

(1) 1n connection with an underwnitten offering of equity or equity-linked securitics (such as convertible secunties or warrants, but
not tncluding a registration of securities 1n a Rule 145 transaction or with respect to an employee benefit plan)) of the Company, as
requested by the Company and the Company’s underwrter for a pertod starting with the dute of filing of. and cnding on the date 90 days
immediately following the effective date of, the applicable registration statement, provided that (1) the executive officers (as defined for
purposes of Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act) and all the directors of the Company enter into similar agreements and (11) the Company
15 actively employing n good faith all reasonable efforts to cause such registration statement to become effecive The Company may only
delay or suspend an offening pursuant to this Section 5(a)(1) for a peniod of not more than sixty (60) days. 1f a filing of any other
regastration statement 1s not made within that period and the Company may only exercise that right once 1n any twelve (12) month period

() 1f the Compuny dctermines 1n its good faith judgment that the filing of a registration statement under Secuon 3 or the use of
any related prospectus would require the disclosure of matenial information that the Company has a bona fide business purpose for
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preserving as confidenual or the disclosure of which would impede the Company s ability to consummate a significant transaction, and
that the Company 1s not otherwise required by apphicable secunties laws or regulations to disclose, upon written notice of such
determination by the Company, until the date upon which the Company notfies the Allegance Parties 1n writing that suspension of such
nghts for the grounds set forth in this Section 5(a)(11) 1s no longer necessary, provided that (A) (x) the Company may not declare more than
three Market Stand-Off Peniods in any 12month peniod pursuant to (hus clause (u). (y) the aggregate Market Stand-Off Penod pursuant o
this clause (11) 1n any 12-month period shall not exceed 90 days, and (z) the Market Stand-Off Period pursuant to this clause (1) may not be
uscd to extend the 90-day period contemplated by clause (1) above to a total continuous Market Stand-Off penod excceding 150 days 1n the
aggregate and (B) unless the registration statement 1n question 1s a shelf registration statement for a delayed or continuous offering, then 1f
the Company declares a Market Stand-Off peniod during the first 60 days following the effectiveness thereof, each day of such Market
Stand-Off period will be counted as 1 1/2 days aganst the 90-day period contemplated by clause (1) above The Company agrees to give
such notice as promptly as practicable following the date that such suspension of nghts 1s no longer necessary

1

(b) SUPPLEMENTAL UNDERTAKING If requcsted by the underwnters. the Allegiance Parties shall execute a separate agrecment
to the effect set forth 1in Section 5(a)(1) The Company may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to the shares (or secuntics) subject to
the foregoing restriction unul the end of said 180-day period The provistons of this Section 5(b) shall be binding upon any transferee who

acquires Registrable Secunties :

(¢) RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER Each of the Allegiance Parties agrees that none of the Registrable Secunties shall be
transferred, sold, assigned, pledged, hypothecated, or otherwise disposed or encumbered. etther voluntanly or involuntanly, directly or
indirectly. except pursuant to an effective registration under the Secunties Act, or 1n a transaction which, tn the opimion of counsel expenenced
«. 1 such matters and reasonably satisfactory to the Company, qualifies as an exempt transaction under the Secunities Act and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder

(d) INFORMATION SUPPLIED BY THE TRUST The Trust shall furnish to the Company informaton regarding utself and the
distnbution proposed by such Trust as the Company may reasonably request in wrniting and as shall be reasonably required in connection with
any registration, qualification or comphance referred to 1n Section 3

SECTION 6 REGISTRATION PROCEDURES In the case of each registration effected by the Company pursuant to Section 3, the
Company will keep the Trust advised in writing as to the imtiation of each registration and as to the completion thereof Atits own c\pcnee the
Company will

(a) furmsh such number of prospectuses and other documents incident thereto as the Trust from time to tme may reasonably request,

(b) notify the Trust when a prospectus relatng to the regtstration statement 1s required to be dehivered under the Securities Act of the
happening of any event as a result of which the prospectus tncluded 1n such registration statement, as then m effect. includes an untrue
statement of a
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matenal fact or omats to state a matenal fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the hight
of the circumstances then existing. and

(c) furmsh, on the date that such Registrable Secunties are delivered to the underwnters for sale, 1f such securities are being sold
through underwnters or. 1f such securitics are not being sold through underwrters, on the date that the registration statement with respect to
such sccurities becomes effective, (1) an opimon, dated as of such date, of the counsel representing the Company for the purposes of such
registration, 1n form and substance as 15 customanly given to underwriters n an underwritten public offering and reasonably satisfactory the
Trust. addressed to the underwriters, if any, and to the Trust and (2) a letter, dated as of such date, from the independent certified pubhc
accountants of the Company. 1n form and substance as 1s customarily given by independent certified public accountants to underwnters 1n an
underwnitten public offering and reasonably satisfactory to the Trust, addressed to the underwnters, 1if any. and 1f permitted by applicable
accounting standards, to the Trust

SECTION 7 INDEMNIFICATION )

(a) The Company will indemnify the Trust, as applicable, each of 1ts officers, directors and partners, and cach Person controlling the
Trust, with respect to each registration which has been cffected pursuant to Section 3, and each underwniter, if any, and each person who
controls any underwriter, against all claims, losses, damages and habiliies (or actions 1n respect thercof) arising out of or based on any untrue
statement (or alleped untrue statement) of a material fact contained 1n any prospectus, offering circular or other document (including any
related registration statement, notification or the hike) incident to any such registration, qualification or comphance, or based on any omission
(or alleged omission) to state thercin a materal fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements thereimn not misleading, or
any violation by the Company of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or any rule or regulation thereunder applicable to the Company and
relating to action or inaction required of the Company 1n connection with any such registration, quahfication or compliance. and will reymburse
the Trust, each of 1ts officers. directors and partners, and each Person controtling the Trust, each such underwnter and each Person who
controls any such underwnter, for any legal and any other expenses reasonably incurred 1n connection with investigaung and defending any
such claim, loss. damage, hability or action, provided that the Company will not be lable 1n any such case to the extent that any such claim,
loss, damage, hability or expense arises out of or 15 based on any untrue statement or omussion based upon written information furnished to the
Company by the Trust or underwriter and stated to be specifically for use theremn

i

(b) The Trust wall indemnify the Company. each of 1ts directors and officers and cach underwnter. 1f any, of the Company’s securities
covered by such a registration statement, each person who controls the Company or such underwriter, each Other Stockholder and each of ther
officers, directors. and partners, and each person controlling such Other Stockholder aganst all claims, losses, damages and habilities (or
actions 1n respect thereof) ansing out of or based on any untrue statement (or alleged untrue statement) of a matenal fact contained 1n any such
registration statement. prospectus, offering circular or other document made by the Trust, or any omission (or alleged omission) to state therein
a matenal fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make )
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the statements by the Trust therein not misleading, and will reumburse the Company and such Other Stockholders, directors. officers. partners,
persons, underwriters or contrel persons for any legal or any other expenses reasonably incurred 1in connection with investigating or defending
any such claim, loss, damage, hability or action, 1n cach case to the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement (or alleged untrue
statement) or omission (or alleged omission) 1s made 1n such registration statement, prospectus. offertng circular or other document 1n rehance
upon and 1n conformity with wntten information furnished to the Company by the Trust and stated to be speaifically for use therein, provided.
however. that the obligations of the Trust hereunder shall be limited to an amount equal to the net proceeds to the Trust of securities sold as

contemplated herein

(c) Each party entitled to indemmnification under this Section 7 (the “Indemnified Party™) shall give notice to the party required to
provide indemnification (the “Indemmfying Party™) promptly after such Indemmified Party has actual knowledge of any claim as to which
indemmty may be sought, and shall permit the Indemnifying Party to assume the defense of any such claim or any litigation resulting
therefrom, provided that counse) for the Indemmfying Party, who shall conduct the defense of such claim or any hugation resulting therefrom,
shall be approved by the Indemmified Party (whose approval shall not unreasonably be withheld) and the Indemnificd Party may participate in
such defense at such panty’s expense (unless the Indemmfied Party shall have reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest
between the Indemmfying Party and the Indemnified Party 1n such action, 1n which casc the fees and cxpenses of counsel shall be at the
expense of the Indemmfying Party)., and provided further that the failure of any Indemmified Party (o give notice as provided heremn shall not
reheve the Indemnifving Party of 1ts obhigattons under this Section 7 unless the Indemnifying Party 1s matenally prejudiced thereby No
Indemnifying Party. in the defensc of any such claim or htigation shall, except with the consent of cach Indemmified Party. consent to cntry of
any judgment or enter into any settlement which does not include as an unconditional term thercof the giving by the clasmant or plainuif to
such Indemnified Party of a rclease from all hability 1n respect to such clarm or htigation Each Indemnificd Party shall furmsh such
information regarding 1itself or the claim 1n question as an Indemmfying Party may rcasonably request in writing and as shall be reasonably
required 1in connection with the defensc of such claim and litigation resulting therefrom ;
|

(d) If the indemnification provided for 1n this Section 7 15 held by a court of competent junisdiction to be unavailable to an
Indemnified Party with respect to any loss, Irabihty, claim. damage or expense referred to herein, then the Indemmfying Party, 1n Ieu of
indemmfying such Indemnified Party hereunder. shall contribute to thc amount paid or payable by such Indemnified Party as a result of such
loss, liability. claim. damage or expense 1n such proportion as 1s appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the Indemmifying Party on the one
hand and of the Indemnified Party on the other in connection with the stateinents or omissions which resulted 1n such loss, hability, claim,
damage or expensc, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations The relative fault of the Indemnifying Party and of the Indemnified
Party shall be detcrmined by refercnce to, among other things. whether the untrue {or alleged untrue) statement of a matertal fact or the
omission (or alleged omission) to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the Indemmfying Party or by the Indemmficd Party
and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge. access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or onussion
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(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that the provisions on indemmfication and contribution contained in the underwriting
agreement entered into 1 connectton with any underwritten pubhic offenng contemplated by thts Agreement are 1n conflict with lhe toregomﬂ
provisions, the provisions in such underwnting agreement shall be controlling

(1) The foregoing indemntty agreement of the Company and the Trust 1s subject to the condition that. insofar as they relate to any
loss, claim, habihty or damage ansing out of a statement made 1n or omitted from a prehminary prospectus but eliminated or remedied 1n
the amended prospectus on file with the Commission at the time the registration statement 1n question becomes effective or the' amended
prospectus filed with the Commussion pursuant to Commssion Rule 424(b) (the “Final Prospectus™), such indemmty or contnbution
agreement shall not inure to the benefit of any underwriter or the Trust 1if a copy of the Final Prospectus was furmshed to the undcrwrnter
and was not furmshed to the Person asserting the loss, hability, claim or damage at or pnior to the time such action 1s required by the
Securities Act.

SECTION 8 MISCELLANEOUS !

(a) DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY Where any provision 1n this Agreement rcfers to action to be taken by any Person, or which such
Person 1s prohibited from taking, such provision shall be applicable whether such action 1s taken directly or indircetly by such Person
(b) GOVERNING LAW This Agreement shall be governed by and construed n accordance with the laws of the State of New York

applicable to contracts made and to be performed entirely within such State
1

(c) SECTION HEADINGS The headings of the scctions and subsections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and
shall not be deemed to constitute a part thereof

(d) NOTICES

(1) All communications under this Agreement shall be 1n wnung and shall be dehivered by hand or facsimile or mailed by
overmght cournier or by registered or certified mail, postage prepad

(1) 1f to the Company, to 11111 Sunset Iills Road Reston, Virgima 20190 (facsimile (703) 547-2479). Attention General
Counsel, or at such other address as 1t may have furmished in writing to the Allegiance Parties, with a copy to Willkie Farr & Gallagher
LLP, 787 Seventh Avenue, New York, NY 10019 (facsimile (212) 728-8111), Attention Bruce R Kraus, Esq.

2)1f to the Allegiance or Allegiance Worldwide, to | ] or at such other address or facsimile number
as may have been furnished the Company i wnting ;

(3) 1f to the Trust. to [, ], or at such other address or facsumile number as may have been furnished
the Company 1n wniting '
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(1) Any notice so addressed shall be deemed to be given 1f delivered by hand or facsimile, on the date of such delivery, 1f mailed
by overmght courier. on tbe first business day following the date of such mailing, and 1f mailed by registered or certified mal, on the third
business day after the date of such mailing

(e) REPRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS This Agreement and all documents relating thercto, including, without llmuau:on. any
consents, waivers and modifications which may hereafter be executed may be reproduced by the Allegiance Parties by any photographic,
photostatic, microfilm. microcard. mimature photographie or other similar process and the Allegiance Parties may destroy any original
document so reproduced The parties hereto agree and stipulate that any such reproduction shall be admissible 1n evidence as the onginal itself
1n any judicial or administrative proceeding (whether or not the onginal 1s 1n existence and whether or not such reproduction was made by the
Allegiance Parties 1n the regular course of business) and that any enlargement. facsimtle or further reproduction of such reproduction shall
hikewise be admissible 1n evidence

(f) SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS Except as otherwise provided 1n this Agreement, no party hereto shall assign this Agreement or
any rights or obligations hereunder without the prior wntten consent of the other parties hereto and any such attempted assignment without
such prior wnitten consent shall be vord and of no force and effect This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the
successors and assigns of each of the parties The rights of the Trust under this Agreement may be assigned to no more than 10 purchasers of
Registrable Securities, provided that each such assignee shall promptly execute and deliver to the Company a written undertaking assuming the
obligations of the Trust under this Agreement, and provided further thatf, at any time. there 1s more than one holder of Registrable Securities,
demands. requests and determmations otherwise made by the Trust shall be made by the holders of a majonty of the Registrable Sccurmes at
the time outstanding

(g) ENTIRE AGREEMENT, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties
hereto and supersedes all pnior understanding among such parties This Agreement may be amended. and the observance of any lerm of this
Agreement may be warved. with (and only with) the written consent of the Company and the Trust.

(h) SEVERABILITY In the event that any part or parts of this Agreement shall be held illegal or unenforceable by any court or
admmstrative body of competent junsdiction. such determination shall not affeet the remaimning provisions of this Agreement which shall
remain 1n full force and effect

(1) COUNTERPARTS This Agreement may be executed 1n two or more counterparts (including by facsimile), each of which shall be
deemed an original
and all of which together shall be considered one and the sume agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have exccuted this Agreement as of the date first set forth above

XO COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
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By /s/ Wilham Garrahan
Name William Garrahan
Tile Acting CFO

ALLEGIANCE TELECOM. INC .
as debtor-in-possession

By /s/Mark B Tresnowski
Name Mark B Tresnowski
Title Executive Vice President

ALLEGIANCE TELECOM COMPANY WORLDWIDE,
as debtor-n-possession

By /s/ Mark B Tresnowski
Namc Mark B Tresnowski
Title Executive Vice President

ALLEGIANCE TELECOM LIQUIDATING TRUST

By /s/Eugenel Davis
Name Eugenel Dawvis
Tide Plan Admimistrator
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Exhibit 21 1 Subsidianes of XO Communications. Inc
Name Junsdichon of Incorporation
Allegiance of Colorado, Inc Dclaware |
Allegiance of Flonda. Inc. Delaware
Allegiance of Hlnots, Inc Delaware
Allegiance of Texas, Inc Delaware
LHP Equpment, Inc Delaware
Telecommumcatons of Nevada LLC Delaware
V&K Holdings, Inc Delaware
XO Asia Limted Hong Kong
XO Califormia, Inc Washington
XO Colorado, Inc Washington
XO Communications Services, Inc Delawarc
XO Flonda, Inc Washington
XO Global Communications, Inc Dclaware
XO llhnots, Ine Washington
XO Interactive, Inc . Delaware
XO Intercity Holdings No 1 LLC Washington
XO Intermational Holdings. Inc Delaware
XO LMDS Iloldings. Inc Nevada
XO Management Scrvices, Ine Washington
XO Nevada Merger Sub, Inc Dclaware
XO One, Inc Dclaware
XO Services. Inc Delaware
XO Texas, Inc Washington
XO Virgima LLC Washington

Subsidiaries of XO Communications Scrvices, Inc

XO Intercity Holdings No 1 LLC Washington
Mindshare LLC . Delaware

Subsidianes of XO International Holdings, Inc

XO International, Inc Delaware
Nextlink Global ASP (Denmark) Denmark

Subsidianes of XO Management Services, In¢

XO Managcment Services — Nevada, Inc Washington

Subsidiaries of XO Intereaty Holdings No 1 LL.C

XO Intereity Holdings No 2 LLC Washington
XO Data Services LLC Delaware

Subsidianes of__XD_lNc\'ada Merger Sub. Inc

Telecommunications of Nevada LLC (50%:) Dclaware
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
XO Communications, Inc

We consent to the incorporation by reference 1n the registration statements (No 333-103428 and No 333-106302) on Form S-8 of XO
Communicauons, Inc of our reports dated March 18, 2005. with respect to the consohdated balance sheets of XO Communications. Inc as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders® equity. and cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and for the period from January 1, 2003 to December 31. 2003 (XO peniod) and for the portion of January 1. 2003, related
to Predecessor XO's reorgamzation gain (Predecessor XO period), and the related consolidated financial statement schedule, management’s
assessment of the effecuveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, which reports appear tn the December 31, 2004 annual report on Form 10-K of XO
Communications. Inc

On June 23, 2004, XO completed the acquisition of all of the telecommunications services assets of Allegiance Telecom, Inc (Allegiance), and
management excluded from 1ts assessment of the effectiveness of XO's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004.
Allegiance’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total revenues of approximately $217 2 milhion included in the
consolidated financial statements of XO for the year ended December 31, 2004 Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of XO
also excluded an cvaluation of Allegiance’s intemal control over financial reporting !

As discussed in Note 20 to the consohdated finaneial statements, on January 16. 2003, XO Commumeations, Inc emerged from bankruptcy
The consohdated financial statements of XO Comimumcations, Inc reflect the impacts of adjustments to refleet the fair value of assets and
habihties under fresh start reporting. which was apphed effective January 1, 2003 As a result, the consohdated financial statements of XO
Communications, Inc are presented on a different basis than those of Predecessor XO and. therefore, are not comparable in all respects

/s/ KPMG LLP

McLean, VA
March 18, 2005
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Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the tncorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Forms S-8 Nos 333-103428 and No 333-106302) pertaining
to the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan of XO Communications, Inc , of our report dated February 28, 2003, with respect to the consohdated financial
statcments and schedule of XO Communications, Inc for the year ended December 31, 2002 inctuded 1n the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for
the year ended December 31, 2004 ; :

Baltimore, MD

March 15, 2005
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Exhibit 31 1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Carl J. Grivner. certify that
1 Yhave reviewed this annual report on Forin 10-K of XO Communications, Inc ;

2 Based on my knowledge. this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make statements made. 1n light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report,

3 Based on my knowledge. the financial statements. and other financial information included 1n this annual report, fairly present an all
matcnal respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the peniods presented n this
annual report,

4 The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defincd m Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporung (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures. or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant. including its consohdated subsidiances, 1s made known to
us by others within those entitics, particularly dunng the period in which this annual report 1s being prepared,

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision. to provide reasonable assurance regarding the rehability of financial reporing and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

¢} evaluated the effectivencss of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 1n this annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the peniod covered by this report
based on such evaluation, and

d) disclosed 1n this report any change 1n the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has matenially affected, or 15 reasonably likely to matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting, and

5 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed. based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting. to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commuttee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function).

a)  all sigmficant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in the design or operaton of internal controls over financial reporting which
are reasonably hikely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information, and

b) any fraud, whether or not matenial, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 1n the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting

Date March 18. 2005
/s/ CARL J GRIVNER

Carl) Gnvner
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer}
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I. Willlam Garrahan, cerufy that
1 T have reviewed this annua) report on Form 10-K of XO Communications, Inc ,

2 Based on my knowledge. this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omit to statc a matenial fact
necessary to make statements made. 1n hght of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included 1n this annual report, fairly present n all
matenal respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of. and for. the periods presented in this
annual report,

4 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and mamntaiming disclosure controls and pro&edurcs (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(e)) and 1nternal control over financial reporting tas defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant. including 1ts consolidated subsidianes. 1s made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly dunng the period 1n which this annual report 1s being prepared.

b) designed such mternal control over financial reporting. or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision. to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles:

¢} evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented mn this annual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures. as of the end of the penod covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed 1n this report any change 1n the registrant’s intemnal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has matenally affected, or 1s reasonably likely to matenally affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting, and

S The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of regustrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function)

a) all sigmficant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses 1n the design or operation of mnternal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably hkely 1o adversely affect the registrant’s abihity 10 record. process. summarize and report finaneial information, and

b) any fraud, whether or not maternal, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 1n the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting

Date March 18, 2005
/s/ WILLIAM GARRAHAN

William Garrahan

Sentor Vice President and
Acting Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 of XO Commumications. Ine (the “Company™),
as filed with the Secunities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I. Carl J Gnivner, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. certify. pursuant 1o 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best
of my knowledge

1 The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securnities Exchange Actof 1934 (15U SC 78m or
780(d)). and

2 The nformation contained wn the Report fairly presents, 1n all matenal respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company

Date March 18, 2005

/s/ CARL ] GRIVNER

Carl J Grivner
Chief Executive Officer
{Pnincipal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 of XO Communicauons. Inc (the “Company™),
as filed with the Secunities and Exchange Commussion on the date hereof (the “Report™), 1. Wilham Garrahan. Semor Vice President and
Acting Chief Financial Officer of the Company. certify, pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sectton 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge

1 The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secuntics Exchange Act of 1934 (15U S C. 78m or
780(d}). and

2 The information contained 1n the Report fairly presents. 1n all material respects. the financtal condition and results of opur'auons of the
Company

Date. March 18, 2005 '
/s/ WiLLIAM GARRAHAN

William Garrahan

Senior Vice President and
Acting Chief Financial Officer
(Pnincipal Financial Officer)
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SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003

OR
(] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File No. 0-30900

X0 COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 54-1983517
(State or other jurisdiction of (L.R.S. employer
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11111 Sunset Hills Road
Reston, Virginia 20190
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(703) 547-2000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities rcgistered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
NONE

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Stock, par value $0 01 per share
(Title of class)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter perniod that the Registrant
was required to file such reports). and (2) has been subject to such (iling requirements for the past

90 days. YES NO O

Indicate by check mark 1if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Registration S-K is not contained
herein. and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge. in defimtive proxy or information statements
mcorporated by reference in Part 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K
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PART I

Item 1. Business

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “*Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in ltem 7, contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause the
results of XO Communications, 1nc. or XO Parent and its consolidated subsidiaries or XO to differ
materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. All statements other than
statements of historical fact are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements. including
any projections of earnings, revenue, synergies, accretion, margins, costs or other financial items, any
statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management for future operations, including the
execution of integration and restructuring plans; any statemeni concerning proposed new products, services,
developments or industry comparisons; any statements regarding future economic conditions or
performance; any statements of belief; and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.
The risks, uncertainties and assumptions referred to above include the performance of contracts by vendors
and customers; employee management issues; the challenge of managing asset levels, including inventory,
the difficulty of aligning expense levels with revenue changes; and other risks that are described herein and
that are otherwise described from time to lime in XO's Securities and Exchange Commission reports
including but not limited to the items discussed in “Business — Factors that Could Affect Future Results”,
XO assumes no obligation and does not intend to update these forward-looking statements.

Introduction

XO Communications, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is a leading independent broadband telecommuni-
cations services provider that markets a comprehensive array of telecommunications services, including
local and long distance voice, Internet access, private data networking and hosting services.

The itial predecessor entity of XO Parent was formed as a Washington limited partnership in 1994.
In 1995, that entity merged into a Washington limited liability company that became known as
“NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C.” In January 1997, NEXTLINK Communications, L.L.C. merged
into NEXTLINK Communications, Inc., a2 Washington corporation, which in June 1998 reincorporated in
Delaware under the same name. On June 16, 2000, in connection with the acquisition of Concentric
Network Corporation, NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. merged with and into a new corporation and
that corporation, as the surviving corporation in the merger, changed its name to NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc. On September 25, 2000, NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. began doing business
as “XO Communications™ and, on October 25, 2000, changed 1ts name to XO Communications. Inc. We
conduct our business primarily through the more than 70 subsidiaries that XO Parent owns and manages.

On June 17, 2002, XO Parent filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. On November 15, 2002, the
Bankruptcy Court confirmed XO Parent’s plan of reorganization, and, on January 16, 2003, XO Parent
consummated the plan of reorganization and emerged from its Chapler 11 reorganization proceedings with
a significantly restructured balance sheet.

In December 2001, XO Parent voluntarily delisted its pre-petition class A common stock from the
Nasdaq National Market, which was traded under the symbol “X0OXO”, and, on December 17, 2001,
began trading on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board, or OTCBB. As of January 16, 2003, XO Parent’s
pre-petition class A common stock stopped trading on the OTCBB and all interests in XO Parent’s pre-
petition class A common stock were terminated pursuant to the plan of reorganization. The shares of
common stock issued by the reorganized XO Parent pursuant to its plan of reorganization began trading in
January 2003 on the OTCBB and in the Pink Sheets under the symbol “XOCM.OB” shortly after the first
distribution of common stock pursuant to its plan of reorganization.

Our principal executive and administrative offices are located at 11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston,
Virginia 20190 and our telephone number is (703) 547-2000 Our Internet address is www.xo.com, where,
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under “About XO-Investor Center”, you can find copies of our annual report on Form 10-K as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2003, and our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on

Form 8-K, all of which we make available as soon as reasonably practicable after the report is filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the Commission.

Overview of Our Company

The Telecommunications Act of 1996, or the “Telecom Act”, which substantially revised the
Communications Act of 1934, established the regulatory framework for the introduction of competition for
local telecommunications services throughout the United States by new competitive independent entrants
such as us. Prior to the passage of the Telecom Act, states typically granted an exclusive franchise in cach
local service area to a single dominant carrier — often a former subsidiary of AT&T known as a Regional
Bell Operating Company (“RBOC™) — which owned the entire local exchange network and operated a
virtual monopoly 1n the provision of most local exchange services in most locations in the United States.
The RBOCs, following some recent consolidation, now consist of the following companies: BellSouth,
Verizon, Qwest Communications und SBC Communications.

We provide business customers with a comprehensive array of telecommunications services, including
local and long distance voice, Internet access, private data networking and hosting services. Our services
are designed to be provided through our network assets, which are capable of carrying high volumes of all
types of telecommunications traffic. We market our services primarily to business customers, including
small and middle-market businesses, Fortune 500 companies, and carrier and wholesale customers.
Although our services benefit businesses of all sizes, we believe them to be of particular benefit to multi-
location businesses that desire 1o improve telecommunications among their locations, whether within a
single metropolitan area or across the country. Our services include the following:

1) Voice services:

e Local and long distance services, other voice-related services such as conferencing, domestic
and international toll free services and voicemail, and transaction processing services for
prepaid calling cards; and

» Hosted interactive voice response, or 1VR, systems that we develop, host and manage that
enable our customers’ end-users to order products and services, collect and receive information,
seek assistance, facilitate bill payment and a host of other capabilities over the telephone using
natural language speech recognition and systems that enable persons 1o access web-based
information over the telephone;

2) Data services:
» Internet access:

» Dedicated Internet access for customers with Jarge, high-speed Internet access
requirements;

« Digital subscriber line, or DSL, services for businesses that require high-speed Internet
access over existing copper wire telephone lines; and

» Dial access, which allows remote users to connect to XO’s network;
» Private data networking:

 Dedicated transmission capacity on our network, including dedicated circuits and the lease
of one or more dedicated wavelengths on a fiber optic cable, to customers that desire
high-bandwidth links between locations,

» Virtual private network, or VPN, services, which provide customers with a managed,
private data service over the public Internet, designed for medium and large businesses
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that want 1o create secure, wide-area networks for users at various and remote locations;
and )

« Ethernet services, which are designed to connect the local area networks, or LANs, of
medium and large customers within and between metropolitan areas at speeds of up to
one gigabit per second;

< Hosting services:
« Web site services. which allow a customer to establish a Web presence;

+ Web hosting, including hosting and web site traffic management tools, for Internet-centric
businesses, and streamed media services designed for small and middle-market businesses;
and

« Server collocation and management and customer support to manage a customer’s hosting
needs; and

3) Integrated voice and data services

« Integrated, flat rate service packages that we refer to as XOplions. These packages eliminate
the separation between local and long-distance telecommunications services, and combine our
“all distance™ telephone services with high-speed Internet access and web hosting services, all
for one flat monthly rate.

* Shared tenant services, which are telecommunications management services provided to groups
of small and middle-market business located 1n the same office building.

We believe that a significant factor considered by business customers in making the decision to
purchase telecommunications services is the quality of service and customer support offered by the service
provider. We focus on proactive resolution of customer issues by traming our customer care representatives
extensively on the services that we offer and promoting accountability of the customer care team. We also
have developed a secure, on-line business center, through which many customers can access information
about their accounts and track requests, review services, analyze trends, make decisions and pay bills.

To serve our customers’ broad and expanding telecommunications needs, we utilize network assets
located across the United States, substantially all of which we own or control through indefeasible
exclusive rights or other leasing arrangements, making us a facilities-based carrier. Indefeasible exclusive
rights are contracts with the owners of fiber optic cables that allow us to use a specified amount of
capacity on a specified fiber on those cables for terms ranging from 10 to 25 years. Our network assets
incorporate state-of-the-art fiber optic cable, dedicated wavelengths of transmission capacity on fiber optic
networks and transmission equipment capable of carrying high volumes of data, voice. video and Internet
traffic. We are able to provide a comprchensive array of telecommunications services primarily or entirely
over our integrated network, from the initiation of the voice or data transmission to the point of
termination. This capability enables us to provide *“end-to-end” telecommunications services between
customers connected to our network, and among a customer’s multiple locations, primarnly or entirely over
our integrated network.

Our network consists of metro fiber networks located in the U.S. metropolitan areas that we serve,
connected by our intercity network. Our metro fiber networks consist of rings of fiber optic cables
encircling the central business districts of numerous metropolitan areas. We operate 37 metro fiber
networks in 22 states and the District of Columbia, including 25 of the 30 largest metropolitan areas in the
U.S. We have constructed, acquired or leased our metro fiber networks, each of which consists of up to
432 strands of fiber optic cable and, in some cases, empty conduits through which additional fiber optic
cable can be deploved. '

Our metro fiber networks are connected primarily by dedicated wavelengths of transmission capacity
that we have obtained on intercity fiber optic cables, which we refer to as our intercity network. To deploy
our intercity network, we have leased dedicated, high-capacity wavclengths of transmission capacity on

3



fiber optic cables, onto which we have deployed our own switching, routing and optical equipment. We
also hold indefeasible exclusive rights to use 18 fiber optic strands on the routes served by our intercity .
networks pursuant to arrangements with Level 3, substantially all of which are not currently in use,
referred 1o in our industry as unlit. As a result, we have the ability to utilize significant additional network
capacity as our business grows.

We hold licenses for 1,150 to 1,300 MHz of local multipoint distribution services, or LMDS,
spectrum in 59 cities Our licenses also include:

« 150 MHz of LMDS spectrum in 14 other cities:

e 150 MHz of LMDS spectrum in the five boroughs that comprise New York City (300 MHz total);
and '

« 400 MHz of LMDS spectrum in Denver.

We also hold ten broadband wireless licenses in the 39 GHz (gigahertz) frequency band, of which
five provide from 100 to 300 additional MHz in two cities where we hold a 150 MHz LMDS license. plus
100 MHz in Denver and 200 MHz of spectrum in Las Vegas, where we do not hold a LMDS license.

Our Reorganization

From 1996 through 2001, XO Parent accumulated outstanding indebtedness in excess of $5 billion in
connection with the financing and acquisition of our network. Following the decline in the market
valuations of emerging telecommunications companies in 2001, we were unable to obtain additional
funding for our operations and to support our outstanding indebtedness. As a result, despite reductions in
our operating expenses, including a reduction in our workforce in 2001 from 7,400 to 6,712 emplovees, and
the implementation of other cost control measures, we concluded that our cash on hand would not be
sufficient to fund operations, capital expenditures and debt service until such time as we expected our
operations to become profitable and we determined that a restructuring of our business was necessary.

On June 17, 2002, XO Parent filed for protection under the Bankruptcy Code. On November 15,
2002, the Bankruptcy Court confirmed XO Parent’s plan of reorganization, and, on January 16, 2003, XO
Parent consummated the plan of reorganization and emerged from its Chapter 11 reorganization
proceedings with a significantly restructured balance sheet.

Implementation of the Plan of Reorganization

On January 16, 2003, our Effective Date, XO Parent consummated its Plan of Reorganization and
emerged from its Chapter 11 reorganization proceedings with a significantly restructured balance sheet.
The consummation of the Plan of Reorganization resulted in the following changes in XO Parent’s capital
structure:

+ The conversion of $1.0 billion of loans under our pre-petition secured credit facility into
$500.0 million of outstanding principal amount under an amended and restated sccured credit
agreement;

» The extinguishment of all amounts due under our pre-petition unsecured senior and subordinated
notes and certain general unsecured obligations;

» The cancellation of all outstanding shares and interests in our pre-petition preferred stock and pre-
petition common stock; and

» The issuance of approximately 95 0 million shares of new common stock in reorganized XO and
warrants to purchase up to an additional 23 75 million shares of New Common Stock of
reorganized XO.



The following table shows the distribution each party of interest impacted by XO Parent’s bankruptcy
was entitled 1o. As certain claims are still being reviewed by the Bankruptcy Court, certain proportional
distributions have not yet been made and can not occur until the court rules (dollars in thousands, except
share data).

Shares of New

Common Series A Series B Series C
Party of Interest Stock Warrants  Warrants  Warrants  Credit Facility = Cash
$1 Bilhon sentor secured credit facihity . 90.250,001 — — — $500.000 $ —
Scnior unsecured notes . . 4,715,344 9,430,689 7,073,015 7,073,015 — 1,600
Subordinated notes — — — — — 616
General unsecured creditors . . 34.656 69,309 51.980 51,980 — 403
Total entttlement . . 95,000,001 9.499,998 7,124,995  7.124.995 $500,000 $2.619
Not yet distributed . 1,230.638 2,461,743 1,846,151  1.846,151 — 1.612
Total 1ssued or paid . 93,769,363 7,038.255 5278,844  5,278.844 $500,000 $1,007

As part of our Plan of Reorganization, we agreed to mitiate a Rights Offering that allowed certain
holders of claims and interests in XO Parent as of the November 15, 2002 record date to subscribe for up
to 40.0 million shares of New Common Stock at $5 00 per share. The Rights Offering closed on
January 5. 2004. An aggregate of 39.7 million shares were issued, yielding net proceeds of $197.6 million.
Subsequent to closing, these proceeds were used to pay down our Credit Facility from $536.8 million at
December 31, 2003 to approximately $339.2 million.

Interests Held by Entities Controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icalin

Various entities controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn, Chairman of XO Parent, hold the following intcrests
in reorganized XO:

Series A, B and

Common Stock C Warrants Credit Facility
At December 31. 2003 Greater than 80%  Greater than 40%  Greater than 90%
At January 31. 2004 Greater than 60%  Greater thun 40%  Greater than 90%

In addition entities controlled by Mr. Icahn have acquired an option to purchase 6.25 million
additional shares of common stock from Franklin Mutual Advisors, LLC at a strike price of $4.25 per
share which expires June 21, 2004. After closing our rights offering in January 2004, Mr. Icahn’s
ownership interest in our outstanding common stock was reduced to over 60%. On January 27, 2004, Icahn
and Associates filed a Form 13D with the Securities and Exchange Commission stating they held
beneficial ownership as defined therein of 69% of XO Parent.

Accounting Impact .

As a result of the consummation of the Plan of Reorganization, XO Parent was required to
implement the fresh start accounting provisions of SOP 90-7 “Financial Reporting by Entities in
Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code” to its financial statements The fresh start accounting
provisions required that we establish a “fair value™ basis for the carrying value of the assets and liabilities
for Reorganized XO.

For further discussion of the effects of our implementation of the Plan of Reorganization on our
financial condition and results of operations, see “Our Chapter 11 Reorganization” and “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.”



Acquisition of Assets of Allegiance Telecom, Inc.

On February 19, 2004, the United States Bankrupicy Court for the Southern District of New York
approved the Asset Purchase Agreement by and between XO Parent and Allegiance Telecom, Inc., or
Allegiance, pursuant to which we have agreed to acquire substantially all of the assets of Allegiance for
approximately $311.0 million 1n cash and approximately 45.4 million shares of our New Common Stock.
We anticipate we will receive the required governmental approval prior to or shortly after the beginning of
the second quarter of 2004. At that point in time, we will operate under a management agreement
whereby the combined management team will exercise day to day operating control over the asscts and
operations to be acquired from Allegiance. We anticipate that our acquisition of the Allegiance assets will
be consummated during the third quarter of 2004 after all other federal and state regulatory approvals are
obtained.

The Allegiance assets consist primarily of:

« switching and rouling equipment, located both in current Allegiance facilities and in facilities
operating by one or more incumbent local exchange carriers;

» physical points of presence in the form of network operations centers, data centers, central offices,
and sales offices located in 36 major metropolitan areas;

 customer and sales agreements thal constitute a majority of Allegiance’s voice and data revenues;

« leased intercity and metro fiber network capacity that is both redundant to and expansive of our
current network; and

« billing, provisioning, and other back-office information technology platforms.

With the acquisition of substantially all of Allegiance’s network assets and customer base, XO will
become one of the nation’s largest competitive independent providers of national local telecommunications
and broadband services with approximately 250,000 customers and approximately $1.6 billion 1n annual
revenues. We will own one of the largest network of nationwide connections to the RBOC’s networks, and
will double our Points of Presence (PoPs) within the 36 metropolitan areas where both XO and
Allegiance operate. XO believes that this extensive network will allow XO to (i) improve delivery of
service to customers (ii) reduce network costs (iii) improve operating results and (iv) improve our ability
to compete with other companies in the nationwide local telecommunications services market. In addition,
the combination of XO and Allegiance will enhance the strength and depth of the combined human
resource team by combining the sales, technical and management expertise of both companies.

Based on information made available to us by Alilegiance, we estimate the annual revenue associated
with the operations that we will acquire will exceed $500 0 million. Allegiance’s filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission can be found on their web site www.allegiancetelecom.com. We believe that
we will be able to realize network operations and selling, operating, and administrative synergies over time
of approximately $160.0 million annually. By reducing expenses, and achieving the operational benefits
noted above, we believe that the combined entity will move to profitability more quickly than XO would
have had we not entered into the Allegiance asset acquisition.

Our acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Allegiance, although approved by the U.S.
Bankruptcy Court, remains contingent upon the fulfillment of a variety of covenants contained 1n the
definitive documentation pursuant to which we anticipate acquiring the Allegiance assets. Such
contingencies include, without limitation, our obtaining regulatory clearances, such as Hart-Scott-Rodino
and approval of the Federal Communication Commission, or FCC, and state public utility commissions.
While we believe the approvals will be forthconung, there can be no assurance that we will obtain the
governmental approvals and clearances required to consummate our acquisition of the Allegiance assets.
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Services

We provide business customers with a comprehensive array of data and voice telecommunications
services, which include voice, Internet access, private data networking and hosting services. We have
designed these telecommunications services to meet the necds of all sizes of commercial business
customers, from small and medium businesses to multi-location businesses, large cnterprises, as well as
carrier and wholesale customers.

Yoice Services
Local and Long Distance Voice Services

We offer a vanety of voice applications and services as an alternative (o comparable local services
from the Incumbent Local Exchange Carrers, or ILECs. These voice services include:

» local standard dial tone, including touch-tone dialing, 911 access and operator assisted calling;

* local multi-trunk dial tone services, including direct inward dialing, and direct outward dialing;

« long distance services, including 1. toll free, calling card and operator services;

- voice messaging with personalized greetings, send, transfer, reply and remote retrieval capabilities;
« conferencing services, including voice and web conferencing services; and

» directory listings and assistance.

In each of our markets, we have negotiated and entered into interconnection agreements with the
TLEC and certain independent carriers, and implemented permanent Jocal number portability, which allows
customers to retain their telephone numbers when changing telephone service providers.

Hosted Interactive Voice Response

We develop and manage hosted interactive voice response, or IVR, systems for customers that enable
end users to order products and services, collect and receive information, seek assistance, facilitate bill
payments, and a host of other capabilities over the telephone Our hosted IVR capabilities utilize a wide
range of technologies. from standard touch-tone/push-button dialing to natural language speech recognition
and extensible markup language, or XML, and VoiceXML tcchnologies, which are sophisticated systems
that enable persons to access Web-based information over the telephone. We customize for our clients’
particular needs telephony-based software applications and technologies developed by third parties to create
IVR systems We integrate these 1VR systems with our clients’ other business systems, such as
information databases and customer relationship management systems. We host and maintain the IVR
systems in data centers and deploy them to clients across a network, thereby alleviating the need for our
clients to purchase, own, install, or maintain these applications. Clients pay for the use of these customized
solutions through a combination of “upfront™ payments for development and recurring fees based on
transaction volume. We also host and manage personal identification number, or PTN, management
systems for customers. which consist of primarily pre-paid calling card systems, including providing
transaction processing services relating to prepaid calling card services provided by other telecommunica-
tions carriers,

Data Services

Internet Access

Our Internet access offerings include dedicated access services targeted at businesses that desire single
or multipoint high-speed, dedicated connections to the Internet. Qur Dedicated Internct Access service
provides service guarantees for internet speeds ranging from 56 kilobits per second, or kbps, to 1 Gigabit
per second, or Gbps. Our digital subscniber line, or DSL, service also includes a wide range of dedicated
access spceds for Small and Medium Business, or SMBs. We are a tier-1 Internet backbone provider in
the U.S., with over 200 public and private peering arrangements with other Iniernet backbones.
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Private Data Networking

We provide dedicated transmission capacity on our networks 1o customers that desire high-bandwidth
links between locations. We offer special access and point-lo-point circuits to long distance carriers and
other high volume customers, which are used as both primary and back-up circuits. In addition, fiber optic
technology that enables signals to be transmitted at different wavelengths on a single fiber allows us to
lease one or more dedicated wavelengths to customers that desire high-bandwidth links between locations.
We currently offer these services with connections of up to 9 6 gigabits per second, a transmission rate that
is described in our industry as OC-192. This service supports a varietly of transmission protocols, including
Asynchronous Transfer Mode or ATM. Frame Relay and Synchronous Optical Network, or SONET.

Our virtual private network, or VPN, services enable customers to deploy tailored, Internet Protocol-
based mission-critical business applications for secure internal enterprise, business-to-business and
business-1o-customer data communications among geographically dispersed locations, while also affording
high-speed access to the Internet. VPN services also provide secure access for remote users, such as
traveling employees and emplovees working from home or a remote location, which is not possible using
private line and frame relay services. We also offer managed firewall services.

Fmally, we offer a suite of Ethernet services, including Gigabit Ethernet, or GigE, in most of our U.S.
markets, as well as intercity Ethernet services between our markets. Our Ethernet services are designed to
provide high-speed, high-capacity connections between customers’ local area networks, or LANs, within
and between metropolitan areas, while eliminating the need for ongoing configuration, management and
acquisition of equipment by the customer. These services are designed to provide private networking data
speeds ranging from 10 or 100 megabits per second to one gigabit per second connections, to simplify
customers’ network connections, and to significantly reduce their costs.

Hosting Services

We offer a range of applications hosting services that can manage a customer's web-based
infrastructure and operational needs, allowing customers to focus on their web-based content. In addition,
we provide server management tools and services to manage customers’ larger computers (which are
known as servers) for them.

To provide this service, we have equipped our data centers and have configured the central offices of
our network backbone with electrical and environmental controls and 24-hour maintenance and technical
support, to provide an attractive location for our customers to locate their servers or from which they can
run important applications on servers thal we maintain.

Our hosting services include:

» Web Hosting: support for customers’ websites, including design. maintenance and telecommu-
nications services; .

» Server Collocation: collocation of customers’ servers in our data centers; and

 Application Hosting: running our customers’ enterprise-wide applications at our data centers
and distributing them as necded over our network or servers to ensure uniformity, reduce costs
and implement upgrades on a continuous and immediate basis.

As part of some of our XOptions integrated packages of telecommunications services, we offer web
hosting with Microsoft’s bCentral web-based tools and applications, which enables customers to conduct
targeted email marketing, register their web site with hundreds of Internet search engines and directories,
build catalogues and sell products over the web, and coordinate meetings and appointments online. We
also offer a suite of hosting outsourcing services that provides customers web-based access to email, group
distribution lists, calendaring, contacts databases management and file sharing. Hosting can be “shared”, in
which we own the equipment and provide the underlying services, or “dedicated.”” in which we provide
some or all of the hosting and services from our data centers using the customer’s own equipment.
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Integrated Voice and Data Services

We offer bundled packages of voice and data products, known as XOptions, to small and middle-
market businesses that include integrated, flat-rate packages for specified amounts of certain services,
including local and long distance voice services, Internet access and web hosting services. These services
include a variety of service packages designed to accommodate different sized customers with anywhere
from 10 to 100 employees per location. XOptions eliminates the complexity of working with multiple
service providers for installation, maintenance and billing, and also can result in significant savings over the
average cost of buying these services from separate competitive voice and data providers We also offer
Integrated Access Services, which can reduce telecommunications costs by combining local voice, long
distance, and dedicated Internet access on a single facility

In 2002, we introduced a number of new XOptions packages designed to meet the needs of larger
customers, specifically, those with small offices at multiple locations, those desiring to pool hosting and
email accounts across multiple locations under a single account, and those that rely heavily on voice
communications services. We also introduced XOptions packages that combine the benefits of XOptions’
local and long distance voice, Internet access and web hosting with Microsoft’s bCentral web-based tools
and applications.

Our integrated services also include shared tenant services, which are telecommunications manage-
ment services provided to groups of small and middle-market businesses located in the same office
building. This service enables businesses too small to justify hiring their own telecommunications managers
to benefit from the efficiencies, including volume discounts, normally available only to larger enterprises.
We install an advanced telecommunications system throughout each building we serve, leasing space for
on-site sales and scrvice, and offer tenants products and services such as telephones, voice mail, local
calling lines, discounted long distance and high-speed Internet connections, all on a single, detailed invoice.



XO's Networks

The following diagrams depict the physical components of our nationwide networks and technology.
There are additional maps located on our web site at www.xo.com.
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Metro Fiber Networks

The core of each of our metro fiber networks is a ring of fiber optic cable in a city’s central business
district that connects to our central offices. These central offices contain the switches and routers that
direct data and voice traffic to their destinations. and also have the space to house the additional
equipment necessary for future telecommunications services. Whenever we can, we build and own these
metro fiber networks ourselves or obtain indefeasible rights 1o use fiber so that we can control the design
and technology used to best meet our customers’ needs. We operate 37 metro fiber networks serving the
markets noted below:

Metro Fiber

Metro Fiber

State Network Location Service Market State  Network Location Service Market
AZ  Phoenix Phoenmx* MN  Minncapolis Greater Minneapolis/St Paul*
CA  Los Angeles Los Angeles* MO St Louss St Louis*
CA  Orange County  Anaheim* NJ  New Jersey Bergen/Passaic*
Costa Mcsa* Middlesex-Somerset-
Fullerton* Hunterdon
Garden Grove* Newark*
Huntington Beach* Jersey City*
Inglewood* Monmouth-Occan
Irving* Trenton
Long Beach* NV Las Vegas Las Vegas
Orange* NY  New York Manhattan*
Santa Ana* Nassau-Suffolk*
CA  Sacramento Sacramento* OH  Cleveland/Akron Cleveland-Loram-Elyria*
CA  San Dicgo San Diego* Akron
CA  San Franaisco  San Francisco* Canton-Massillon
Qukland* OH  Columbus Columbus
Frcmont: OR  Portland Portland-Vancouver, OR-WA
Moptas® PA/DE Central PA Allentown-Bethlchem-Easton*
Harrisburg-Lebanon-Carlisle
Palo Alto* Lancaster
Santa Clara* Readine
Sunnyvale* Scmnl&n-\\"llkes-Barrc-
CA  San Jose San Josc* Hazleton
CO  Denver Denver* York
Boulder-Longmont Wilmington-Newark, DE-MD
DC/VA Washington DC/ Washington, DC-MD-VA- Dover*
No VA WV* PA  Philadelpha Philadelphia, PA-NJ*
FL  Ft Lauderdale Ft Lauderdale* TN  Memphis Memphis, TN-AR-MS
FL  Miam Miamr* TN  Nashwville Nashville
West Palm Beach-Boca Raton* TX  Austin Austin-San Marco*
FL  Orlando Orlando TX  Dullas/Ft Worth Dallas*
FL  Tampa Tampa-St Petersburg- TX  Houston Fort Worth-Arlington*
Clearwater* Houston*
GA  Atlanta Atlanta* TX  San Antonio San Antonio*
Marietta* UT  Salt Lake City  Salt Lake City-Ogden
IL  Chicago Chicago* Orem/Provo
MA  Boston g"-‘li‘:v MA-NH* WA  Seattle Seattle-Bellevue-Everctt*
rockton ;
Lawrence, MA-NH* WA Spokane Ez?‘l::::;
Lowell. MA-NH* Clarkston
Worcester, MA-CT Cocur d’Alene
MD  Baltimore Baltimorc*
MI  Dectront Detroit*

*

Plains, NY

Indicates markets with Allegiance scrvice presence. In addition, Allegiance has a service presence mn Pittsburgh, PA and White



We built our high capacity metro fiber networks using a backbone density typically ranging between
72 and 432 strands of fiber optic cable. Fiber optic cables have the capacity, or bandwidth, to carry tens of
thousands of times the amount of traffic as traditionally-configured copper wire. We believe that installing
high-count fiber strands will allow us 10 offer a higher volume of broadband and voice services without
incurring significant additional construction costs. To enhance our ability to economically connect
customers 1o our networks and services, we design our networks to serve both core downtown areas and
other metropolitan and suburban areas where business development supports the capital required for the
network construction.

Intercity Network

We provide intercity transport primarily through five vear leases of wavelength capacity from Level 3
on routes linking our metro fiber networks to one another and onto which we have deployed transmission
and routing equipment to create a single, end-to-end network. The first of these leases will expire in 2006.
We expect to either renew the leases for wavelengths or to light our imtercity fiber network discussed below
based on the most cost effective approach. We have designed and installed much of the equipment we use
to roule traffic and control our intercity wavelengths so that we can easily transfer voice and data traffic
from leased wavelength capacity onto our intercity fiber network as portions of that network are lit. By
using our own transmission and routing equipment, we maximize the capacity and enhance the
performance of the network as needed to meet our customers’ current and future broadband data and
other telecommunications needs.

Using Level 3 leased wavelength capacity and our own routers and transport cquipment, we also
operate an OC-192 capacity Internet backbone, onto which a substantial amount of our Internet-related
services and customer traffic runs. This backbone provides our customers with improved network
redundancy, security and performance, and enables us to offer customers services that take advantage of
future Internet Protocol technologies.

In addition to our Level 3 leased wavelength capacity, we have intercity fiber network assets primarily
consisting of an exclusive interest 1 18 fibers in a shared, filled conduit in the Level 3 North American
network, substantially all of which are unlit. These fibers are part of a fiber network that traverses over
16,000 miles and connecls more than 60 cities in the United States and Canada, including most of the
major metropolitan markets served by our metro networks.

To conserve capital, we delayed “lighting”™ much of our intercity fiber network. In order to light a
segment of our intercity fiber network, we would install optical network equipment at our facilities that
would allow for the transmission and routing of network traffic over that fiber segment. In the aggregate,
the capital expenditures that would be required to light our entire intercity network would be
approximately $45 million. Given the level of traffic in relationship to capacity and the current availability
of intercity wavelength capacity that is available to us at cost-efficient lease rates, to date it has generally
been more cost-effective to lease the required intercity wavelength capacity rather than light our own
intercity network.

However, along specific segments of our intercity network where the demand for telecommunications
capacity justifies the required capital expenditures, we have proceeded with lighting those specific
segments. Due to the need for additional, cost efficient capacity along the segment that runs from Los
Angeles to San Diego, we lit this segment in June 2003, and we lit the Denver to Salt Lake City segment
in November 2003. Additionally, we previously lit fiber acquired from Metromedia Fiber Network, Inc.
that runs from New York to Washington, D.C. to provide an additional route 1o the lit intercity fiber
network along that segment and we have also 1it fiber in Texas. As discussed above, as leases for segments
of wavelength capacity expire, we will either renew the leases for wavelengths or light our intercity fiber
segment based on the most cost effective approach.

In August 2002, we entered into a Master Agreement with Level 3 Communications, Inc., which
amends various agreements related to our acquisition of fiber networks in the United States from Level 3
and the recurring maintenance charges relating to those networks. Beginning on January 1, 2003 and
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continuing through the remaining term of the initial agreement ending 2018, Level 3 has reduced the
operating and maintenance fees as well as fiber relocation charges from approximately $17.0 million
annually to a fixed rate of $5.0 million annually. In exchange for this reduction and certain other
concessions, we surrendered our indefeasible right to use an empty conduit and our indefeasible right to
use six of the 24 fibers previously acquired from Level 3 and recorded a one-time charge of approximately
$477.3 million in connection therewith. We believe that the 18 fibers that we retained from Level 3 in
connection with the execution of the Master Agreement will be sufficient capacity to expand our business.

- Connecting Customers to Our Networks

We connect our customers directly 1o our networks when it is economical and technologically feasible
to do so. We connect customers to our networks by using fiber optic cable and, in limited circumstances.
broadband wireless spectrum. We believe that by deploying direct connections to our customers, rather
than connecting through the ILECs’ facilities, we will reduce our costs and be better positioned to meet
our customers’ lelecommunications requirements and to more rapidly deploy our service.

In most cases, we are required 1o lease facilities from an ILEC to connect a customer 10 our network.
By building our metro fiber networks in central business districts, in many cases we have minimized the
distance from our network to a potential customer. By reducing the distance between our customers and
our network, we have minimized the costs associated with the facilities we lease from the ILECs because
the cost of those facilities is generally based, on the distance of the leased connection.

Fiber Optics. In cases where the anticipated revenues justify the construction cost, we will install a
new fiber optic extension from our network to the customer’s premises. Whether 11 is economical to
conslruct a fiber oplic extension depends, among other things, on:

« the existing and potential revenue base located in the building in question;

« the building location relative to our network and our ability to access the communications
equipment in that building, and

« local permit requirements and construction costs.

Even 1f we mnitially determine that it is not economical 1o construct a fiber connection 1o a building,
we will continually reexamine the costs and benefits of a fiber connection and may, at a later date,
determine that construction of one is justified.

Broadband Wireless Spectrum. In cases where construction of a fiber optic connection is not
practical or economical, in limited cases we have deployed a high-bandwidth wireless connection between
an antenna on the roof of the customer's premises and an antenna attached to our metro fiber network. In

“those limited cases, we and/or our customers must secure roof and other building access rights, including
access 1o conduits and wiring from the owners of each building or other structure on which we propose to
install our equipment, and may need to obtain construction, zoning, franchise or other governmental
permits.

DSL Technology. We have also deployed DSL technology to meet the high-bandwidth needs of
many customers located less than three miles from the ILEC’s central office and whose customer
connection remains over copper wire. DSL technology reduces the bottleneck in the transport of
information, particularly for data services, by increasing the data carrying capacity of copper telephone
lines. We believe that, for many small and middle-market businesses within the geographic areas that can
be served by DSL technology, existing copper connections using DSL technology from customer buildings
1o our metro fiber networks offers a lower cost alternative for high-quality broadband services than fiber or
broadband wireless connections.

We offer DSL services in numerous markets in the U.S., mainly through wholesale arrangements with
the ILECs and other DSL service providers. We have introduced our own DSL equipment and services at
many collocation sites, including central offices of the ILECs that serve a significant number of business
customers.
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Network Technology

Overview

The wires, cables and spectrum that comprise the physical layer of our networks can support a variety
of communications technologies. We seek 1o offer customers a set of technology options that can support
services that meet their changing needs and introduce new technologies as necessary. Specifically, we
believe that a service platform based on Internet Protocol, or 1P, will provide us with significant future
opportunities, because it will enable data, voice and video to be carried inexpensively over our end-1o-end,
facilities-based network. Consequently, we have supplemented our current data and voice switching
technology with IP equipment.

Over the past few years, both optical and IP-based networking technologies have undergone rapid
innovation. These technological developments enable us to offer our customers numerous high-speed data
services. Many of these innovations have the effect of increasing the efficiency of the physical components
of our network by increasing the effective capacity of networks for these types of applications. In the
future, we expect that IP-based technology will become the preferred technology for voice calls and
facsimile transmission as well. We plan to remain flexible in our use of technology, so that, as underlying
telecommunications technology changes, we will have the ability to take advantage of and implement new
technologies that best meet our network requirements and customers’ needs.

Fiber Optic Technology

To enhance the capacity of our metro fiber networks, we are incorporating dense wavelength division
multiplexing technology, which makes it possible to simultaneously transmit data at more than one
wavelength. This capability allows the transmission of multiple signals through the same fiber at different
wavelengths. When utilized with the optical fiber deployed in many of our metro fiber networks and 1 our
intercity network, this technology can significantly increase the capacity of those metro fiber networks.

Switching Technology

There are two commonly used switching technologies currenily deployed in most telecommunications
networks: circuil switched-based systems and packet switched-based systems. Circuit switch-based systems
are currently used on a majority of telecommunications networks. Circuit switch-based systems establish a
dedicated channel for each telecommunication signal (such as a telephone call for voice or fax); maintain
the channel for the duration of the call, and disconnect the channel at the conclusion of the call.

Packet switch-based telecommunications systems, which format the information to be transmutted into
a series of shorter digital messages called “packets,” are the preferred means of data (ransmission. Each
packet consists of a portion of the complete message plus the addressing information to identify the
destination and return address. A key feature that distinguishes Internet architecture from the public
telephone network is that on the packet-switched Internet, a single dedicated channel between
telecommunication points is not required.

Packet switch-based systems offer several advantages over circuit switch-based systems, particularly
the ability to commingle packets from several telecommunications sources together simultaneously onto a
single channel. For most telecommunications, particularly those with bursts of information followed by
periods of “silence,” the ability to commingle packets provides for superior network utilization and
efficiency, resulting 1n more information being transmitted through a given telecommunication channel

IP technology, an open protocol that allows unrelated computer networks to exchange data. 1s the
technological basis of the Internet The Internet’s explosive growth in recent years has focused intensive
efforts worldwide on developing 1P-based networks and applications. In contrast to protocols like ATM,
which was the product of elaborate negotiations between the world’s monopoly telephone companies, 1P is
an open standard, subject 1o continuous improvement.
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We believe that a form of IP-based switching will eventually replace both ATM and circuit switched
technologies, and will be the foundation of integrated networks that treat all transmissions — including
voice, fax and video — simply as forms of data transmission. Although not always the case, voice over IP,
or VolP, technology now incorporates the quality of service necessary for commercial deployments, but the
pricing of equipment that must be installed at customer locations in order to implement VoIP applications
is not yet cost-effective for widespread application. We expect that, over time, improved technology and
the manufacture of sufficient volumes of equipment will make customer adoption of VoIP applications
more cost-effective.

We have constructed IP points of presence in all of our major markets using high-capacity 1P routers,
through which we offer Internet-related services. We currently connect these points of presence with our
intercily fiber network, which serves as our OC-192 IP backbone.

We huve deployed a number of newly-developed packet-based switching technologies, including soft-
switch, optical and Ethernet switching technologies. The soft-switch is a distributed computer system that
performs the same functions as a circuit switch. It can route and switch information at an extremely fast
rate. Initially, we will use soft-switch technology 1o complement and relieve traffic from our circuit
switches. We have deployed optical switching, routing and transmission equipment on our intercity network
to create an all-optical network. This technology is designed 1o make significant amounts of bandwidth
available to our customers. It also is designed to enable us to more effectively and efficiently manage our
customers’ transmissions and to enhance our deployment of dense wavelength division multiplexing
technology. Optical switching will support all transmission protocols, including IP, ATM, and frame relay.
We also are deploying Ethernet switching technology to support and expand our Ethernet services.

Broadband Wireless Technology

We hold 91 local multipoint distribution service or LMDS licenses and ten 39 GHz licenses. There
are additional holders in some of the cities where we hold licenses. The following tables shows (i) the
license number, (ii) the metropolitan areas and frequency band for each area covered by the license,
(iii) the estimated population for each area, (iv) the amount of spectrum for each area, and (v) the
expiration date for each license. This makes us the licensee of the largest US footprint of fixed wireless
spectrun.

License . B 39 GHz License
Number City State  Population A Band Band Chanls Renewal
WPOL2R6 New York (PMSA of 5 boroughs & 3 counties) NY 8,546,846 A3 2/1/2006
WPLM417 Atlanta GA 3,197,171 B . 6/17/2008
WPLM412 Austin TX 899.361 B 6/17/2008
WPLM416  Balumore MD 2,430,563 B 6/17/2008
WPLM430 Birmingham AL 1,200,336 A 6/17/2008
WPLM413 Boston "MA 4,133,895 B 6/17/2008
WPLM418  Chattanooga ) TN 510,860 A - 6/17/2008
WPLM405 Chicago IL 8,182,076 B 6/17/2008
WPLM424 Cincinnati OH 1,990,451 B 6/17/2008
WPLM422 Cleveland-Akron OH 2.894,133 B . 6/17/2008
WPLM410 Columbia SC 568,754 A 6/17/2008
WPLM438  Columbus OH 1,477.891 B 6/17/2008
WPON926  Denver co 2,073,952 Al(part) 6/17/2008
WPLM408  Detront MI 4,705,164 B 6/17/2008

© WPLM298 Hartford CT 1,123,678 B 6/17/2008
WPLM411 Hickory-Lenoir-Morganton NC 292,409 A 6/17/2008
WPLMA43] Huntsville AL 439,832 A 6/17/2008
WPLM435 Indianapohs IN 1,321,911 B 6/17/2008
WPLM436 Kansas City MO 1,839,569 B 6/17/2008
WPLM434 Klamath Falls OR 74,566 B 6/17/2008
WPLM420 Lakeland-Winterhaven FL 405,382 B 6/17/2008



License B 39 GHz License

Number City State  Population A Band Band Chanls Renewal
WPLM429 Lexington KY 816,101 A 6/17/2008
WPLM401 Los Angeles* CA 14.549.810 A 6/17/2008
WPLM428 Lowsville KY 1.352.955 A 6/17/2008
WPLM423 Mansfield OH 221,514 B 6/17/2008
WPLM433 Medford-Grants Pass OR 209.038 B 6/17/2008
WPOHY70 Milwaukee W] 1.751.525 A 6/17/2008
WPLM419 Minneapolis-St  Paul MN 2,840,561 A 6/17/2008
WPOH945  New Haven-Wauatcerbury-Menden CT 978.311 B 6/17/2008
WPLM400 New London-Norwich CT 337,482 B 6/17/2008
WPLM397 New York (whole BTA) NY 18%,050.615 B 6/17/2008
WPLM421 Ocala L 194.833 B 6/17/2008
WPLM432 Portland OR 1,690,930 A 6/17/2008
WPOH956 Providence-Pawtucket. New Bedford-TFall River RI.MA 1,509,789 A 6/17/2008
WPLM437 Rochester NY 1,118,963 B 6/17/2008
WPLM407  Sacramento CA 1,656,581 A 6/17/2008
WPLM402  San Dicgo CA 2,498,016 B 6/17/2008
WPLM406 San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose CA 6.420,984 B . 6/17/2008
WPLM404  San Luis Obispo CA 217,162 A 6/17/2008
WPLM403 Santa Barbara-Santa Mana CA 369,608 A 6/17/2008
WPLMA427 Scattle-Tacoma WA 2,708,949 A 6/17/2008
WPLM425 St Lous MO 2,742,114 B 6/17/2008
WPLM409 Toledo OH 782,184 B 6/17/2008
WPLM415 Washington DC 4,118.628 B 6/17/2008
WPOH677  Albuquerque NM 688.612 A 9/1/2008
WPOH679 El Paso TX 649,860 A 9/1/2008
WPOH676  Tucson AZ 666,880 A 9/1/2008
WPOH683 Lawton-Duncan OK 177,830 A 9/1/2008
WPOHG682 Oklahoma Cuy OK 1,305,472 A 9/1/2008
WPOH684 Omaha NE 905.991 A 9/1/2008
WPOH676  Tulsa OK 836,559 A 9/1/2008
WPHOHY44  Albany-Schenectady NY 1,028,615 A 10/6/2008
WPOH963 Atlanta GA 3,197,171 A 10/6/2008
WPOH954 Austin TX 899.361 A 10/6/2008
WPOH962 Baltimore MD 2,430,563 A 10/6/2008
WPOH95S Boston MA 4,133,895 A 10/6/2008
WPOH955 Buffalo-Niagara Falls NY 1 231,795 A 10/6/2008
WPOH950 Charlotte-Gastoma NC 1.671,037 A 10/6/2008
WPOH948 Chicago IL 8,182.076 A 10/6/2008
WPOH953 Dallas X 4.329.924 A 10/6/2008
WPOH975 Des Moines 1A 728,830 A 10/6/2008
WPOH949 Detront MI 4,705,164 A 10/6/2008
WPOH952  Greenville-Sparianburg NC 788.212 A 10/6/2008
WPOH943 Hartford CT 1,123,678 A 10/6/2008
WPOH966 Houston TX 4,054,253 A 10/6/2008
WPOH974 Indianapolis IN 1.321,911 A 10/6/2008
WPOH979 Jacksonville FL 1,114,847 A 10/6/2008
WPOHY%81 Knoxville TN 948,055 A 10/6/2008
WPOH947 Los Angeles CA 14,549,810 B 10/6/2008
WPOH959 Manchester-Nashua-Concord NH 540,704 A 10/6/2008
WPOH973 Memphus TN 1,396.390 A 10/6/2008
WPOH967 Miami-Ft Lauderdale FL 3,270,606 A 10/6/2008
WPLM426 Milwaukee WI 1,751,525 B 10/6/2008
WPOH9%64 Minncapolis-St Paul MN 2,840,561 B 10/6/2008
WPOH980 Nashville TN 1,429.309 A 10/6/2008



License

Number
WPLM399
WPOH%42

WPOH%60
WPOH971
WPLM414
WPOH951
WPOHY72
WPOH978
WPOH976
WPOH958
WPOH%69
WPOH946
WPOH965
WPOHY961
WPOHY68
WPOH957

WPQT938
WPQT942
WPQTY46
WPQT939
WPQT944
WPQTY47
WPQT940
WPQTY45
WPQTY41
WPQT943
Legend

A

Al

A3

B

39 GHz B
39 GHz E
IYGHz G
39 GHz F
39 GHz N
39 GH:zD

City

New Haven-Waterbury-Menden

New York (uncncumbered by PMSA) Philadelphia,

Wilmington (DE). Trenton
(NJ)

Pittsburgh Providence-Pawtucket, New Bedford-Fall

River

Raleigh-Durham
Richmond-Petersburg

Rochester

San Antonio
Springficid-Holvoke

St. Louis

Syracuse

Tampa-St. Petersburg-Clearwater
Washington

West Palm Beach-Boca Raton
Worcester-Fitchburg-Leominster

Denver-Boulder-Greeley
Las Vegas

Las Vegas

San Diego

San Diego

San Dicgo

San Francisco

San Francisco

Toledo

Toledo

27.500 to 28,350 MHz, 29,100 10 29.250 GHz, 31.075 to 31,225 GHz 1.130 MHz

27,500 to 28,350 MHz 850 MHz
31,075 10 31.225 GHz 150 MHz

State

CT
NY

PA
PA
RI.MA
NC
VA
NY
TX
MaA
MO
NY
FL
DC
FL
MA

co
NV
NV
CA
CA
CA
CA
CA
OH
OH

31,000 to 31,075 MHz, 31 225 to 31.300 MHz 150 MHz

38.650 1o 38,700 MHz, 39,350 to 39.400
38,800 to 38.850 MHz, 39,500 to 39,550
38,900 to 38.950 MHz. 39.600 to 39,650
38,850 to 38,900 MHz, 39.550 to 39,600
39,250 to 39.300 MHz, 39,950 to 40.000
38,750 to 38.800 MHz. 39,450 to 39.500

100 MHz
100 MHz
100 MHz
100 MHz
100 MHz
100 MHz

B 39 GHz License

Population A Band Band Chanls Renewal
978,311 A 10/6/2008
9.503.769 A 10/6/2008
5899.345 A 10/6/2008
2,507,839 A 10/6/2008
1,509,789 B 10/6/2008
1.089,423 A 10/6/2008
1,090,869 A 10/6/2008
1,118.963 A 10/6/2008
1,530,954 A 10/6/2008
672,970 A 10/6/2008
2,742,114 A 10/6/2008
791,140 A 10/6/2008
2,249,405 A 10/6/2008
4,118.628 A 10/6/2008
893.145 A 10/6/2008
709.705 A 10/6/2008
2,073.952 B 10/18/2010
§57,856 E 10/18/2010
857,856 G t0/18/2010
2,498.016 B 10/18/2010
2.498,016 F 10/18/2010
2,498,016 N 10/18/2010
6.420.984 D 10/18/2010
6,420,984 F 10/18/2010
782,184 E 10/18/2010
782,184 F 10/18/2010

The higher the frequency, the higher the attenuation (loss). For the same amount of transmission power. a lower

frequency signal will propagate farther

The spectrum under the licenses we hold 1s not suitable for mobile telephones, but can transmit voice,
data or video signals from one fixed antenna to one or many others. As the word “local” in the local
multipoint distribution service name implies, the radio links provided using LMDS frequencies are of
limited distance, typically five miles or less, due to the degradation of these high-frequency signals over
greater distances. This also is true of the 39 GHz spectrum.

A wireless connection typically consists of paired antennas placed at a distance of up to 5 miles from
one another with a direct, unobstructed line of sight. The antennas are typically installed on rooftops,
towers or windows. This technology works by connecting the end user through fixed wireless access to
points of presence on our metro fiber network, thus eliminating the need for the RBOC's last mile of
infrastructure. This third generation fixed wireless broadband access, in conjunction with our intercity and
metro fiber network, allows us to offer a wide range of metro, national and global connectivity solutions.

17



There are additional holders 1n some of the cities where we hold licenses. There are also competitors
who are licensed broadband fixed wireless operators in the 39 GHz spectrum bands. Examples include
First Avenue Networks and AT&T Business Services. There are existing users of the 39 GHz spectrum
that may require XO as a new user of the spectrum to coordinate its use to avoid interference with an
existing user. We do not believe that the coordination process will significantly limit our ability to make
use of the spectrum.

The term of the licenses for our broadband wireless spectrum generally is ten years Although the
licenses are renewable for an additional ten year term, renewal is conditioned on our ability to satisfy
utilization requirements established by the FCC. During 2003 we had successful trials in our San Diego
and Irvine, California markets and deployed services at approximately 20 customers. We continue to
evaluate recent improvements in the price and performance of fixed wireless equipment. and have plans to
meet the FCC’s “substantia] service™ test before the licenses are due for renewal proceedings. In the event
that we do not meet the FCC’s substantia) service test at the end of the license expiration date, we may
request an extension of time or waiver of license forfeiture from the FCC.

Sales, Network Services and Customer Care

Sales Ovenview

Our sales organization includes a direct field sales force and indirect sales channels. Our direct sales
force includes two sales organizations, one that addresses the needs of commercial customers and one that
services carrier accounts. Our commercial sales organization focuses on all retail customers, growing
businesses within a market, developing multi-market accounts and targeting national accounts. Our carrier
sales organization focuses solely on servicing telecommunications providers who, in combination with other
capabilities, provide telecommunications services under their own brand.

Our markel research indicates that commercial customers prefer a single source for all of their
telecommunications requirements, including products, billing, installation, maintenance. and customer
service. By offering these customers our local, long distance or data services individually or through our
XOptions packages, which combine local and long distance voice services. Internet access and web hosting
services, we believe we provide our customers a level of convenience that generally is unavailable in the
telecommunications marketplace.

We market and sell our products to other telecommunications providers through our carrier services
organization. These customers benefit from our national network, our data service capabilities, our broad
range of services and our cost effective solution design.

Direct Sales Force

We have established a highly motivated and experienced direct sales forces. Our strategy 1s to design
the structure of our sales efforts so that our sales personnel are able to develop a direct and personal
relationship with our customers. We seek to recruit salespeople with strong sales and telecommunications
backgrounds, including salespeople from long distance companies, telecommunications equipment
manufacturers, network systems integrators and the JLECs. Our salespeople are offered incentives through
a commission structure that generally targets 40% to 50% of a salesperson’s 1otal compensation to be based
on performance. Our direct sales and sales support organization consisted of approximately 1,700
emplovees at December 31, 2003, up from approximately 1,100 employees at December 31, 2002. As part
of the performance review process and to reduce expenses. the sales organization declined to approximately
1.200 in March 2004. We will continue to evaluate sales performance and revenue growth in the most cost
effective manner.

Indirect Sales Channels

We have complemented our direct sales force by developing an indirect sales channels to distribute
the increasing number of products and services available to our customer base. These channels include
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numerous third party sales agents. We currently have distribution arrangements with a number of national,
regional and local agents and agency firms. whose representatives market a broad range of XO services. As
of December 31, 2003, we had stafl’ of approximately 60 employees who manage our agent relationships
and more than 700 indirect sales agents in markets throughout the United States. During the fourth
quarter of 2003, approximately 20% of new sales were generated by indirect agents.

Network Services

Our network services organization consists of 2,100 employees whose main objective is to deliver
superior service and 1o enhance the customers’ experience. Network service employees are located in all of
our markets. Their main objectives include the design, deployment, maintenance and when necessary,

_ repair of our network assets. In addition, they are responsible for installing customer premise equipment
and activating new customers as well as maintaining and when necessary, repairing any service outages our
customers might experience. We maintain a very competitive median repair time.

Customer Care

Once a customer’s services have been installed, our customer care operations support customer
retention and satisfaction. Our goal is to provide customers with a customer care group that has the ability
and resources to respond to and resolve customer questions and issues as they arise. In 2003, although we
conducted much of our customer care operations from three call centers, we also provided locally-based
care for many large customers. Because we believe that a more centralized care structure not only takes
advantage of economies of scale, but also enables us 1o provide better customer service, we closed one of
our care facilities in 2003. The size of our customer care organization has remained constant from
December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2003, with approximately 700 employees.

Regulatory Overview
Overview

The Telecommunications Act of 1996, or the “Telecom Act”, which substantially revised the
Communications Act of 1934, established the regulatory framework for the introduction of competition for
local telecommunications services throughout the United States by new competitive independent entrants
such as us. Prior 1o the passage of the Telecom Act, states typically granted an exclusive franchise 1n each
locul service area to a single dominant carrier — often a former subsidiary of AT&T known as an
RBOC — which owned the entire local exchange network and operated a virtual monopoly in the provision
of most local exchange services in most locations in the United States. The RBOC:s, following some recent
consolidation, now consist of the following companies: BellSouth, Verizon, Qwest Communications and
SBC Communications.

Among other things, the Telecom Act preempts state and local governments from prohibiting any
entity from providing telecommunications service, which has the effect of eliminating prohibitions on entry
that existed in almost half of the states at the time the Telecom Act was enacted. At the same time, the
Telecom Act preserved state and local jurisdiction over many aspects of local telephone service and, as a
result, we are subject 1o varying degrees of federal, state and local regulation. Consequently, federal. state,
and local regulation, and other legislative and judicial actions relating to the telecommunications industry
could significantly affect our business.

We believe that the Telecom Act provided the opportunity to accelerate the development of
competition at the local level by, among other things, requiring the incumbent carriers to cooperate with
competitors’ entry into the local exchange market. We have developed our business and designed and
constructed our networks to take advantage of the features of the Telecom Act that require cooperation
from the incumbent carriers, and believe that the continued viability of the pro-competitive statutory
provisions is critical to the success of the competitive framework contemplated by the Telecom -Act.

19



Although the Telecom Act and the related rules governing competition issued by the FCC, as well as
pro-competitive policies already developed by state regulatory commissions, have enabled new entrants like
us to capture a portion of the incumbent carriers’ market share of local services, there have been numerous
attempts to limit or eliminate the basic framework for competition in the local exchange services market
through a combination of federal legislation, adoption of new rules by the FCC, and RBOC challenges to
existing and proposed regulations. We expect these efforts to limit the benefits of the Telecom Act to
continue. Successful implementation of our business plan is predicated on the assumption that the basic
competitive framework will remain in place.

Federal Regulation

The FCC exercises jurisdiction over our telecommunications facilities and services. We have authority
from the FCC for the installation, acquisition and operation of our wireline network facilities to provide
facilities-based domestic interstate and international services. In addition, we have obtained FCC
authorizations for the operation of our LMDS and 39 GHz broadband wireless facilities. Unlike incumbent
carriers. we are nol currently subject to price cap or rate of return regulation, which leaves us free to set
our own pricing policies for end user services subject only to the general federal guidelines that our charges
for interstate and international services be just, reasonable, and non-discriminatory. The FCC allows us to -
file intersiate tariffs for interstate access services (rates charged by carriers for access to their networks).
The FCC, however, required that, with only minor exception, we withdraw our tariffs for interstate
domestic long distance services and international long distance services. We, however, are still required to
make the terms, conditions and rates of the detariffed services available to the public on our Company web
page, and such terms, conditions, and rates are located at http://www.xo.com/legal/.

The following is a summary of the interconnection and other rights granted by the Telecom Act that
are important for effective local service competition and our belief as to the effect of the requirements, if
properly implemented:

 Interconnection with the networks of incumbents and other carriers, which permits our customers to
exchange traffic with customers connected to other networks;

» Local loop and transport unbundling, which allows us to selectively gain access to incumbent
carriers’ facilities and wires that connect the incumbent carriers’ central offices and/or customer
premises, thereby enabling us to serve customers not directly connected to our networks;

» Reciprocal compensation, which mandates arrangements for local traffic exchange between us and
both incumbent and competitive carriers and compensation for terminating local traffic originating
on other carriers’ networks, thereby improving our margins for local service;

» Number portability, which allows customers to change local carriers without changing telephone
numbers, thereby removing a significant barrier for a potential customer to switch to our local voice
services, ’

* Access to phone numbers, which mandates assignment of new telephone numbers to our customers,
thereby enabling us to provide telephone numbers to new customers on the same basis as
incumbent carriers; and

» Collocation of telecommunications equipment in incumbent carrier central offices, which enables us
to have direct access to unbundled loops and other network elements and facilitates for efficient
integration with our switching and other network facilities.

In January 1999, the U.S. Supreme Court, in a decision that was generally favorable to competitive
telephone companies such as us, upheld key provisions of the FCC rules implementing the Telecom Act.
In finding that the FCC has general jurisdiction to implement the Telecom Act’s local competition
provisions, the Court confirmed the FCC’s role in establishing national telecommunications policy, and
thereby created greater certainty regarding the rules governing local service competition on a going forward
basis.
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Although the rights established in the Telecom Act are a necessary prerequisite to the introduction of
full local competition, they must be properly implemented and enforced to permit competitive telephone
companies like us to compete effectively with the incumbent carriers. Discussed below are several FCC
and court proceedings relating to the applieation of certain FCC rules and policies that are significant to
and directly impact our operations as well as the nature and scope of industry competition.

Unbundling of Incumbent Network Elements

In the January 1999 Supreme Court decision discussed above, the Court affirmed the FCC’s
interpretation of matters related to unbundling of incumbent carrers’ network elements. It held that the
FCC correctly interpreted the meaning of the term “network element”, which defines the parts of an
incumbent carrier's operations that may be subject to the “unbundling” requirement of the Telecom Act.
The Court, however, also held that the FCC did not correctly determine which network elements must be
unbundled and made available to competitive telephone companies such as us. In November 1999, the
FCC released its “UNE (unbundled network element) Remand Order”, which addressed the deficiencies
in the FCC's original ruling cited by the Court. The order generally was viewed as favorable to us and
other competitive carriers because 1t ensured that incumbent carriers would be required to continue 1o
make available those network elements, including unbundled loops, that are crucial to our ability to
provide local and other services. The UNE Remand Order subsequently was appealed by the incumbent
carriers.

On May 24, 2002, the United States Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit released an opinion
remanding the UNE Remand Order to the FCC for further consideration.

In response to the Court of Appeals’ decision, and as part of its statutorily required periodic review of
its list of unbundled elements, the FCC initiated 1ts “Triennial Review” proceeding.

On August 21, 2003, the FCC released its Triennial Review Order (“TRO’). Under the TRO, our
ability to obtain access to certain unbundled network elements and incumbent network upgrades may be
curtailed or more costly in the future. Interconnection agreements that we have in place with the ILECs
need to be amended to incorporate many of the TRO changes. We have started the negotiation process to
complete these interconnection agreement amendments and anticipate that the agreements will be finalized
during the second quarter of 2004. At this time, we cannot predict the full effect of the implementation of
the TRO. Also, the TRO has delegated 1o the states the overall responsibility for deciding whether certain
unbundled elements should remain available to competitors like us in local markets of each of the
respective states. Delegation of these determinations creates the risk that some states may decide to limit
or eliminate certain unbundled elements to which we have access today and that we will be faced with
different sets of rules and costs if states issue inconsistent decisions.

The following Triennial Review Order matters directly impact us and many of our competitors:

+ Curtailed Access to Broadband: The TRO adopted new rules that, for certain very small customers,
restrict competitive carners from leasing as unbundled elements certain upgrades that the
incumbent carriers make to their networks, such as the deployment of new optical fiber or upgrades
from copper to optical fiber. For example, a new fiber loop to a very small customer that replaces
an existing copper loop could be exempt from unbundling, except that incumbents must continue to
unbundle the pre-existing copper loop or provide a voice channel for us on the new fiber loops that
is equivalent to the old copper loop. Although the imposition of any restrictions on our access to
the incumbents’ broadband networks is not a favorable development for us, we believe that the
adverse impact 1s partially mitigated by the fact that incumbents are required to continue to provide
us with basic access to those facilities that we currently lease from them to serve many of our
customers.

« Unbundled Local Loops: The Order made a general, national finding that, with the exception of
optical carrier (“OC”) level loops, competitive carriers should have access to unbundled loops of
the incumbent carners. The states, however, may remove competitive carriers’ access to certain
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non-OC level high capacity and unlit capacity loops based on the results of specified competitive
analyses. Incumbent carriers will no longer be required to provide competitive carriers with access
to OC level loops. We believe that the net result of these changes will not have a significant impact
on us because the access to the vast majority of unbundled loops that we use today will be
preserved.

» Unbundled Dedicated Transport: The TRO has changed the definition of “dedicated transport” in
such a way that competitive carriers have to purchase certain transport facilities at higher rates.
The TRO maintained unbundled access to many types of transport between incumbent facilities,
such as transport between incumbent central offices, but it redefines dedicated transport to
eliminate the unbundling of other transport. The TRO also sets forth a test that the states must
follow in considering whether certain non-OC level high capacity transport should be available in
local markets within the states. The FCC also ruled that OC level transport would no longer be
available as an unbundled element and that shared transport would be unavailable as an unbundled
element in most business markets. We believe that it is Iikely that this determination will raise our
costs for transport services in the future.

» Enhanced Extended Links and Co-Mingling: The TRO enhance the ability of competitive carriers
like us to obtain a combination of unbundled loop and transport elements known as “enhanced
exlended links™, provided that the underlying loop and transport elements are individually available
on an unbundled basis. The FCC created new rules that permit competitive carriers to mix services
that they lease from the incumbent carriers. We will now be able to mix incumbent carrier
unbundled network elements with services purchased from the wholesale tariff (e.g., switched and
special access services) instead of being required to artificially segregate unbundled network
elements from such wholesale services. Because we currently lease both wholesale services and
unbundled network elements from the incumbent carriers, we believe that these developments will
result in cost savings for us.

s Calculation of Unbundled Element Rates. The TRO will allow incumbent carriers to utilize a
higher cost of capital and shorter depreciation lives to establish rates for unbundled elements. We
believe that these modifications could raise our costs for leasing unbundled network elements in the
future.

Although the rules adopted by the FCC in the Triennial Review Order became effective on
October 2, 2003, many of the requirements imposed by the FCC 1n the TRO were not self-executing
Accordingly, the FCC made clear that carriers must follow the change of law procedures in their
applicable interconnection agreements to implement any TRO requirements that are not self-executing and
that carriers must follow the procedures et forth in section 252(b) of the Telecom Act to modify
interconnection agreements that are silent as to implementation of changes in law.

Several carriers and other cntities appealed the FCC’s TRO decision. On March 2, 2004, the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit in Washington, D.C. issued its opinion 1n United States Telecom
Associations v. FCC, No. 00-1012 (“USTA Decision™). In the USTA Decision, the court reversed and
vacated many of the conclusions of the TRO. Specifically, the court found that the FCC improperly
delegated to the states the overall responsibility for deciding whether certain unbundled elements should
remain available to competitive carriers in each of the respective states. The FCC's determination in the
TRO that competitive carriers should have access to switching platform services as a UNE (“UNE-P”)
was vacated by the court. The court also vacated the portions of the TRO which held that competitive
carricrs should have access to all forms of non-OC level unbundled dedicated transport.

XO does not rely on TLEC facilities to switch the majority of 1ts customers’ traffic and, therefore, will
not be affected by the court’s decision pertaining to UNE-P service, nor its likely impact on UNE-P
providers if this decision is not reversed or stayed. Additionally, with the pending acquisition of Allegiance
and its hundreds of collocation sites, we believe XO will lease less unbundled dedicated transport facilities
from the TLECs. We expect these factors 1o mitigate the effects of any potential increases in the costs of
leasing transport capacity.
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The USTA Decision is stayed until May |, 2004. Parties will seek review of the USTA Decision at
the Supreme Court and will also seek a further stay of the decision. If the USTA Decision does go into
effect and reverses and vacates large portions of the TRO, our ability to obtain access to certain unbundled
network elements and incumbent network upgrades may be curtailed or more costly in the future In
addition, many incumbent carriers will continue to seek to institute follow-on administrative proceedings
with the FCC and state regulatory agencies, and lobby the United States Congress, all in an effort to
affect laws and regulations in a manner even more favorable to them and against the interests of
competitive carriers. At the same time, we anticipate that competitive carriers will endeavor to improve
their positions and access to the incumbents’ networks through similar means. The final outcome of the
appellate review and implementation process remains unknown at this time but it is possible that further
changes to the rules could adversely affect our cost of doing business by increasing the cost of purchasing
or leasing network facilities from the incumbent carriers.

Collocation in Incumbent Central Offices

Collocation regulations promulgated by the FCC specify in greater detail obligations that the Telecom
Act imposes upon the incumbent carriers to open their local networks to competition by providing
competitors space to locate their equipment in incumbent central offices and remote terminals for the
purpose of interconnection. This allows the competitive carriers to provide local telephone services and to
use portions of the incumbent carriers’ existing networks to offer new and innovative services. Over the
past four vears, the FCC’s collocation regulations have been the subject of very contentious proceedings at
the FCC and litigation before several courts. On remand from a March 2000 decision by the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the D C. Circuit, the FCC issued a decision that revised its rules in a manner that permits
incumbent companies to exercise more discretion in determining the placement of competitors’ equipment
in their central offices, and does not require the incumbents to allow competitors to install and maintain
cross-connections between other collocated competitors, but requires the incumbent carriers to provide this
as part of their collocation services. In June, 2002, the US Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit
affirmed the FCC’s Remand Order, and the FCC has since clanfied that incumbent carriers should make
their cross-connection service available in the physical collocation tariffs they file with the FCC.

In October 2002, Verizon filed an application with the FCC requesting authority to discontinue
providing new orders for federally-tariffed physical collocation services. Verizon asked the FCC to require
its competitors instead 10 order collocation services going forward solely pursuant to terms and conditions
approved by state public service commussions. Verizon's application was granted on October 22, 2003. This
discontinuance will potentially make it more costly and difficult for competitors such as us to obtain new
collocation services because the rates set by state public service commissions are typically significantly
higher than those approved by the FCC, and may require competitors such as us to engage in costly and
lengthy negotiations in different states.

Regulation of the RBOCs’ Ability to Provide Long Distance Service

The FCC has primary jurisdiction over the implementation of Section 271 of the Telecom Act, which
provides that the RBOCs cannot offer in-region long distance services until they have demonstrated that:

+ they have entered into an approved interconnection agreement with a facilities-based competitive
telephone company or that no such competitive telephone company has requested interconnection
as of a statutonly determined deadline;

+ they have satisfied a 14-element checklist designed 1o ensure that the RBOC is offering access and
interconnection to all local exchange carriers on competitive terms; and

+ the FCC has determined that allowing the RBOC to offer in-region, long distance services is
consistent with the public interest, convenience and neccessity.

As of December 15, 2003, the FCC has granted all of the RBOCs the authority to provide long
distance service in every state in which they operate. All of the RBOCs now have the authority to bundle
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in-region long distance services with in-region local services. RBOC authorization to provide in-region long
distance services could have an adverse effect on our ability to compete if effective post-approval
safeguards are not enforced to ensure that the RBOCs continue to comply with the market-opening
requirements.

Provision of Broadband Telecommunications Services and Information Services

Current federal and state regulation places certain restrictions and conditions on the provision of
advanced telecommunications services, or broadband services, such as data and DSL services, by the
RBOCs. Furthermore, the network elements that RBOCs must make available under the FCC’s
unbundling rules to competitors may be used for the provision of broadband services However, at the
urging of the RBOCs and other incumbent carriers, the FCC, in the TRO, appears to have greatly
curlailed the extent to which the incumbents must unbundle the broadband portion of their networks for
their competitors. The RBOCs continue to push for further deregulation through federal and state
legislative efforts. In addition, it is anticipated that deregulatory legislation will be pursued by the RBOCs
in Congress. In addition to possible legislation, the FCC has initiated another pending proceeding that
could relax incumbent carriers’ obligation to make unbundled network elements that are used for certamn
broadband or information services available to us. The FCC has issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking
entitled “Appropriate Framework for Broadband Access 1o the Internet Over Wireline Facilitics” that
requests comments on the proper classification of broadband access services as either regulated
telecommunications services or unregulated information services. The TRO decision, in conjunction with a
decision in this proceeding, a legislative change or a court ruling further broadening the definition of what
constitutes unregulated information services could have the effect of allowing RBOCs to provide terms,
conditions and pricing to their own affihates that provide data or information services that are better than
those made available to competitive carriers such as us. Such developments could also be expected to
adversely affect our cost of doing business by increasing the cost of purchasing or leasing such facilities
from the RBOCs.

Universal Service

In 1997, the FCC established a significantly expanded federal telecommunications subsidy regime
known as “‘universal service”. Specifically, the FCC established new subsidies for services provided to
qualifying schools and libraries and rural health care providers, and expanded existing subsidies to low
income consumers. Most telecommunications companies, including us, must pay for these programs based
on their share of interstate and international telecommunications end user revenues. On December 4, 2003,
the Wireline Competition Bureau released a public notice announcing that the proposed universal service
contribution factor for the first quarter of 2004 is 8.7 percent compared to 9.5 percent for the third quarter
of 2003 and 9.2 percent for the fourth quarter of 2003. The FCC has taken further steps to modify the
system for assessment and recovery of universal service funds. In a December 2002 Notice of Proposed
Rulemaking, the FCC asked many broad-ranging questions regarding universal service, including whether
to change its method of assessing contributions due from carriers by basing 1t on the number and capacity
of connections they provide, rather than on interstate and international end user revenues they earn At
this time, we are unable to predict whether the FCC’s rulemaking or legislative initiatives will increase the
size of our subsidy payments, the scope of the subsidy program, or our costs of calculating, collecting and
remitting the universal service related payments.

Intercarrier Compensation Reform

Currently, telecommunications carriers are required to pay other carriers for interstate access charges
and local reciprocal compensation charges. These two forms of Intercarricr compensation have been under
review by the FCC since 2001. The FCC continues to consider a broad order reforming the Intercarrier
compensation system and the following specific proceedings also impact Intercarrier compensation issues
for us.
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Access Charges. Long distance carriers pay Jocal facilities-based carriers, including us, interstate
access charges for both originating and terminating the interstate calls of long distance customers on the
local carriers’ networks. Historically, the incumbent carriers set access charges higher than cost and
justified this pricing to regulators as a subsidy to the cost of providing local telephone service to higher
cost customers. With the establishment of an explicit and competitively neutral universal service subsidy
mechanism, however, the FCC is under increasing pressure to revise the current access charge regime to
bring the charges closer to the actual cost of providing access. In response, the FCC issued a decision in
2001 setting interstate rates that competitive local carriers charge to long distance carriers at a level that
will gradually decrease over three years from a maximum of $0.025 per minute to the rates charged by
incumbent carriers. As long as we are in compliance with the FCC’s rate schedule, the FCC’s order
forbids long distance carriers from challenging our interstate access rates. Although this FCC decision
lowering access charges will reduce our access charge revenues over time, we do not expect that such a
reduction will have a material impact on our total revenues or financial position. In 2001, the FCC also
issued a declaratory ruling that commercial mobile radio service (“CMRS”) providers are not permitted to
collect switched access charges from long distance carriers absent a contract between the parties that
imposes a payment obligation on the long distance carrier. In November 2003, the United States Court of
Appeals for the District of Columbia denied petitions for review of the FCC’s declaratory ruling on CMRS
access charges. Sprint PCS and AT&T arc currently litigating in federal district court in Missouri the issue
of whether, in the absence of a written contract, Sprint PCS can charge AT&T for switched access
services. We are unable to determine how the court will ultimately rule; however, if Sprint PCS prevails in
this lawsuit against AT&T, 1t may encourage CMRS providers to attempt to collect switched access
charges from us even in the absence of a written contract.

AT&T Declaratory Ruling Re: VolP. AT&T has petitioned the FCC to find that voice over Internet
protocol (“VolIP") services, including phone to phone services, are exempt from switched access charges.
This proceeding has broad implications for the future of IP-based services because a ruling in favor of the
AT&T petition will create incentives to deploy VoIP technology for the origination and termination of long
distance and other calls A ruling against the AT&T petition could place VoIP services in the same
regulatory category as traditional telecommunications services and, therefore, subject VolP services to
access charges and other regulatory obligations including Universal Service fees. Like a growing number of
carriers, we utilize Internet protocol technology for the transmission of a portion of our network traffic.
The FCC has indicated on several occasions that such services are exempt from interstate access charges
but, until the FCC 1ssues its ruling in the current proceeding, it is unclear how such traffic will be treated
for intercarrier compensation purposes. Additionally, several state commissions are in the process of
addressing whether to regulate VoIP services, and this development could result in the emergence of
mconsistent rules for intrastate VolP services. .

Vonage Petition. On September 22, 2003, Vonage Holdings, Inc. (“Vonage”) filed a petition
requesting that the FCC preempt an order of the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission (“PUC”™)
requiring Vonage to comply with state laws governing providers of telephone service. The Minnesota PUC
decision has been overturned by a Minnesota state court and now Vonage is seeking Federal preemption so
that no future rulings of the Minnesota PUC can subject Vonage to state regulation. Vonage provides
VolP origination services 1o its customers and Vonage claims that it is therefore a provider of information
services and not subject to traditional common carrier regulations. Specifically, Vonage asks that the FCC
find that certain specific E911 requirements imposed by the Minnesota PUC are 1n conflict with federal
policies. Further, Vonage states that preemption is necessary because of the impossibility of separating the
Internet, or any service offered over it, into intrastate and interstate components. Until the FCC issues its
ruling, it is unclear how VoIP offerings by XO and other companies will be regulated.

Level (3) Forbearance Petition. On December 23, 2003, Level(3) filed a petition for forbearance
requesting the FCC to forbear from application of interstate or intrastate access charges on Internet
protocol (IP) traffic that originates or terminates on the public switched telephone network (PSTN). IF
the FCC were to rule in Level(3)’s favor, we would expect that there would be reductions in network and
regulatory costs associated with the termination of certain 1P-to-PSTN and PSTN-to-IP traffic.
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Pulver.Com Ruling. On February 12, 2004, the FCC ruled that Pulver.Com’s Free World Dialup
(FWD) offering will remain a mmmimally regulated VoIP service. The Pulver.com Order made clear that
TP-10-1P calls that do not transit over any portion of the PSTN will be largely free of regulation. Almost
all of the calls carried by XO do transit some portion of the PSTN.

FCC VoIP NPRM. On February 12, 2004, the FCC initiated a major proceeding seeking public
comment on a variety of issues based on the premise that Internet services and VolP should remain
largely free of regulatory burdens. In connection with this proceeding, the FCC will address VolP-related
Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement (CALEA) issues to address the technical aspects of
enabling law-enforcement access to IP-enabled services. At this time it is unclear how, if at all, the FCC
will regulate TP-enabled service including VolP.

Local Reciprocal Compensation Charges. Local telephone companies such as us that originate
traffic that 1s terminated on the network of other carriers typically compensate the other local carriers for
terminating that traffic. These payments flow in both directions between any two carriers. First, when we
terminate traffic for another local carrier to a customer on our network, we collect compensation Second,
when we send our customers’ traffic to another carrier for termination, we pay compensation. Some
competitors, however, have a customer base that generates many more minutes of terminating traffic from
other carriers than originating traffic destined for other carners. For example, a competitor that has a
customer base that has many information service providers typically will have a large amount of
compensation being paid 1o it by other carriers, while it will owe very little reciprocal compensation to
other carriers. The FCC revamped the local reciprocal compensation structure in 2001 on an interim basis
for three years to eliminate or reduce the opportunity for carriers to take advantage of an imbalance of
originating and terminating traffic flows due to traffic terminated to information service providers. The
FCC also initiated a rulemaking to examine inter-carrier compensation more comprehensively. Under the
decision, at the election of the incumbent carrier, terminating traffic that is out-of-balance by a ratio of
more than 3 to | can be compensated at a lower rate, or 1n some cases, at no charge. This ruling allows us
1o continue 1o collect reciprocal compensation payments from other carners since we have an imbalance in
the amount of traffic we terminate versus the amount we originate. Going forward, an adverse ruling in the
general intercarrier compensation reform proceeding could end reciprocal compensation payments and
eliminate this line of revenue for us.

TELRIC Proceeding. On September 10, 2003, the FCC initiated a new proceeding to consider
significantly revamping the current Total Element Long Run Incremental Cost (“TELRIC”) methodology
used for the pricing of unbundled network elements. An adverse ruling in the new proceeding will allow
the incumbent carriers to increase unbundled network element rates and this would raise our costs for
leasing unbundled network elements in the future. A decision is expected sometime in 2004. Several State
Commissions have also initiated proceedings to review the rate levels that the incumbent carriers charge
for unbundled network elements. An adverse ruling in these procecdings would allow the incumbent
carriers to increase unbundled network element rates in the applicable state and this would raise our costs
for leasing unbundled network elements in the future.

LMDS Auction. On July 28, 2004, the FCC plans to initiate an auction of spectrum in the 24 GHz
band. The 24 GHz band consists of the bands 24.25-24.45 GHz and 25.05-25.25 GHz Five licenses, each
with two paired 40 MHz blocks, will be offered in each of 176 geographic areas. Stations in the 24 GHz
Service may render any kind of digital fixed communications service. Auction winners will be required to
protect incumbent licensees. Virtually all of the incumbent licenses are held by Teligent, Inc. in a variety
of areas throughout the country. The winning bidder for the 24 GHz service may use these stations 1o
provide services in competition with those offered by XO, although the 24 GHz bands consist of less
spectrum than that for which XO is licensed to provide LMDS service.

Nasdaq Listing

On February 4, 2004, we announced our intention to begin the process of applying for the listing of
shares of our New Common Stock on The Nasdaq National Market. Shares of our New Common Stock
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will continue to be quoted on the OTCBB until the Nasdaq application is approved. See Item 5 “Market
for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.”

If our shares become listed on the Nasdag National Market, we will be required to comply with the
Nasdaq Marketplace Rules, which, as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, contain corporate
governance requirements in addition to those contemplated by the Delaware General Corporation Law and
the Federal Securities Laws, including requirements related to:

Distribution of interim reports
Solicitation of proxies
Independent directors

Audit committees
Shareholder approval
Stockholder voting rights

Auditor peer review

Employees

As of December 31, 2003 we employed approximately 5,100 people, including full-time and part-time
employees. In March 2004, our headcount was approximately 4,500 as we managed costs out of the
business. Overall, we consider our employee relations to be good. None of our employees are covered by a
collective bargaining agreement.
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Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Operations

The failure of our operations support systems, including the systems for sales tracking, order entry and

provisioning, and billing that we are currently in the process of updating and replacing, to perform as we
expect could impair our ability to retain customers and obtain new customers, or provision their services,
or result in increased capital expenditures, which would adversely affect our revenues or capital resources.

Our operations support systems are an important factor in our operations. Critical information systems
used in daily operations perform sales and order entry, provisioning, billing and accounts receivable
functions, and cost of service verification and payment functions, particularly with respect to facilities
leased from TLECs. If any of these systems fail or do not perform as expected, such failures would impact
our abulity to process orders and provision sales, and to bill for services efficiently and accurately, which
could, in turn, cause us to suffer customer dissatisfaction, loss of business or the inability to add new
customers or additional services to existing customers in a timely basis, any of which would adversely
affect our revenues. In additional, system failure or performance issues could impact our ability to
effectively audit and dispute invoicing and provisioning data provided by service providers from whom we
lease facilities.

We believe that our Disaster Recovery framework to control and address systems risks is not fully
redundant, and we may incur the costs, delays and customer complaints associated with system failures. In
addition, our ability to efficiently and accurately provision new orders for services on a timely basis is
necessary for us to begin to generate revenue related to those services. We have experienced, and may
continue to experience, delays and related problems in processing service orders, provisioning sales and
billing in connection with the transition to these new systems. If the delays or related problems continue,
or if any unforeseen problems emerge in connection with our migration to the new provisioning software
and systems, delays and errors may occur 1n the provisioning process, which could significantly increase the
time until an order for new service can begin to generate revenue, which could have a material adverse
effect on our operations.

Our rights to the use of the unlit capacity that make up our network may be affected by the financial
health of our fiber providers.

We possess the right to use the unlit capacity that is included in our network, particularly in our
intercity network, through long-term leases or indefeasible right of use agrcements. A bankruptcy or
financial collapse of one of these fiber providers could result in a loss of our rights under such leases and
agreements with the provider, which in turn could have a negative impact on the integrity of our network,
our ability to expand the capacity of our network as our business grows, and ultimately on our results of
operations. For example, we lease or have indefeasible rights of use on networks owned and maintained by
Level 3 Communications. If Level 3 were to encounter financial difficulties, we may not be able to
maintain, or protect our rights in important components of our intercity network. In such an event, there
can be no assurance that we will be able to lease comparable strands of unlit capacity if we are not able to
retain our rights to use the existing unlit capacity we have obtained from Level 3. nor that we will be able
to lease such strands from another provider at competitive or economical rates.

We may not be able to continue to connect our network to the incumbent carrier’s network or maintain
Internet peering arrangements on favorable terms, which would impair our growth and performance.

We are required to be a party to interconnection agreements with the incumbent carrier and certain
independent carriers or ILECs in order to connect our customers to the public telephone network. If we
are unable to renegotiate or maintain interconnection agreements in all of our markets on favorable terms,
it could adversely affect our ability to provide services in the affected markets.

Peering agreements with Internet service providers allow us to access the Internet and exchange
transit with these providers. Depending on the relative size of the carriers involved, these exchanges may
be made without settlement charge. Recently, many Internet service providers that previously offered
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peering have reduced or eliminated peenng relationships or are establishing new, more restrictive criteria
for peering and an increasing number of these service providers are seeking to impose charges for transit.
Increases in costs associated with Internet and exchange transit could have a material adverse effect on
our margins for our products that require Internet access. We may not be able 1o renegotiate or maintain
peering arrangements on favorable terms, which would impair our growth and performance.

If our selection of IP technology is incorrect, ineffective or unacceptably costly, implementation of our
business strategy could be delayed, which would adversely affect our growth and operating results.

We rely on IP technology as the basis for our metro and intercity networks. Integrating this
technology into our network may prove difficult and may be subject to delays. In addition, affordable IP
customer premise equipment may not become available in a timely fashion, if at all. If the technology
choices we make prove to be incorrect, ineffective or unacceptably costly, our strategy of meeting our
customer’s demand for existing and future telecommunications services using IP technology could fail,
which would adversely affect our growth and operating results.

We may be unable to adequately protect our intellectual property or rights to licenses for use of third-
party intellectual property, and may be subject to claims that we infringe the intellectual property of
others, which could substantially harm our business.

We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, and other proprietary technology that we license
from third parties We have been issued several United States and foreign trademarks and may consider
abandoning some trademarks and/or filing for additional trademarks in the future. We have also been
issued one United States patent and may consider filing for additional patents in the future, however, we
cannot assure you that any additional patents or trademarks will issue or that our issued patent or
trademarks will be upheld in all cases. We cannot guarantec that these and other intellectual property

-protection measures will be sufficient to prevent misappropriate of our trademark or technology or that our
competitors or licensors will not independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent to or
superior to ours. In addition, the legal systems in many other countries do not protect intellectual property
rights to the same extent as the legal system of the United States. If we are unable to adequately protect
our proprietary interests and business information or our present license arrangements, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Further, the
dependence of the communications industry on proprietary technology has resulted in frequent litigation
based on allegations of the infringement of patents and other intellectual property. In the future, we may
be subject to liugation to defend against claimed infringement of the nghts of others or to determine the
scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others. Future litigation also may be necessary to enforce and
protect our trade secrets and other intellectual property rights. Any intellectual property litigation could be
costly and cause diversion of our management’s attention from the operation of our business. Adverse
determinations in any litigation could result in the loss of proprietary rights, subject us to significant
liabilities or require us to seek licenses from third parties that may be available on commercially
reasonable terms, if at all. We could also be subject to court orders preventing us from providing certain
services in connection with the delivery of our services to our customers.

Risks Related to Liquidity, Financial Resources, and Capitalization

We incurred a substantial net loss in 2003 and, in the near term, will not generate funds from operations
sufficient to meet all of our cash requirements.

For each period since inception, we have incurred substantial net losses. For 2003, we posted a net
loss attributable to common stockholders of approximately $102.6 million. In the near term, we expect to
use cash to fund our expected operating losses, and our ongoing capital expenditure requirements.



As a result of our commitment to purchase substantially all of the assets of Allegiance, we have
committed to expend a majority of the cash reflected on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2003, and,
as a result, we may be required to seek additional capital to fund our operations.

As discussed above, we have committed to purchase substantially all of the assets of Allegiance for an
aggregate purchase price that includes approximately $311.0 million 1n cash If the Allegiance asset
acquisition had been consummated immediately prior to the end of our most recently ended fiscal year, we
would have had approximately $209.6 million in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities on our
balance sheet as of December 31, 2003. We believe that, upon the consummation of the Allegiance asset
acquisition, our remaining cash and cash equivalents as of that date will be significantly less than that
figure based upon our need to fund our ongoing losses from operations. If we are required to use a
significant amount of our remaining cash to repay some or all of our outstanding debt or to fund any
unforeseen, necessary capital expenditures, we may lack sufficient cash to continue to fund our losses from
operations We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain additional financing. Even if we could
obtain additional financing, we cannot assure you that it would be on terms that are favorable to us. If we
cannot obtain additional financing when needed, this would have a material adverse efect on us.

The covenants in our Credit Agreement restrict our financial and operational flexibility, which could have
an adverse affect on our results of operations.

Our Credit Agreement contains covenants that restrict, among other things, the amount of our capital
expenditures, our ability to borrow money, grant additional liens on our assets, make particular types of
investments or other restricted payments, sell assets or merge or consolidate. A company controlled by
Mr. Carl Icahn holds more than 90% of the principal amount of the loans outstanding under the Credit
Agreement. Because amendments to or waivers of covenants under the Credit Agreement generally require
the approval or consent of holders of only a majority of the outstanding principal amount under the Credit
Agreement, decisions whether to amend or waive compliance with such covenants by the holders of loans
under the Credit Agreement can be made by Mr. Icahn, whether or not the other holders agrec.

The security for the Credit Agreement consists of substantially all of the assets of XO Parent and our
subsidiaries. A default under the Credit Agreement could adversely affect our rights under other
commercial agreements.

The Credit Agreement and the existence of the loans under the Credit Agreement also could affect
our financial and operational flexibility, as follows:

+ they may impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future;
+ they may limit our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in market conditions; and

« they may cause us to be more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business.

Risks Related to the Acquisition of the Allegiance Assets
We may not successfully consummate the acquisition of the Allegiance assets.

Our acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Allegiance, although approved by the U.S.
Bankruptcy Court. remains contingent upon fulfillment of a variety of covenants contained in the definitive
documentation pursuant to which we anticipate acquiring the Allegiance assets. Such contingencies
include, without limitation, our obtaining regulatory clearances, such as Hart-Scott-Rodino clearance and
approval of the FCC and state public utility commissions. There can be no assurance that we will obtain
the governmental approvals and clearances required 1o consummate our acquisition of the Allegiance
assets. If we are not able to consummate the acquisition of the Allegiance assets, then we will not be able
to realize the improvements in our network infrastructure and resulting competitive advantages associated
with our ownership of the Allegiance assets.
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We may not realize the network and selling, operating, and administrative synergies that we estimate in
connection with the acquisition of the Allegiance assets.

While we are confident that we have correctly estimated the potential network and selling, operating,
and administrative synergies that we can realize in connection with the acquisition of the Allegiance assets,
it is possible that our estimates could prove 10 be incorrect. For example, we may discover during the
process of integrating the Allegiance assets into our network and business infrastructures that some of the
acquired assets require greater maintenance or earlier replacement than originally anticipated. In addition,
unanticipated growth in our business as a result of the acquisition of the Allegiance assets may require that
some facilities or support functions that we currently anticipate will be combined or reduced may be
necessary to retain for us to maintain our operations. The synergies that we anticipate to realize are also
dependent on our ability to combine the Allegiance assets with our own network infrastructure in a manner
that permits us to realize those synergies. If we have not estimated the potential synergies correctly, or 1f
we are not able 1o integrate the Allegiance assets into our network infrastructure effectively, we may not
realize any synergies in connection with the acquisition of the Allegiance assets, or such synergies may
take longer to realize.

Risks Related to Competition and Our Industry

Technological advances and regulatory changes are eroding traditional barriers between formerly distinct
telecommunications markets, which could increase the competition we face and put downward pressure
on prices, which could impair our results.

New technologies, such as voice-over-1P, and regulatory changes — particularly those permitting
incumbent local telephone companies to provide long distance services — are blurring the distinctions
between traditional and emerging telecommunications markets. In addition, the increasing importance of
data services has focused the attention of most telecommunications companies on this growing sector. As a
result, a competitor in any of our business arcas is potentially a competitor in our other business areas,
which could impair our prospects, put downward pressure on prices and adversely affect our operating
results.

We face competition in each of our markets principally from the incumbent carrier in that market,
but also from recent and potential market entrants, including long distance carriers seeking to enter,
reenter or expand entry into the local exchange marketplace and incumbent carriers seeking 1o enter into
the long distance market as they are granted the regulatory authority to do so. This competition places
downward pressure on prices for local and long distance telephone service and data services, which can
adversely affect our operating results. In addition, we could face competition from other companies, such
as other competitive carriers, cable television companies, microwave carriers, wireless telephone system
operators and private networks built by large end-users. We are much smaller 1n size and resources than
many of our competitors. If we are not able to compete effectively with these industry participants, our
operating results could be adversely affected.

Our company and industry are highly regulated, which restricts our ability to compete in our target
markets and imposes substantial compliance costs on us that adversely impact our results.

We are subject to varying degrees of regulation from federal, state and local authorities. This
rcgulation 1mposes substantial compliance costs on us. It also restricts our ability to compete. For example,
in each state in which we desire to offer our services, we are required to obtain authorization from the
appropriate state commission. If any required authorization for any of our markets or services is revoked or
otherwise terminated, our ability to operate in the affected markets would be adversely affected.

Attempts to limit the basic competitive framework of the Telecom Act could interfere with the successful
implementation of our business plan.

Successful implementation of our business plan is predicated on the assumption that the basic
framework for competition in the local exchange services market established by the Telecom Act will
remain in place. We expect that there will be attempts to limit or eliminate this basic framework through
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a combination of federal legislation, new rulemaking by the FCC and challenges to existing and proposed
regulations by the RBOCs. It is not possible to predict the nature of any such action or its impact on our
business and operations.

Risks Related to Our New Common Stock
An entity owned and controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn is our majority stockholder,

An entity owned and controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn, Chairman of our board of directors, has filed a
Form 13D with the Securities and Exchange Commission indicating that it owns over 60% of our
outstanding New Common Stock as of January 31, 2004. As a result, Mr. Icahn has the power to elect all
of our directors. Under applicable law and our certificate of incorporation and by-laws, certain actions
cannot be taken without the approval of holders of a majority of our voting stock including, without
himitation, mergers and the sale of substantially all of our assets and amendments to our certificate of
incorporation and by-laws. We anticipate that Mr. Icahn will continue to control a majority of our
outstanding capital stock following ihe issuance of XO Parent shares in connection with our acquisition of
Allegiance assets and consequently will continue to have these governance rights.

Future sales of our New Common Stock could adversely affect its price and/or our ability to raise
capital.

Future sales of substantial amounts of New Common Stock, or the perception that such sales could
occur, could adversely affect the prevailing market price of the New Common Stock and our ability to
raise capital.

As of February 20, 2004, there were 136,510,535 shares of New Common Stock outstanding. The
shares of New Common Stock owned by an entity owned and controlled by Mr. Icahn, are restricted
shares that may be sold only under a registration statement or an exemption from federal securities
registration requirements. Mr Icahn, through various entities that he owns or controls, has the right to
require XO to register, under the Securities Act of 1933, shares of New Common Stock held by such
entities and to include shares of New Common Stock held by them 1n certain registration statements filed
by XO, pursuant to a Registration Rights Agreement approved by the Bankruptcy Court in connection
with the Company’s Chapter 11 proceedings. :

Pursuant to our Plan of Reorganization, we have 1ssued three series of warrants to purchase up to an
aggregate of approximately 9.5 million, 7.1 million and 7.1 muillion additional shares of New Common
Stock, at exercise prices of $6.25, $7.50 and $10.00 per share, respectively The warrants will expire on
January 16, 2010.

We have options outstanding to purchase approximately 9 5 million shares of New Common Stock
outstanding under our 2002 Stock Incentive Plan as of February 20, 2004. Unless surrendered or cancelled
earlier under the terms of the stock incentive plan, those options will expire beginning in 2013. In addition,
our stock incentive plan authorizes future grants of options to purchase New Common Stock, or awards of
restricted New Common Stock. with respect to an additional 6.3 million shares of New Common Stock 1n
the aggregate.

Other Risks

There may be risks related to our use of Arthur Andersen as our independent auditors for the year ended
December 31, 2001 and prior periods.

Arthur Andersen, LLP, our former independent public accountants, which audited our financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2001, was found guilty on June 15, 2002 of federal
obstruction of justice charges in connection with the federal government’s investigation of Enron Corp.
Arthur Andersen ceased practicing before the SEC effective August 31. 2002. Based on our understanding
of Arthur Andersen’s financial condition, it may be unable to satisfy any claims that arise out of its
provision of auditing and other services to us, including claims that may arise out of Arthur Andersen’s
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audits of our consolidated financial statements in years prior to 2002. The SEC has said that it will
continue to accept financial statements audited or reviewed by Arthur Andersen in compliance with
applicable rules and orders issued by the SEC in March 2002 in connection therewith.

Forward-Looking Statements

Our forward-looking statements are subject to a vhriety of factors that could cause actual results to
differ significantly from current beliefs.

Some statements and information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not historical
facts, but are “forward-looking statements,” as such term 1s defined in the Private Secunties Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements can be 1dentified by the use of forward-looking
terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “plans,” “may,” “will,”” *“would,” “could,” *‘should,” or
“anticipates™ or the negative of these words or other variations of these words or other comparable words,
or by discussions of strategy that involve risks and uncertainties. Such forward-looking statements include,
but are not limited to, statements regarding:

LEINTS LA TS

» our services, including the development and deployment of data products and services based on 1P,
Ethernet and other technologies and strategies 1o expand our targeted customer base and broaden
our sales channels;

+ the operation of our network, including with respect to the development of 1P protocols;

» liquidity and financial resources, including anticipated capital expenditures, funding of capital
expenditures and anticipated levels of indebtedness, and

« trends related to and expectations regarding the results of operations in future periods, including but
not limited to those statements set forth in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of <
Financial Condition and Results of Operations below.

All such forward-looking statements are qualified by the inherent risks and uncertainties surrounding
expectations generally, and also may materially differ from our actual experience involving any one or
more of these matters and subject areas. The operation and results of our business also may be subject to
the effect of other nsks and uncertainties, in addition to the relevant qualifying factors identified in the
above “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this annual report and in the documents incorporated by
reference in this annual report, including, but not limited to:

» general economic conditions 1n the geographic areas that we are targeting for communications
services;

+ the ability to achieve and maintain market penetration and average per customer revenue levels
sufficient to provide financial viability to our business;

+ the quality and price of similar or comparable communications services offered or to be offered by
our current or future competitors; and

» future telecommunications-related legislation or regulatory actions.

Item 2. Properties

We own or lease, in our operating territories, telephone property which includes: fiber optic backbone
and distribution network facilities; point-to-point distribution capacity; central office switching equipment;
connecting lines between customers’ premises and the central offices; and customer premise equipment.
Our central office switching equipment includes electronic switches and peripheral equipment.

The fiber optic backbone and distribution network and connecting lines include aerial and
underground cable, conduit, poles and wires. These facilities are located on public streets and highways or
on privately-owned land. We have permission 10 use these lands pursuant to consent or lease, permit,
easement, or other agreements.
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We, and our subsidiaries, lease facilities for our and their administrative and sales offices, central
switching offices. network nodes and warehouse space. The various leases expire in years ranging from
2004 to 2029. Most have renewal options.

Our headquarters are located in Reston, Virginia, where we are currently leasing approximately
170,000 square feet of space. In February 2003, Dixon Properties, LLC, which is owned by Mr. Carl
Icahn, acquired ownership of the building in which our headquarters is located in a transaction that was
approved by the Bankruptcy Court in our Chapter 11 proceedings.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

XO is involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings consisting of commercial, securities,
tort. and employment matters, which arise in the ordinary course of business. In addition, disputes with
respect to general unsecured claims and two administrative claims against XO Parent in the aggregate
amount of approximately $23.0 mullion remain pending from the XO Parent Chapter 11 proceedings. In
accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” XO makes a provision for a liability when
it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated. XO believes it has adequate provisions for any such matters. XO reviews these provisions at
least quarterly and adjusts these provisions to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings,
advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. Litigation is
inherently unpredictable. However, XO believes that it has valid defenses with respect to legal matters
pending against it. Nevertheless, it is possible that cash flows or results of operations could be materially
affected in any particular period by the unfavorable resolution of one or more of these contingencies.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our New Common Stock began trading shortly after our Effective Date and is quoted on the OTCBB
under the symbol “XOCM.OB.” According to the records of our transfer agent, we had 68 stockholders of
record as of February 20, 2004. The majority of our shares that are held by non-affihates are held in
approximately 9,000 customer accounts held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders.
However, we believe that the total number of non-affiliated stockholders is less than 9,000 due to
stockholders with accounts at more than one brokerage. During 2002, our pre-petition stock traded on
Nasdaq under the symbol “XOXO.” The following table sets forth the low and high sale price of our
common stock, based on the last daily sale, in each of our last eight fiscal quarters.

2003 2002
High LLow  High Low

First Quarter . . $400 5035 $019 $0.04
Second Quarter $780 $390 $0.07 $0.02
Third Quarter . . $8.33 $560 $008 $002
Fourth Quarier . $580 $497 $015 $002

All of the 2003 over-the-counter market quotations set forth in this table reflect inter-dealer
quotations, without retail mark-up, mark-down, or commission and may not necessarily reflect actual
transactions. Our secured Credit Facility prohibits the payment of cash dividends.

Information pertaining to XO’s equity compensation plans is set forth in XO’s Proxy Statement, to be
filed within 120 days after XO’s year end of December 31, 2003, which information is incorporated herein
by reference.

34



Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Because the Plan of Reorganization was not consummated and effective until January 16, 2003, the
predecessor selected consolidated financial data below as of and for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001, 2000, and 1999 does not include the effects of the fresh start accounting provisions of SOP 90-7.
The reorganized selected consolidated financial data as of and for the year ended December 31, 2003
reflects the impact of adopting fresh start and is not comparable to that of predecessor XO. Fresh start
required that XO adjust the historical cost of its assets and liabilities to their fair values as determined by
the reorganization value of the Company. We engaged an independent appraiser to assist in the allocation
of the reorganization value to the reorganized Company’s assets and liabilities by determining the fair
market value of its property and equipment, intangible assets and certain obligations related to its facility
leases. Although the effective date of the Plan of Reorganization was January 16, 2003, due to the
immateriality of the results of operations for the period between January 1, 2003 and the effective date,
XO has accounted for the consummation of the Plan of Reorganization as if it had occurred on January I,
2003 and implemented fresh start as of that date. The accounting impact from adopting fresh start follows
immediately after the selected financial data table (dollars in thousands, except share data).

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue.

Loss from operations (b)

Net loss (c)

Net loss applicable to common shares (¢) (d)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted (e)
Statement of Cash Flow Data:

Net cash provided by (used in) opcrating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash (used 1n) provided by financing activitics
Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secunties
Property and equipment, net .
Broadband wireless licenses and other intangibles. net (¢)
Total asscts (c) . .
Total long-term debt and accrued interest payable (f)
Redeemable preferred stock, net of 1ssuance costs (d) .
Total stockholders’ cquity (deficit) (f)

Reorganized
X0

Predecessor XO

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000 (a) 1999
$1,110.483 $ 1.259,853 $ 1.258,567 $ 723,826 $ 274,324
(111.858) (1.208.898) (1,949.891) (1.011,652)  (366.330)
(102,554) (3,386,818) (2,086,125) (1,101,299)  (558.692)
(102,554) (3.350,362) (1.838.917) (1.247,655)  (627.881)
(107) (758) (455) (387) (2.51)
$ 6301 $ 17,602 § (560.877) $ (559.414) $ (349,192)
153,036 $7.582  (708,398) (1.464.495) (1.050.344)
5,185 (6.079)  1019.647  1,648.663  1948.503
$ 520,612 $ 560983 § 755167 $ 1,860,963 $ 1.881,764
485,984 2,780,589 3,742.577 2,794,105  1.180.021
109,515 984,614 2977575 3912209  1.017.817
1,265,165 4385496 7930465 9085375  4,597.108
536,791 5165718 5,109,503 4,396 596  3,733.342
— 1,708,316 1,781,990  2.097,016 612,352
380,425 (3.032.282)  297.416  1.838.401 (13.122)

(a) The sclected consolidated financial dawa includes the accounts and activities of Concentne Network Corporation since June 16. 2000, the date that

we merged with Concentric

(b) In 2002, loss from operauons included non-cash charges totaling $477 3 mullion 1n connection with the amendment to the terms of fiber acquisition
and mantenance arrangements with Level 3 Communications. and the return of previously acquired ntercity fiber 1 connection therewith In 2001,
loss from opcrations included restructunng charges towaling $509 2 milhon associated wath the restructunng of certain aspects of our business
operations Loss from operations 1n 1999 included restructunag charges totaling $30 9 mulhon associated with relocaung our Bellevue, Washington

headquaricrs to Reston, Virgima

(c) In 2003, net loss included a $33 5 milhon gan on investment sales In 2002, net loss and total asscts reflects a $1,876 6 milhon impatrment charge
to wnte-off all of our goodwill as a cumulauve effect of accounting change. pursuant 1o SFAS No 142 In 2001, net loss included a g of
$345 0 mullion resulting from the repurchase of certain of our semior notes In 2000 net loss included a $225 1 malhion net gain from the sale of an

equity mvestment

(d) The comparability of net loss applicable to common shares 1s 1mpacted by the transacuons discussed 1 ¢ above In 2001, net loss apphicable to
common shares includes a gain of $376 9 million resuluing from the repurchase of certan of our preferred stock

(e

—

The net loss per share data for the yeurs ended December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999 has been calculated based on the shares outstanding of

our class A and class B common siock prior to the consummauon of our Plan of Reorgamzation Effecuve January 16, 2003, the effective date of
the Plan of Reorgamization, all interests in our class A and class B common stock were terminated and alt outstanding shares were cancelled For
further discussion of our Plan of Reorgamzation, see “Business — Our Reorgamzation” The net loss per share data for the years ended

December 31, 2000 and 1999 has been adjusted for the sphis of our class A and class B common stock effected 1n 2000

(f

=

In January 2004, we completed 4 nghts offenng as pant of our Plan of Reorganization An aggregate of 39 7 mullion shares were 1ssued 1n the

offering. vielding net proceeds of $197 6 million These procecds were used to pay down our long-term debt and accrued interest pavable
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Fresh start accounting adjustments

A reconciliation of the adjustments recorded in connection with our reorganization and the adoption
of fresh start 1s presented below (dollars in thousands):

Predecessor XO Fresh Start Reorganized XO
December 31, 2002  Rcorganization Adjustments (d) January 1, 2003

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents S 314,038 $ — $ — $ 314,038
Marketable secunties . 246,945 — — 246,945
Accounts receivable, net N 116,541 — — 116,541
Other current assets 83,480 — (48,288) 35,192
Total current assets . 761.004 — (48,288) 712,716
Property and equipment, net . 2,780,589 — (2.304,001) 476,588
Broadband wireless licenses and other intangibles,
net . . 984,614 — (848,936) 135,678
Other assets, net . 59,289 —_ (36,181) 23,108
Total assets $ 4.385,496 $ — $(3.237,406) $1,348,090

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current habilities

Accounts payable . . $ 63,729 $ — $ 3,539 S 67,268
Accrued habilitics . 266,102 ) — (30.910) 235,192
Current habilities subject to compromise 5,497 207 (5,466.667) (a) (30 540) —
Total current habihtics 5,827,038 (5,466,667) (57.911) 302,460
Long-term dcebt . — 500.000 (b) — 500.000
Other long-term liabilities 75,242 — (4,612) 70.630
Long-term labilities subject to compromise 7,182 — (7,182) —
Total liabilities 5,909,462 (4,966,667) (69,705) 873.090
Predecessor XO redeemable preferred stock —
subject to compromise . . 1,708,316 (1,708,316) (a) —_ —
Stockholders’ (deficit) equity
Predecessor XO common stock 4,628 139 — (4,628 139) —
Reorganized XO common stock and warrants — 475,000 (c) —_ 475,000
Deferred compensation . (8.500) —_ 8.500 —
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,512 — (2,512) —
Accumulated deficit (7,654.433) 6,199,983 (e) 1,454,450 —
Total stockholders® (deficit) equity (3,032,282) 6,674,983 (3,167,701) (e) 475,000

Total habilities and stockholders’
(deficit) equity . $ 4,585,496 $ — $(3,237.406) $1,348,090

(a) To record the discharge of pre-petition indebtedness including a $1 0 bilhion credit facihity, $4 2 billion of senior and convertible subordinated notes.
$245 2 mulhion of accrued interest and the elimination of $1 7 bithon of pre-petition redeemable preferred stock and accrued dmadends, all in

accordance with the Plan of Reorgumization

(b

To record the outstanding prnincipal under the Credit Agreement. 1n accordanee with the Plan of Reorgamzation

(c) To record the issuance of 95 0 nuthon shares of New Common Stock and warrants 1n accordance with the Plan of Reorgamzation Participation 1n
tbe Rights Otfering was recorded 1n the first quarter of 2004

(d) To adjust the carrving value of assets. habiliies and stockholders equity to fair value

(e) Net recorgamzation gain on Junuary 1, 2003 consisted of the following (dollars in thousands)
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Net gain resulting from reorgamzatien of debt. preferred stock and cquity $ 6.199.983

Net loss resulung from fresh start fair value adjusiments to assets and habilitzes (3.167,701)

Total reorganization gain, net $ 3.032.282

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Executive Overview of Our Business

State of the Telecommunications Industry

In general, growth in the telecommunications industry has been sluggish for the past three years.
Demand for some services, such as wireless and integrated product offerings have increased, but for many
other products and services price compression and lower demand have resulted in year over year revenue

declines for many telecommunication companies. The weakened US economy caused our industry to
experience:

» Reduced new customer demand and/or reductions in existing customer services,

» High number of bankrupicies in the telecommunications industry and the economy in general,
» Continued competitive pressures, including price cutting in some product lines,

« Reduced FCC mandated rates.

The telecommunications industry annual revenues peaked for wireline services in 2000 at $228 billion,
and are estimated to be approximately $196 billion in 2003. Associated lines have declined from
193 million in 2000 to an estimated 187 million in 2003.

Wireline Revenue ($ Billions) Local Access Lines (Mithons)
$230 5228 25 194 193
192
192
190
190
188

188 187
186
184

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

(E) (E)

Source Lacal Competiion Report (FCC, 2004) Source Trends in Telephone Service (FCC, 8/03)

As a result of over-investment, increased debt-loads, and financial downturn, the telecommunications
industry saw record numbers of bankruptcies in 2001 and 2002. Some companies survived and emerged
with much smaller debt loads, while others were liquidated.

We were one of the companies that successfully emerged from bankruptcy at the beginning of 2003
with a much smaller debt load. We believe that our revenue decline from 2002 to 2003 is consistent with
that of other competitive local exchange carriers. In addition to the loss of customers and related revenues,
excess capacily and competitive pricing pressures caused us to reduce prices when selling certain long
distance voice services Excess long haul capacity has not, however, caused similar pricing pressures when
selling other services. There has also been an increasing displacement of basic wireline services due to
growth in wireless phone usage. This trend is expected to increase in 2004.

Business Overview

We provide a comprehensive array of voice and data communications services to business customers.
These services are offered to a vanety of customers, including small, middle-market and large commercial
businesses, and carrier or wholesale customers in over 70 U.S. markets. Our voice services include local
and long distance services, both bundled and standalone, other voice-related services such as conferencing,
calling card, domestic and international toll free services, advanced directory services, Hosted IVR and
transactions processing services for prepaid calling cards. Our data services include Internet access,
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including Dedicated Internet Access, DSL and dial access, private data networking, including Ethernet
service, Wavelength service, MultiTransport Networking Service and managed security solutions including
Virtual Private Network and firewall services, and web hosting services. We also combine many of these
services in flat rate service packages.

Key Performance Indicators

Management uses various key performance indicators or KPIs to assess operational effectiveness in
certain areas. These include:

« Sales activity — This KPI tracks the dollar value of sales bookings and quota attainment per sales
representative. Management reviews this metric to assess the effectiveness of our sales force, and to
track the sales backlog to be installed.

« Customer attrition or churn — This KPI tracks the financial impact of customer attrition, or churn,
in comparison 1o new sales. Management reviews this KPI to judge the effectiveness of operational
measures intended to promote customer satisfaction with our services, and the net impact on
revenue.

« Number and average dollar of customer orders processed — This KPI tracks the quantity and size
of customer installations, changes or disconnects that we have processed in a particular period.

Svstem Conversions

As noted in the liquidity section below, we are investing significant capital into the continued
development and implementation of our information systems to support and enhance the provisioning and
billing of new and existing customers. There are four major components to our customer management and
billing systems: (i) sales ordering and customer management (sometimes referred to as CRM);

(ii) provisioning support system; (ii1) billing systems; and (iv) integration of the above systems.
Integration is the ability to automate the flow of information between systems, resulting in fewer errors,
reduced intervals and lower headcount costs to order, install and manage the customer base. We installed
the provisioning system 1n 2003. In early 2004, we installed a new CRM system. We expect 10 nstall a
new billing system in 2004 and complete an integration release to provisioning in the second quarter of
2004, and an integration release to billing in the third quarter of 2004. If we are successful at
implementing these systems we will experience operating efficiencies starting in the second half of 2004
and into 2005.

Our Chapter 11 Reorganization
The Reorganization Proceedings
On January 16, 2003, XO Parent consummated its Plan of Reorganization and emerged from its

Chapter 11 reorganization proceedings with a significantly restructured balance sheet. The consummation
of the Plan of Reorganization resulted in the following changes in XO Parent’s capital structure:

* The conversion of $1 0 billion of loans under our pre-petition secured credit facility into
$500.0 million of outstanding principal amount under an amended and restated credit agreement;

« The extinguishment of all amounts due under our pre-petition unsecured senior and subordinated
notes and certain general unsecured obligations;

+ The cancellation of all outstanding shares and interests in our pre-petition preferred stock and pre-
petition common stock, and

+ The issuance of approximately 95.0 million shares of new common stock in reorganized XO and

warrants to purchase up to an additional 23.75 nullion shares of new common stock of reorganized
XO.
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The following table shows the distribution each party of interest impacted by XO Parent’s bankruptcy
was entitled to. As certain claims are still being reviewed by the Bankruptcy Court, certain proportional
distributions have not yet been made and can not occur until the court rules (dollars in thousands, except
share data).

Shares of New Series A Series B Series C

Party of Interest Common Stock  Warrants Warrants  Warrants  Credit Facility  Cash
S1 Bilhon senior secured credit facihity 90,250,001 — —_ — $500,000 $ —
Senior unsccured notes 4,715.344 9,430,689 7,073,015 7.073,015 — 1,600
Subordinated notes . — — — — —_ 616
Gencral unsecured creditors 34,656 69.309 51.980 51,980 —_ 403
Total entitlement 95,000.001 9,499,998  7,124995  7.124,995 $500.000 $2,619
Not vet distnbuted 1.230.638 2,461,743 1,846,151  1.846.151 3 — $1.612
Total 1ssued or paid . 93,769,363 7.038.255 5,278,844  5,278.844 $500,000 $1.007

See Notes 13 and 14 in Part 1V for additional disclosure on our equity and debt instruments.

As part of our Plan of Reorganization, we agreed to initiate a Rights Offering that allowed certain
holders of claims and interests in XO Parent as of the November 15, 2002 record date to subscribe for up
10 40.0 million shares of New Common Stack at $5.00 per share. The Rights Offering closed on
January 5, 2004. An aggregate of 39.7 million shares were issued, vielding net proceeds of $197.6 million.
We used the proceeds from the Rights Offering to pay down our Credit Facility to $339.2 million in
January 2004.

Interests Held by Enties Controlled by Mr Carl C. Icahn

Various entities controlled by Mr. [cahn hold the following interests in reorgamzed XO:
Series A, B and C

Common Stock Warrants Credit Facility
At December 31, 2003 ' Greater than 80%  Greater than 40%  Greater than 90%
At January 31, 2004 . . Greater than 60%  Greater than 40%  Greater than 90%

In addition entities controlled by Mr. Icahn have acquired an option to purchase 6.25 million
additional shares of common stock {rom Franklin Mutual Advisors, LLC at a strike price of $4 25 per
share which expires June 21, 2004. After closing our rights offering in January 2004, Mr. Icahn’s
ownership interest in our outstanding common stock was reduced to over 60%.

As a result of this majority ownership position, Mr. Icahn can elect all of our directors, appoint the
members of the committees of our Board of Directors, appoint key members of our executive management
tean, and appoint our auditors. Currently, Mr. Tcahn is Chairman of the Board of Directors and three
employees of Icahn Associates sit on our Board of Directors as well as various Committees of our Board
of Directors. Under applicable law and our Certificate of Incorporation and by-laws, certain actions cannot
be taken without the approval of holders of a majority of our voting stock, including, without hmitation,
mergers, acquisitions, the sale of substantially all our assets, and amendments to our Certificate of
Incorporation and by-laws. We anticipate that Mr. Tcahn will continue to control a majority of our
outstanding capital stock following the issuance of XO Parent shares in connection with our acquisition of
Allegiance assets and consequently will continue to have these governance rights.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Capital Resources and Liquidity Assessment

Our operating, investing and financing activities during 2003 provided net cash of $6.3 million,
$153 0 million and $5.2 million, respectively. Cash and cash equivalents increased to $478.6 million at
December 31, 2003 from $314 0 million at December 31, 2002. However, our balance of cash and
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marketable securities decreased to $520.6 million at December 31, 2003 from $561.0 million at
December 31, 2002. As discussed further in Item I, “Business”, we expect that, in the near term, our
business will use existing cash of approximately $311.0 million in cash and that we will issue
approximately 45.4 million shares of our New Common Stock to acquire Allegiance’s assets. In addition,
we will use cash for capital expenditures and net working capital requirements. We expect that the
majority of our planned capital expenditure requirements will be “success-based” in that they will be used
to purchase and 1nstall customer-related equipment and electronics in connection with growing revenue by
adding new customers or increasing the amount of services provided to existing customers. Much of the
non-success based planned capital expenditures will be for the continued development and implementation
of our information systems to support and enhance the provisioning and billing of new and existing
customers 1n a more cost efficient manner. Part of our net working capital requirements are commitments
under lease and contractual obligations for software licenses and ongoing support of software for IT and
network applications and are disclosed in the table below.

There are no additional borrowings available under our Credit Facility. We raised net proceeds of
$197.6 million in January 2004 upon the consummation of our Rights Offering, and applied these proceeds
1o the outstanding balance on the credit facility, reducing the amount outstanding from $536.8 million as
of December 31, 2003 1o $339.2 million. We have no current debt service requirements since cash interest
payments as well as automatic and permanent quarterly reductions of the principal amount outstanding
under the Credit Facility do not commence until 2009. However, in the event that consolidated excess
cash flow (as defined in the Credit Facility) for any fiscal quarter during the term of the agreement is
greater than $25 million, at the request of the lender, XO will pay an amount equal to 50% of such excess
cash flow greater than $25 million toward the reduction of outstanding indebtedness. In addition, 1f the
ratio of our consolidated earnings before 1nterest, taxes depreciation and amortization for the four
consecutive quarters exceeds 4:1, we would be required to pay cash interest, unless waived by the lenders.

The following table summarizes our payment obligations under various operating and financing
agreements as of December 31, 2003 (dollars in thousands):

Other
Operating long-term
Credit lease contractual  Capital lease Total
Year Ending December 31. Facility  obligations  obligations obligations obligations
2004 . ) — $ 60,623 $ 53,974 $2,809 $ 117.406
2005 .o — 57,974 33,768 2,668 94,410
2006 . . — 53269 24,484 2,416 80,169
2007 — 49,159 23.451 1,733 74,343
2008 — 38,823 23,048 271 62,148
Thereafter . 536,791 188,084 96,811 — 821,686
Total mlr’umum commitments . $536,791 $447.932 $255,536 $9.903 $1.250,162

We used the proceeds from the Rights Offering to pay down our Credit Facility to $339.2 million in
January 2004. As discussed in Part I, Item 1, Business, we lease wavelength capacity from Level 3 for
intercity network capacity. The first of these leases expires in 2006. At that time, we will either renew
these leased waveléngths or install our own optical equipment and light our intercity fiber network, either
of which will be a substantial capital expenditure.

We expect that our current cash balance will be sufficient to fund our acquisition-of Allegiance, net
working capital and capital expenditure requirements and allow us to successfully execute our current
business plan However, if we are unsuccessful at integrating the assets acquired from Allegiance in a
timely and/or cost effective manner, this expectation could be incorrect and cause us to issue additional
equity and/or debt secunities. Additionally, current economic conditions of the telecommunications
industry may create opportunities for XO to bid on other companies or portions of companies at attractive
prices. We expect to continue to pursue the acquisition of additional telecommunication companies or
assets throughout 2004. We do not know what the terms of any such transactions would be. Any other
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offers mvolving cash consideration could significantly and adversely affect our liquidity. To support further
business expansion, including investments in or acquisitions of other companies or portion of other
companies, we may issue additional equity and/or debt securities.

Other 2003 Transactions and Developments

Announcement of Chief Execulive Officer Appointment

On April 28, 2003, we announced that we had hired Carl J. Grivner as our new Chief Executive
Officer effective May 15, 2003. Effective May 1, 2003, Mr. Grivner joined XO as a member of the newly
created Office of the Chairman Mr. Grivner's career in the telecommunications and technology industries
spans more than 25 years. He most recently served as Chief Operating Officer of Global Crossing, Ltd.
Prior 1o joining Global Crossing in June 2000, Mr. Grivner served as Chief Executive Officer of .Worldport
Communications and, before that, he served as Chief Executive Officer, Western Hemisphere, of Cable &
Wireless PLC. Additionally, Mr. Grivner has held various senior executive positions at Advanced Fiber
Communications and Ameritech.

Comparison of Financial Results

As a consequence of the Chapter 11 reorganization, the financial results for the yeuar ended
December 31, 2003 have been separately presented under the label “Reorganized XO” and are not
comparable with prior year results. The reorganized Company has adopted the policy of expensing
customer installation costs and internal labor directly associated with network construction in the period in
which the costs are incurred. The predecessor Company capitalized and amortized these costs. In
accordance with SOP 90-7, the reorganized Company was required to implement newly issued accounting
pronouncements that would require adoption within twelve months of upplying fresh start.

The operational results for the year ended December 31, 2003 are discussed below. The projected
trends are for XO operations as we exit 2003, and do not include the impact of any revenue or cost
synergies from the Allegiance acquisition, or any other acquisitions that might occur in 2004.

Reorganized XO Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Predecessor XO Year Ended
December 31, 2002

Revenue. Total revenue for the year ending December 31, 2003 decreased 11.8% to $1,110.5 million
from $1.259.9 million for the year ending December 31, 2002. Customer churn, of approximately 2.4% in
2003, exceeded acquisition revenue particularly in the carrier, stand alone, DSL and dial-up customer base.
The majority of this decline is driven by major reductions in the carrier revenue stream due to
bankruplcies, downsizing network requirements, as well as competitive pricing pressures. Additionally,
year-over-year revenue decreased in ancillary stand alone products such as Dial Up and DSL Internet
access, and Hosting due to XO focusing on more profitable offerings. The commercial offerings to middle
market businesses, however, remained relatively stable as revenue acquisition kept pace with attrition,

We anticipate that the negative trends within the carrier revenue stream will stabilize during the first
half of 2004 as customer churn improved during 2003 from 2.6% during the first three quarters of 2003 to
1.9% during the fourth quarter of 2003. Therefore, XO estimates that the first half of 2004 revenue will be
relatively consistent with the fourth quarter 2003 exit run rate. Additionally, we estimate that sequential
year-over-year, 2003 revenue versus 2004, should remain relatively constant.
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Revenue was earned from providing the following services (dollars in thousands):

Reorganized XO Predecessor XO
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
% of 2003 % of 2002
2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue % Change
Voice services Lo . § 572,774 516% S 659,558 523% (13 2%)
Data services . 392,742 35 4% 472.247 37 5% (16 8%)
Integrated vorce and data services . 144.967 13 0% 128.048 10.2% 13.2%
Total revenuc . $1.110,483 1000%  $1.259,853 100 0% (118%)

Voice services revenue includes revenue from local and long distance voice services, prepaid calling
card processing, and other voice telecommunications based services, interactive voice response services and
stand-alone long distance services. Voice services revenue for the vear ended December 31, 2003 decreased
to $572.8 million from $659 6 million for the same period of 2002. The decrease is attributable to reduced
FCC mandated rates, price reductions in long distance services due to reduced cost of service due to
technological improvements, and customer disconnects and usage reductions ansing from customers’
downsizing due to the state of the domestic economy.

Data services revenue includes revenue from Internet access, network access and web applications
hosting services. Data services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 decreased to $392.7 mullion
from $472.2 million for the same period of 2002. The decline was attributable to an increase in customer
bankruptcies, and customer disconnects, and a lower demand from large customers due to reductions in
those customers’ data capacity needs.

Integrated voice and data services revenue 1s generated largely from our XOptions service offerings, a
flat-rate bundled package offering a combination of voice and data services. Integrated voice and data
services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased to $145.0 million from $128.0 million for
the same period in 2002. The increase is due to the continued acceptance in the marketplace of our
XOptions service offering.

Costs and expenses. The table below provides costs and expenses by classification and as a
percentage of revenue (dollars in thousands):

Reorganized XO Predecessor XO
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
% of 2003 % of 2002 .
2003 Revenue 2002 Revenue % Change
Costs and expenses

Cost of service . . $ 422129 380% § 522,924 41 5% (19.3%)
Selling, operating and gencral 679,286 61.2% 765,853 60 8% . (11 3%)
Depreciation and amortization 109.308 9.9% 699,806 555% ° (844%
Restructunng and asset write-downs 11,618 1.1 % 480,168 38 1% " (97.6%)
Total $1,22234] $2,468.751 " (50 5%)

Cost of service. Cost of service includes cxpenses directly associated with providing telecommunica-
tions services to our customers. Cost of service includes, among other items, the cost of connecting
customers to our networks via leased facilities, the costs of leasing components of our network facilities
and costs paid to third party service providers for interconnect access and transport services. Cost of
service for the year ended December 31, 2003 decreased in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue
compared to the same period in 2002. The year over year decline as a percentage of revenue was due
primarily to cost optimization programs which reduced expenses by transferring traffic from third party
facilities onto our owned or controlled facilities, and favorable resolutions of disputed third party costs. The
decline was partially offset by our adoption of an accounting policy during the first quarter of 2003, to
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expense rather than defer costs associated with the installation of customer services and the revenue
reductions in carrier long-distance services due to the excess long haul capacity in the sector.

We estimate that cost of service as a percentage of revenue will increase shightly when compared to
2003 results due to the loss of higher margin private line carrier revenue. 1t may also fluctuate quarter-to-
quarter based on trends in revenue, product mix, the 1mpact of customer bankruptcies, requlatorv decisions
and our ability to continue favorable resolution of third party billing disputes.

Selling, operating and general. Sclling, operating and general expense includes expenses related to
sales and marketing, internal network operations and engineering, information systems, general corporate
office functions and collection risks. Selling, operating and general expense for the year ended
December 31, 2003 was $679.3 million or 61.2% of revenue versus $765.9 million or 60 8% of revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2002. Selling, operating and general expense decreased in absolute dollars
due to our reorganization that resulted in reduced headcount, contract rejections and renegotiations, and
fair value adjustments to our long term contractual commitments and property as required by fresh start
accounting which resulted in expense reductions in various contracted services, rent and property, taxes.
These reductions were partially offset by our adoption of the policy of expensing internal labor costs

.directly associated with customer installation and the construction of our network. The increase in selling,
operating and general expense as a percentage of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 when
compared to 2002 results is due to the large reduction of revenues due to bankrupteies and price declines
discussed above, with no associated offsetting direct expense reduction.

We expect selling, operating and general expense 10 decrease in absolute dollars and 1o remain
relatively stable as a percentage of revenue n the near term. With the headcount reduction in early 2003
and management’s focus on selling larger dollar, more profitable services, we are projecting that selling,
operaling, and general expenses as a percentage of revenue will decrease as a percentage or revenue in the
second half of 2004. We further believe that the Allegiance acquisition will contribute to this trend.

Depreciation and amortization. As discussed above, we implemented fresh start on January 1, 2003
and adjusted the carrying value of our property and equipment and other intangibles to their fair value
which resulted in a significant reduction of the aggregate historical carrying value. Consequently,
depreciation and amortization expense decreased to $109.3 million for the year ended December. 31, 2003,
versus $699 8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.

We expect depreciation and amortization expense during 2004 to increase slightly as additional assets
are placed into service. As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately $80.0 mullion of construction-in-
progress plus $23.5 million of broadband wireless licenses that have not yet been placed into service and,
accordingly, are not currently being depreciated or amortized.

Restructuring and asset write-downs. Restructuring and asset write-downs decreased to $11.6 nullion
for the year ended December 31, 2003 from $480.2 million for the vear ended December 31, 2002.
Restructuring charges in 2003 include costs for a reduction in our workforce by approximately 550
employees, primarily employed 1n network operations, sales and marketing and information technology and
estimated losses associated with restructured leases.

The 2002 restructuring charges primarily include a $477.3 million non-cash asset write-down during
the third quarter of 2002 as a result of returning intercity assets to Level 3 in exchange for reduced future
maintenance expenses beginning in 2003.

Investment income (loss), net. Investment income (loss), net includes interest income as well as any
realized gains or losses from the sale of investments. Investment income (loss), net was a gain of
$46.2 million for 2003 and a gain of $16.3 million in 2002. The 2003 balance is primarily for a gam on the
sale of an investment.

Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net includes interest expense on debt and capital leases, less
any amounts capltalized for construction efforts. The majority of interest expense in 2003 is non-cash as
the Credit Facility allows for accrued interest to be converted into principal 1f unpaid. Interest expense, net
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for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $36.8 million and $226.5 million, respectively.
During 2003 and 2002, XO capitalized interest on construction costs of $3.0 million and $11.1 million,
respectively. Contractual interest was $301.1 nullion for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
significant reduction for 2003 was caused by the cancellation of our pre-petition senior notes and pre-
petition convertible subordinated 'notes and the reduction in the amount outstanding under our Credit
Facility upon consummation of our Plan of Reorganization. We expect interest expense to decline further
in 2004 due to the pay down of the Credit Facility with the proceeds of the Rights Offering in

January 2004.

Predecessor XO Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Predecessor XO Year Ended
December 31, 2001

Revenue. Total revenue in 2002 of $1,259.9 million was consistent with total revenue in 2001 of
$1,258.6 million. The weakened economy and the perceived uncertainties in the market regarding XO
Parent’s Chapter 11 proceedings had a negative impact on our ability to generate new sources of revenue.
Consequently, we were not able to maintain the level of growth that we had historically achieved. We
experienced a high level of customer disconnects in 2002 due to reduced demand from other
telecommunications companies and increased customer bankruptcies in the telecommunications and dot-
com 1ndustries.

Revenue was earned from providing the following services (dollars in thousands):

Predecessor XO
Year Ended December 31,

% of 2002 % of 2001
2002 Revenue 2001 Revenue % Change
Voice services . . $ 659.558 523% § 609,885 48 4% 8 0%
Data services e .o 472.247 37 5% 596.664 47 5% (20.9%)
Integrated voice and data services 128.048 10 2% 52,018 4 1% 146 2%
Total revenue . $1.259.853 1000%  $1.258.567 100 0% 01%

Voice services revenue includes revenue from bundled local and long distance voice services. prepaid
calling card processing, and other voice communications based services, interactive voice response services
and stand-alone Jong distance services. Voice services revenue in 2002 increased to $659.6 million from
$609.9 million in 2001. The increase was primarily due to more sales to larger business customers,
including the impact of the rollout of our carrier long distance service.

Data services revenue includes revenue from Internet access, network access and web applications
hosting services. Data services revenue in 2002 decreased to $472.2 million from $596.7 million in 2001.
This decline was attributable primarily to customer bankruptcies affecting some large network access
customers, increased levels of customer disconnects, and a lower demand from large customers due to
reductions in those customers’ data and fiber capacity needs. The sale of our European operations in
February 2002 also contributed to this decline.

Integrated voice and data scrvices revenue is generated largely from our XOptions service offerings, a
flat-rate bundled package offering a combination of voice and data services. Integrated voice and data
services revenue in 2002 increased to $128.0 million from $52.0 million in 200!. The increase is primarily
attributed to an increase in the number of customers to whom we provide X Options service.
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Costs and expenses. The table below provides costs and expenses by classification and as a.
percentage of revenue (dollars in thousands):

Predecessor XO
Year Ended December 31,

% of 2002 % of 2001 '
2002 Revenue 2001 Revenue % Change
Costs and expenses

Cost of service . $ 522924 41 3% $ 527.698 41 9% (0 9%)
Selling. operating and general 765,853 60.8% 1.008,887 80 2% (24 2%)
Deprectation and amortization . . 699.806 55 53% 1,162.671 92 4% (39 8%)
Restructuning and assct write-downs . . 480.168 38 1% 509.202 40 3% (5 7%)
Total . . $2,468.751 $3.208,458 (23 1%)

Cost of service. Cost of service includes expenses directly associated with providing telecommunica-
tions services to our customers. Cost of service includes, among other items, the cost of connecli'n"g
customers to our networks via leased facilities, the costs of leasing components of our network facilities
and costs paid to third party providers for interconnect access and transport services. Cost of service in
2002 was $522.9 million or 41.5% of revenue compared to $527.7 million or 41.9% of revenue in 200l. The
2002 decline was due primarily to cost optimization programs to reduce expenses by transferring traffic
from leased facilities onto facilities owned or controlled by us. These cost reductions were offset, to some
extent, by increased costs of service that were attributable to the increase in voice and integrated services
revenue as a percentage of our total revenue These revenues generally carry lower margins when
compared to data services because voice and integrated services are more likely to utilize leased versus
owned network facilities to terminate calls.

Selling, operating and general. Selling, operating and general expense includes expenses related to
sales and marketing, internal network operations and engineering, information systems, general corporate
office functions and expenses relating to collection risks. Selling, operating and general expense in 2002
was $765.9 million compared to $1,008.9 million in 2001. Selling, operating and general expense decreased
both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue in 2002 when compared to 2001 due to efficiencies
resulting from the centralization of and process improvements in many functions and cost reduction and
restructuring initiatives that included significant headcount reductions and savings from the planned exit of
certain lcased facilities, as well as the February 2002 sale of our European operations.

Depreciation and amortization. We have constructed an integrated facilities-based network in the
United States. Primarily in late 2001 and early 2002, we expanded our services in existing markets, placed
more asscts into service, and increased our obsolescence expense, all of which caused depreciation expense
to increase to $598.5 million in 2002 from $447.0 million 1n 2001. In 2003, in conjunction with our
implementation of fresh start accounting, we adjusted the carrying value of our property and equipment to
its estimated fair value of $502.2 million from a net carrying value of $2,780.6 million at December 31,
2002. Accordingly, depreciation expense has decreased significantly during 2003 and in future periods when
compared to depreciation expense for periods prior to the effective date of the Plan of Reorganization.

Amortization expensc includes the amortization of broadband wireless licenses and other intangibles
assets with definite lives and, for 2001, also includes the amortization of goodwill. Amortization expense
decreased 10 $101.3 million in 2002 from $715.7 million 1n 2001. The significant decrease is primanly due
to our implementation of SFAS No. 142 and the resulting write-off of all our goodwill as of January 1,
2002. Tn conjunction with our implementation of fresh start accounting in 2003, we reduced the
$911.8 million December 31, 2002 currying value of our broadband wireless licenses 1o their estimated fair
value of approximately $60.0 million, and increase the $72.8 million December 31, 2002 net carrying value
of other intangible assets to their estimated fair value of approximately $76.0 million. Accordingly,
amortization expense decreased in 2003 and in future pertods when compared to amortization expense for
periods prior to the effective date of the Plan of Reorganization.

. 45



As of December 31, 2002, our balance sheet reflected approximately $731 0 million of long-lived
assets, including construction-in-progress and certain broadband wireless licenses that had not been placed
into service and, accordingly, were not being depreciated or amortized. As discussed above, these long-
lived assets were written down 1o their estimated fair values when we applied fresh start accounting during
the first quarter of 2003.

Restructuring and asset write-downs. Restructuring and asset write-downs were $480.2 million in
2002 and $509.2 million in 2001. During 2001, restructuring charges primarily related 1o the
implementation of our plan to restructure certain of our business operations. The restructuring plan
included divesting cerlain assets and businesses, and reducing our discretionary spending, capital
expenditures and workforce, based on our assessment of current and future market conditions. The 2001
restructuring charges include a $366.8 million write-down for the excess of carrying value of assets to be
sold or abandoned, including our European business unit, and a $134.4 million restructuring charge relating
to the consolidation and exiting of domestic facility leases, which was determined based on the future
minimum rent commitments for the buildings that management intended 1o exit less estimated sublease
rental streams. The 2001 restructuring charges also included an $8.0 million restructuring charge related to
involuntary termination severance costs with respect to 700 persons whose employment was terminated in
connection with a workforce reduction, the majority of whom were terminated by December 31, 2001.

During 2002, we continued to restructure our operations and reduced our workforce by approximately
350 additional employees, the majority of whom were employed 1n network operations, sales and marketing
and information technology, and recorded a $2.9 million restructuring charge related to the involuntary
termination severance costs. In addition, we recorded a $477.3 million non-cash asset write-down during
the third quarter of 2002 as a result of returning intercity assets to Level 3 in exchange for reduced future
maintenance expenses beginning in 2003.

Investment income (loss), net. Investment income (loss), net in 2002 was net income of
$16.3 million versus a net loss of $15 8 million in 2001. Investment income, net is mostly interest income
in 2002 while the 2001 net (loss) includes an $89 0 million write down for an other than temporary
decline in the value of certain investments.

Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net in 2002 decreased to $226.5 million from $465.4 million
in 2001, as we ceased accruing interest and penalties on our pre-petition senior unsecured, subordinated
notes and Pre-Pctition Facility as of the petition date, in accordance with SOP 90-7. The contractual
interest amounts of $501.1 million reflected on the consolidated statement of operations represents the
interest expense that would have been accrued under the relevant financing agreements had we not ceased
accruing interest as described above.

Gain on repurchase of debt. Gain on repurchase of debt in 2001 was $345.0 million related to our
repurchase of $557.1 million of senior notes at a substantial discount from their respective face values

Reorganization gain (expense), net. Reorganization gain, net of $3,032.3 mullion at January 1, 2003
include gains from our debt and preferred stock cancellations upon our emergence from bankruptcy less
the loss recorded in adjusting our long-term assets and habilities to fair value upon our application of the
fresh start accounting required by SOP 90-7. Reorganization expense in 2002 was $91.1 million and
included the (i) non-cash charges relating to the write off of issuance costs, discounts and purchase
accounting adjustments to adjust the historical carrying amounts of our debt to the allowed claim amount
by the Bankruptcy Court, (ii) professional fees associated with our Plan of Reorganization, (iii) the
penalties from the rejection of contracts, (1v) adjustments to unpaid pre-petition accounts payable and
accrued expenses to the claim amounts allowed by the bankrupicy court, and (v) the net gain resulting
from payments received by XO Parent in connection with the settlement and termination of the proposed
investment transaction that was the basis for the first restructuring alternative contemplated by the Plan of
Reorganization, less amounts paid to settle certain stockholder claims.

Cunulative effect of accounting change. We performed the transitional impairment tests of goodwill
as required by SFAS No. 142 as of January 1, 2002. Based on these tests, we recorded a $1,876.6 million
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impairment charge to write-off all of our goodwill as a cumulative effect of accounting change during the
first quarter of 2002.

Recognition of preferred stock modification fee, net — reorganization item. 1In order 1o adjust the
historical carrying amount of our preferred stock to the amount allowed by the Bankruptcy Court, we
recognized the unamortized balance of a deferred modification fee with respect to our preferred stock as of
the petition date and wrote off certain unamortized issuance costs and recognized certain purchase
accounting adjustments related to the preferred stock which netted a $78.7 mullion gain during 2002.

Gauain on repurchases of preferred stock, net. 1In 2001, we recorded a net gain totaling $376.9 million
related to our repurchase of $472 6 million in liquidation preference of our preferred stock at a substantial
discount from the respective carrying amounts.

Preferred stock dividends and accretion of preferred stock redemption obligation, net. As our
preferred stock was deemed subject to compromise under SOP 90-7, we ceased accruing dividends and
accreting the redemption obligation on all of our outstanding preferred stock as of our petition date. As a
result, we recorded $42.2 million of preferred stock dividends during 2002 as compared to $129.7 million
in such dividends in 2001. The contractual dividend amount of $98.8 million reflected on the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations represents the dividends that would have been accrued
under the terms of our preferred stock had we not ceased accruing such dividends as described above.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

As of January 1, 2003, we adopted the policy of expensing customer installation costs and internal
labor directly associated with network construction in the period in which the costs are incurred as this
labor effort 1s not specific to any large segregated project, but rather to ordinary course business operations.
During 2002 we capitalized and amortized these costs. During 2002, the net decrease to cost of sales and
to selling, operating and general expenses as a result of capitalization and amortizing these costs was
approximately $14.3 million and $9.5 million, respectively.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions regarding uncertainties that affect the reported amounts of assets and habilities, disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Management uses
historical experience and all available information to make these judgments and estimates and actual
results could differ from those estimates and assumptions that are used to prepare our financial statements
at any given time. Despite these inherent limitations, management believes that Management's Discussion
and Analysis and the accompanying consolidated financial statements and footnotes provide a meaningful
and fair perspective of our financial condition and our operating results for the current period.
Management believes the following critical accounting policies represent the more significant judgments
and estimates used in the preparation of our audited consolidated financial statements included in this
form 10-K.

Fresh-Start Adjustments

Fresh start required that XO adjust the historical cost of its assets and liabilities to their fair values as
determined by the reorganization value of the Company. Fresh start requires that the reorganization value
be allocated to the entity’s net assets in conformity with procedures specified by SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations,” (“SFAS No. 141”). We engaged an independent appraiser to assist 1n the allocation of
the reorganization value to the reorganized Company’s assets and habilities by determining the fair market
value of 1ts property and equipment, intangible assets and certain obligations related to its facility leases.
Many estimates, projections and assumptions are used to assess the fair value of long term assets and
liabilities. We review these estimates quarterly to determine if actual results are consistent with our
assumptions Any adjustments are recorded in the quarterly results. The accounting impact from adopting
fresh start is included in Part 11, Item 6, Selected Financial Data.
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Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets include property and equipment, broadband wireless licenses, and identifiable
intangible assets to be held and used. The estimated useful lives of telecommunications networks and
acquired bandwidth are 3 to 20 years and 5 to 7 years for furniture fixtures, equipment and other. These
useful lives are determined based on historical usage with consideration given to technological changes and
trends in the industry that could impact the network architecture and asset utilization. This latter
assessment 1s significant because we operate within an industry in which new technological changes could
render some or all of our network related equipment obsolete requiring application of a shorter useful hife
or, in certain circumstances, a write-off of the entire value of the asset. Accordingly, in making this
assessment, we consider our planned use of the assets, the views of experts both from internal and outside
sources regarding the impact of technological advances and trends in the industry on the value and useful
lives of our network assets.

Investments in broadband wireless licenses acquired prior to December 31, 2002 were recorded at
their fair values at January 1, 2003, as required by fresh start. We are amortizing these over the license
period of 10 years as determined by the Federal Communications Commission. In order to receive an
extension on the original license term from the FCC, we are required to show substantial service in the
license area within ten vears of being licensed. Failure to meet this requirement could result 1n forfeiture
of the license. Approximately $23.5 million in book value of these licenses have not yet been placed into
service. Had these licenses been 1n service during all of 2003, amortization expense would have increased
by approximately $4.4 million. If we fail to show substantial service in the licensed geographic area at the
end of the original ten year period and fail to negotiate an extension from the FCC, we would forfeit the
right to offer such services in that market, and write-off the impaired asset. XO is evaluating recent
improvements in the price and performance of broadband wireless equipment, and is developing a plan to
meet the FCC's substantial service test in all its licensed areas before the licenses are due for renewal
proceedings.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from telecommunications services are recognized when the services are performed, cvidence
of an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectibility is probable. In circumstances
when these criteria are not met, revenue recognition is deferred until resolution occurs. For example, if a
customer files for protection under bankruptcy, we believe the probability of collection is weakened.
Consequently, under such circumstances, although we continue to bill the customer for all services
provided, we do not recognize revenue until cash is received. In addition, telecommunications customers
often dispute the amounts that we invoice them due to regulatory issues, late payment fees, and early
termination charges based on differences of opinion regarding contract terms or service levels. Accordingly,
as these billings are not considered fixed and determinable and collection of such amounts is not
considered probable while these amounts are disputed, revenue recognition is deferred until the dispute is
resolved and the cash is collected.

Service discounts and incentives related to telecommunications services are recorded as a reduction of
revenue when granted or ratably over a contract period. Fees billed in connection with customer
installations and other non-recurring fees are deferred and recognized ratably over the estimated customer
life. The estimated customer life is calculated by analyzing customer disconnects as a percentage of
revenue. This calculation is reviewed every quarter.

We establish an allowance for collection of doubtful accounts and other sales credit adjustments.
Allowances for sales credits are established through a charge to revenue, while allowances for doubtful
accounts are established through a charge to selling, operating and general expenses. We assess the
adequacy of these reserves monthly by considering general factors, such as the length of time individual
receivables are past due, historical collection expenence, the economic and competitive environment, and
changes in the credit worthiness of our customers. As considered necessary, we also assess the ability of
specific customers to meet their financial obligations to us and establish specific valuation allowances based
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on the amount we expect to collect from these customers. We can and have expernienced material changes
to our reserve requirements on a month to month basis as significant customers have in the past
unexpectedly filed for bankrupicy or otherwise became insolvent. We believe that our established valuation
allowances were adequate as of December 31, 2003. If circumstances relating to specific customers change
or economic conditions worsen such that our past collection experience and assessment of the economic
environment are no longer valid, our estimate of the recoverability of our trade receivables could be
changed. If this occurs, we would adjust our valuation allowance in the period the new information is
known.

Cost of Service

Cost of service includes expenses directly associated with providing telecommunications services (o
customers, including, among other items, the cost of connecting customers to our networks via leased
facilities, the costs of leasing components of our network facilities and costs paid to third party providers
for local access and transport services. All such costs are expensed as incurred. We accrue for the expected
costs of services reccived from third party telecommunications providers during the period the services are
rendered. Invoices received from the third party telecommunications providers are often disputed due to
billing discrepancies. We accrue for all invoiced amounts, even amounts in dispute, as these amounts
represent contingent habilities that are considered probable and measurable. Disputes resolved in our favor
may reduce cost of service in the period the dispute is settled and typically reflect costs paid in prior
periods. Because the period of time required to resolve these types of disputes often lapses over several
quarters, the benefits associated with the favorable resolution of such disputes normally are realized in
" periods subsequent to the accrual of the disputed invoice.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are not currently engaged in the use of off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments, to hedge
or partially hedge interest rate exposure nor do we maintain any other off-balance sheet arrangements for
the purpose of credit enhancement, hedging transactions, or other financial or investment purposes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Implemented in 2003

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations,” (“SFAS No. 143"), which requires an entity to recognize the fair value of
a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which a legal or contractual removal obligation
is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. If a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot
be made 1n the period the asset retirement obligation is incurred, SFAS No. 143 requires the liabulity to
be recognized when a reasonable estimate of the fair value can be made. As required by SOP 90-7, we
implemented SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003, in conjunction with the implementation of fresh start and
recorded an estimated asset retirement obligation of $12.0 million.

Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical
Corrections as of April 2002, which eliminates the requirement to report material gains or losses from
debt extinguishments as an extraordinary item, net of any applicable income tax effect, in an entity’s
statement of operations. SFAS No. 145 instead requires that a gain or loss recognized from a debt
extinguishment be classified as an extraordinary item only when the extinguishment meets the criteria of
both *‘unusual in nature” and “infrequent 1n occurrence” as prescribed under APB Opinion No 30.
“Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and
Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions™. Upon adopting SFAS
No. 145, the Company reclassified a 2001 $345.0 million gain from debt repurchases from extraordinary to
recurring.

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 146, **Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities”, which requires that costs, mcluding severance costs, associated with exit
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or disposal activities be recorded at their fair value when a hability has been incurred. Under previous
guidance, certain exit costs, including severance costs, were accrued upon managements’ commitment to
an exit plan, which is generally before an actual liability has been incurred. The adoption of SFAS

No. 146 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, which amends SFAS No. 123, to provide
alternative methods of transition to SFAS No. 123’s fair value method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. As discussed and disclosed in Note 5, SFAS No. 148 also amends the disclosure
provisions of SFAS No. 123 and APB No. 28. As allowed by SFAS No. 148, we have chosen to continue
to account for compensation cost associated with our employvee stock plans in accordance with the intrinsic
value method prescribed by APB No. 25.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,”, which amends and clarifies accounting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded 1n other contracts, and for hedging activities under
SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30. 2003 and
for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003 The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. '

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,”, which establishes standards for how companies classify and
measure certain financial instruments with characteristics of both habilities and equity. It requires
companies to classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some
circumstances). SFAS No 150 is effective beginning with the second quarter of fiscal 2003 The adoption
of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issucd Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable [nterest
Entities.” an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, *Consolidated Financial Statements”
(“FIN 46”). FIN 46 applies to any business enterprise that has a controlling interest, contractual
relationship or other business relationship with a varable interest entity ("VIE”) and establishes guidance
for the consolidation of VIEs that function to support the activitics of the primary beneficiary. In
December 2003, the FASB completed its deliberations regarding the proposed modification to FIN 46 and -
issued Interpretation Number 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities-an Interpretation of ARB
No. 51”. The decision reached included a deferral of the effective date and provisions for additional scope
exception for certain type of variable interests. Application of FIN 46R is required in financial statements
of public entities that have interests in VIEs or potential VIEs commonly referred 1o as special-purpose
entities for period ending after December 15, 2003. Application by public entities (other than small
business issuers) for all other types of entities is required in financial statements for periods ending after
March 15, 2004. The Company does not believe that the adoption of FIN 46R will have any effect on the
Company's consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force reached a final consensus on Issue
No. 00-21. “Accounting for Revenue arrangements with Multipie Deliverables”, which is effective for
revenue arrangements enlered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Under the EITF 00-21,
revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables are required to be divided into separate units of
accounting under certain circumstances. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a material cffect on the
Company's consolidated financial statements. ' '

In December 2003, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition”,
which updates the guidance in SAB No. 101, integrates the related set of Frequently Asked Questions,
and recognizes the role of EITF 00-21. The adoption of SAB No. 104 did not have a material effect on
the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

As of December 31, 2003, our Credit Facility was comprised of $529.9 million in secured loans and
$6.9 million of accrued interest. We raised net proceeds of $197.6 million in January 2004, and applied
these proceeds to the outstanding balance of the Credst Facility, reducing the total amount outstanding
from $536 8 million to $339.2 million. Currently, we do not pay cash interest on the Credit Facility and
accrued interest converts to principal ratably throughout the loan period. As interest accrues at variable
rates, our Credit Facility subjects us to interest rate risks. Interest rate risk as of December 31, 2003 is
illustrated 1n the following table (dollars in millions).

Annual Interest Expense Given an Ne Change Annual Interest Expense Given
Interest Rate decrease of in Interest an Interest Rate increase of
X Basis Points Rates X Basis Points
Interest Rate Risk (150 BP’'S) (100 BPS) (50 BPS)  Fair Value 50 BPS 100 BPS 150 BPS
Credit Facility $206 $223 $240 $257 $27 4 $29 1 $308

The sensitivity analysis provides only a limited, point in time view of the market risk sensitivity of the
loans under our Credit Facility. The actual impact of market interest rate changes may differ significantly
from those shown in the above sensitivity analysis.

Marketable securities, available for sale, at December 31, 2003 consist primarily of investments in
equity and debt securities of publicly traded companies. The fair value of our investment in equity and
debt securities exposes us to market risk. These investments are subject to changes in the market price of
the securities. The table that follows summarizes the fair values of our marketable securities and provides
a sensitivity analysis of the estimated fair value of these financial instruments assuming a 5%, 10% and
15% increase or decrease in market price (dollars in millions).

Fair value assuming the Neo Change Fair value assuming the
following percentage in following percentage
increase in equity price Fair Value decrease in equity price
Market Risk 15% 10% 5% 0% 5% 10% 15%
Market price ..... . e e $35.8  $379  $400 $42.1 $442 $463  $484

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements are filed under this Item, beginning on page F-1 of this Report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On September 24, 2003, we notified our independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP that our Audit
Commuttee of our Board of Directors had decided to change auditors. On September 30, 2003, the Audit
Committee of XO’s Board of Directors appointed KPMG LLP to serve as its new independent auditors for
the year ending December 31, 2003. The change was effective immediately. Ernst & Young LLP’s report
on XO's consolidated financial statements as of and for the vear ended December 31, 2002 did not contain
an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor was it qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope
or accounting principles. During the fiscal year ending December 31, 2002, there were: (i) no
disagreements with Ernst & Young on any matter of accounting principle or practice, financial statement
disclosure or auditing scope or procedure which, if not resolved to Ernst & Young's satisfaction, would
have caused them to make reference to the subject matter in connection with their report on our financial
statements for such years; and (i1) there were no reportable events as defined in Ttem 304(a) (1) (v) of
Regulation S-K.

During each of the years ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001 and through the date of
their appointment, we did not consult KPMG LLP with respect to the application of accounting principles
to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be
rendered on our consolidated financial statements, or any other matters or reportable events listed in Ttems
304(a)(2) (1) and (i1) of Regulation S-K.
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On May 15, 2002, we dismissed our independent auditors, Arthur Andersen LLP, and appointed
Ernst & Young LLP to serve as our new independent auditors for the year ending December 31. 2002.
Our Board of Directors approved this decision. We filed a current report on Form 8-K with the
Commission on May 16, 2002, which included a notification that the change was effective on May 13,
2002. Arthur Andersen’s report on the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2001 included an explanatory paragraph that discussed the substantial doubt concerning our
ability 10 continue as a going concern During the fiscal year ending December 31, 2001, there were:
(i) no disagreements with Arthur Andersen on any matter of accounting principle or practice, financial
statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure which, if not resolved to Arthur Andersen’s
satisfaction, would have caused them to make reference to the subject matter in connection with their
report on our financial statements for such vears; and (ii) there were no reportable events as defined in
Ttem 304(a) (1) (v) of Regulation S-K.

During the year ending December 31, 2001 and through the date of their appointment, we did not
consult Ernst & Young with respect to the application of accounting principles 1o a specified transaction,
either completed or proposed. or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on our financial
statements, or any other matters or reportable events as set forth in Items 304(a) (2) (i) and (ii) of
Regulation S-K.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The term disclosure controls and procedures is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These rules refer to the controls and other procedures of a company that
are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within required time periods.
Our Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the
evaluation they have concluded that, as of the end of such period the controls and procedures were
effective at ensuring that required information was disclosed on a timely basis in our report filed under the
Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

We maintain a system of internal accounting controls that are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that our books and records accurately reflect our transactions and that our established policies
and procedures are followed. For the year ended December 31, 2003, there were no changes to our internal
controls or in other factors that could significantly affect our internal controls over financial reporting.

PART 111

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this Ttem is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy
statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 27, 2004 to be filed with the
SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our 2003 fiscal year.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics within the meaning of Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K. This Code
of Ethics applies to our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer and principal accounting
officer, as well as all other employees. This Code of Ethics 1s publicly available on our website at
www.xo com. If we make substantive amendments to this Code of Ethics or grant any waiver, including
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any implicit waiver, we will disclose the nature of such amendment or waiver on our website or in a report
on Form 8-K within five days of such amendment or waiver.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our Board of Directors has determined Vincent J Intrieni is an “audit committee financial expert” as
defined under Item 401 (h) of Regulation S-K. The Board of Directors has based its determination on the
fact the Mr Intrien is a certified public accountant, and was a partner at the Arthur Andersen accounting
firm,

Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information provided
under the heading “Executive Compensation™ of our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information required by this Item with respect to Securnities Authorized for Issuance under Equity
Compensation Plans is incorporated herein by reference from the information provided in the proposal to
approve the amendment of our Directors’ Stock Option Plan under the heading “Equity Compensation
Plan” of our Proxy Statement.

Information required by this Item with respect 1o Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management is incorporated herein by reference from the information provided under the heading *“Stock
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” of our Proxy Statement.

Ttem 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Various entities controlled by Mr. Icahn hold the following interests in XO:

Qutstanding Series A, B and C Credit

Common Stock Warrants Facility
At December 31, 2003 Greater than 80%  Greater than 40%  Greater than 90%
At January 31, 2004 . Greater than 60% Grcalcr.lhan 40%  Greater than 90%

In addition, entities controlled by Mr. lIcahn have acquired an option to purchase 6.25 million
additional shares of our common stock from Franklin Mutual Advisors, LLC at a strike price of $4.25 per
share which expires June 21, 2004. After closing the Rights Offering in January 2004, Mr. Icahn’s
ownership interest in our outstanding common stock was reduced to over 60%

As a result of his majority ownership, Mr. Icahn can elect all of our directors, appoint the members
of the committees of our Board of Directors, appoint key members of our executive management team,
and appoint our auditors. Currently, Mr. Icahn is Chairman of our Board of Directors and three employees
of Icahn Associates sit on our Board of Directors and various Committees of the Board of Directors.
Under applicable law and our Certificate of Incorporation and by-laws, certain action cannot be taken
without the approval of holders of a majonty of our voting stock, including, without limitation, mergers,
acquisitions, the sale of substantially all our assets, and amendments to our Certificate of Incorporation
and by-laws.

Mr. Icahn, through various entities that he owns or controls, has the right to require us to register,
under the Securities Act of 1933, shares of New Common Stock held by such entities and to include
shares of our New Common Stock held by them in certain registration statements filed by us, pursuant to
a Registration Rights Agreement approved by the Bankruptcy Court in connection with XO Parent’s
Chapter 11 proceedings.

In February 2003, Dixon Properties, LLC (“Dixon™), which is controlled by Mr. Icahn, acquired
ownership of the building in which our headquarters is located in a transaction that was approved by the
Bankruptcy Courl. We currently lease approximately 170,000 square feet of space in that building.
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Pursuant to the assumed lease agreement, we have paid $3.3 million in lease expense to Dixon for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and we are obligated to pay approximately $15.6 million to Dixon through the
expiration of the initial term of the lease, which is November 30, 2007.

We have entered into a Tax Allocation Agreement, dated January 16, 2003, between us and Starfire
Holding Corporation, the parent entity of the affiliated group of corporations controlled by Mr. Icahn. We
and Starfire intend 1o file consolidated returns during the period in which Mr. Tcahn’s ownership of XO is
equal 1o or greater than 80%, as required by the Internal Revenue Code The Tax Allocation Agreement
provides that Starfire will pay all consolidated federal income taxes on behalf of the Tcahn consolidated
group that includes us, and we will make payments to Starfire in an amount equal to the tax lability, if
any, that it would have incurred if it were to file its own consolidated return separate and apart from
Starfire. Upon the closing of the Rights Offering in January 2004, Mr. Icahn’s ownership percentage fell
below 80%. Consequently we will no longer file as part of Icahn’s consolidated group after January 2004.
Upon deconsolidation, the Tax Allocation Agreement generally provides that Starfire will reimburse us
each vear going forward for the excess of our actual income tax expense over the income tax that would
have been owed if the net operating losses or other tax atiributes used in prior periods by the Starfire
consolidated group excluding us, if any, were still available to us.

The Company provides certain telecommunications services 1o companies affiliated with Mr. Icahn.
For the year ended December 31, 2003, the total revenue recognized on such services affiliated with
Mr. Tcahn was approximately $0.4 million. We have purchased approximately $0.3 million 1n services from
Icahn affiliates during 2003. During 2003, we purchased approximately $1.1 million in hardware and
services from Dell Computers, Inc. Mr. Adam Dell, an XO director, is Mr. Michael Dell’s, the Chief
Executive Officer of Dell Computers, brother.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information with respect to fees paid to our principal accountant and our audit committee’s pre-
approval policies and procedures are incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement to be filed
pursuant to Regulation 14A.



PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) (1) and (2) Financial Statements and Schedule:

XO Communications, Inc.

Report of KPMG LLP, Independent Auditors. ....... ... .. F-1
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors ............ ... ... ......... F-2
Report of Arthur Andersen LLP, Independent Public Accountants ............... ... F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 ... ................ F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002,

2001 and for the portion of January 1, 2003........ ... ... .. ... .. ... ... F-5
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the Years Ended

December 31, 2003, 2002, 2001 and for the portion of January 1, 2003........ ..... F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002,

2001 and for the portion of January 1, 2003...... ... .. ... . .. . it e F-8
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements .......... ... ... ... .. . ... .o, F-9
Schedule 11 — Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . .................... S-1

(3) List of Exhibits — Refer 10 Exhibit Index, which 1s incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

1.

On October 7, 2003. XO filed a Current Report on Form 8-K disclosing the announcement
by XO of preliminary financial results for the third quarter of 2003.

. On October 16, 2003, XO filed a Current Report on Form 8-K disclosing the announcement

by XO that XO commenced as of such date the first stage of a two stage nights offering of
between 40,000,000 and 43,333,333 shares of XO common stock pursuant to XO's
Chapter 11 reorganization that was confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court on November 15.
2002.

On November 19, 2003, XO filed a Current Report on Form 8-K disclosing the
announcement by XO that XO received approximately $162.5 million in paid subscriptions
for approximately 32 5 million shares of its common stock in the initial stage of its rights
offering that concluded on November 14, 2003.

. On November 25, 2003, XO filed a Current Report on Form 8-K disclosing the correction of

certain erroneous administrative entries recorded by an external service provider 1n
connection with XO’s rights offering.

. On December 8, 2003, XO filed a Current Report on Form 8-K disclosing the announcement

by XO that it commenced the second stage of 1ts rights offering as of such date in which XO
would offer rights to purchase approximately 7.8 mullion shares of its new common stock.

On December 16, 2003, XO filed a Current Report on Form 8-K disclosing the
announcement by XO that it received $192.0 million in value, consisting of $164.8 million in
cash and $27 2 million of Global Crossing common stock (based on the closing price of $33
per share of Global Crossing common stock as of December 12, 2003), in exchange for the
$158.5 million XO Communications paid lo acquire approximately 34% of pre-petition senior
debt of Global Crossing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant {o the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

XO Communications, Inc.

Date: March 15, 2004 By. /s/  CarL J. GRIVNER

Carl J. Grivner
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below on March 15, 2004 by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities
indicated:

Name Title
/s/  CarL J. GRIVNER President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Carl J. Grivner Executive Officer)
/s/  WAYNE M. REUBERGER Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Wayne M. Rehberger {Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
- Officer)
/s/ CARL C. ICAHN Chairman of the Board of Directors

Carl C. Tcahn

/s/  ANDREW R. COnEN Director
Andrew R. Cohen

/s/  AbpaM DELL Director
Adam Dell
/s/ VINCENT J. INTRIERI Director

Vincent J. Intrieri

/s/  KEITH MEISTER Director
Keith Meister
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Third Amended Plan of Reorganization of XO Communications, Inc., dated July 22, 2002,
(Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.1 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K/A of
XO Communications, Inc., filed on November 26, 2002).

Plan Supplement, dated October 23, 2003, to the Third Amended Plan of Reorganization of XO
Communications, Inc., dated July 22, 2002 (Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.2 filed
with the Current Report on Form 8-K/A of XO Communications, Inc., filed on November 26,
2002).

Order Confirming Third Amended Plan of Reorganization, dated November 15, 2002
(Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 99 1 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K/A
of XO Commumcalnons Inc., filed on November 26, 2002).

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 18, 2004, by and among XO Commumcatlom
Inc., Allegiance Telecom_ Inc, and Allegiance Telecom Company Worldwide (Incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K of XO
Communications, Inc. filed on February 24, 2004).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of XO Communications, Inc (Incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 3.1 filed with the Registration Statement on Form 8-A of XO
Communications, Inc., filed on February 7, 2003, pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of XO Communications, Inc.

Form of Stock Certificate of New Common Stock (Incorperated heremn by reference to
exhibit 4.1 filed with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO Communications. Inc. for the year
ended December 31, 2002, filed on March 21, 2003).

Series A Warrant Agreement. dated as of January 16, 2003, by and between XO
Communications, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company (Incorporated herein by
reference to exhibit 10.1 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K of XO Communications,
Inc., filed on January 30, 2003).

Scries B Warrant Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2003, by and between XO
Communications, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company (Incorporated herein by
reference to exmbit 10.2 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K of XO Commumc'mons
Inc., filed on January 30, 2003).

Series C Warrant Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2003, by and between XO
Communications, Inc and Amerncan Stock Transfer & Trust Company (Incorporated herein by
reference to exhibit 10 3 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K of XO Communications,
Inc., filed on January 30, 2003). :

XO Communications, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to
exhibit 10.1.]1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO Communications, Inc. for the year
ended December 31, 2002, filed on March 21, 2003).

XO Communications, Inc. Retention Bonus and Incentive Plan (Incorporated herein by reference
to exhibit 0.1 2 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO Communications, Inc. for the year
ended December 31, 2002, filed on March 21, 2003).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2003, between XO Communications, Inc.
and High River Limited Partnership and Meadow Walk Limited Partnership (Incorporated herein
by reference to exhibit 10.4 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K of XO Communications,

Inc., filed on January 30, 2003).

Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2003, between XO Communications, Inc. and
Starfire Holding Corporation (Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.5 filed with the
Current Report on Form 8-K of XO Communications, Inc., filed on January 30, 2003).

Employment Term Sheet, dated as of April 30, 2003, delivered by XO Communications, Inc. to
Carl J. Grivner, President and Chief Executive Officer of XO Communications, Inc.
{Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 filed with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
of XO Communications, Inc. for the three months ended March 31, 2003, filed on May 15,
2003).
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Change in Control Agreement by and between XO Communications, Inc. and Carl J. Grivner,
President and Chief Executive Officer of XO Communications, Inc. (Incorporated herein by
reference to exhibit 10.2 filed with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of XO Communications,
Inc. for the three months ended March 31, 2003, filed on May 15, 2003).

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 3. 2000, by and between Nathaniel A. Davis and
NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. (predecessor to XO Communications, Inc ) (Incorporated
herein by relerence to exhibit 10.11 filed with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of NEXTLINK
Communications, Inc. and NEXTLINK Capital, Inc., for the year ended December 31, 1999,
filed on March 30, 2000.)

Employment Agreement by and between John Jacquay and XO Communications, Inc. dated as
of November 20, 2002.

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 20, 1999, by and between Gary Begeman and
XO Communications, Inc.

Employment Agreement, effective as of September 23, 2000, by and between Wayne M.
Rehberger and XO Communications, Inc.

Cost Sharing and TRU Agreement, dated July 18, 1998, between Level 3 Communications, LLC
and XO Intercity Holdings No. 2. LLC (f/k/a INTERNEXT LLC) (Incorporated herein by
reference 1o exhibit 10.8 filed with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended September 30, 1998 of NEXTLINK Communications, Inc. and NEXTLINK Capital,
Inc., filed on November 16, 1998).

Master Agreement, dated August 8, 2002, between Level 3 Communications, Inc. and XO
Communications, Inc. (Tncorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.4.2 filed with the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of XO Communications, Inc for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed
on March 21, 2003).

Amended and Restated Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2003, among
XO Communications, Inc., certain subsidiaries of XO Communications, Inc., the Lenders party
thereto from time to time, and Mizuho Corporate Bank, as Administrative Agent (Incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 10.5 filed with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of XO
Communications, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed on March 21, 2003).

XO Communications, Inc. Code of Ethics

Letter from Arthur Andersen LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission, dated May 15,
2002 (Incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 16 filed with the Current Report on Form 8-K
of XO Communications Inc. filed on May 16, 2002).

Subsidiaries of XO Communications, Inc.

Consent of KPMG LLP

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

Notice Regarding Lack of Consent of Arthur Andersen

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant 10 Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Secunties Exchange Act, as amended.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Secunties Exchange Act, as amended.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.



REPORT OF KPMG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
XO Communications, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of XO Communications, Inc. and
subsidiarics as of December 31, 2003 (Reorganized XOY), and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the periods from January 1, 2003 to December 31, 2003
{Reorganized XO period) and for the portion of January 1, 2003, related to the Predecessor’s
reorganization gamn (Predecessor XO period). In connection with our audit of the Reorganized XO 2003
consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the 2003 financial statement schedule as listed in
the accompanying index. These financial statements and the financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits. The 200! consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule of Predecessor XO, as listed in the accompanying index, were
audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. Those auditors’ report, dated February 6, 2002, on
those financial statements and financial statement schedule was unqualified, before the restatement
described in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, and included an explanatory paragraph that
discussed the substantial doubt about Predecessor XO’s ability to continue as a going concern.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a lest basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Reorganized XO 2003 consolidated financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of XO Communications, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the Reorganized XO period
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Further, in
our opinion, the Predecessor XO 2003 consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the results of their operations and their cash flows for the portion of January 1, 2003
related to the Predecessor’s reorganization gain in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related 2003 financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed above, the 2001 consolidated financial statements of XO Communications, Inc. as listed
in the accompanying index, were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in
Note 5(d), those consolidated financial statements have been restated to conform to Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4. 44, and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections”, which was adopted on January 1,
2003. We audited the adjustments described in Note 5(d) that were applied to restate the 2001
consolidated financial statements. In our opinion. such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly
applied. However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 consolidated
financial statements of XO Communications, Inc. other than with respect to such adjustments, and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the 2001 consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole.

As discussed in Notes 1, 2, and 3, 1o the consolidated financial statements, on January 16, 2003, XO
Communications, Inc. emerged from bankruptcy. The consolidated financial statements of Reorganized
XO reflect the impact of adjustments to reflect the fair value of assets and liabilities under fresh start
reporting, which was applied effective January 1, 2003. As a result, the consolidated financial statements of
Reorganized XO are presented on a different basis than those of Predecessor XO and therefore, are not
comparable in all respects.

/s/ KPMG LLP

McLean, VA
March 8, 2004
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors of XO Communications, Tnc..

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of XO Communications, Inc. (the
“Company™) as of December 31, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity (deficit) and cash flows for the year then ended. Our audit also included the financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
and schedule based on our audit. The consolidated financial statements and schedule of the Company for
the year ended December 31, 2001, were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations, and whose
report dated February 6, 2002, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements
and schedule before the restatement adjustments described in Note 5 and included an explanatory
paragraph that discussed the substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2002 financial statcments referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of XO Communications, Inc. at December 31, 2002, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets”.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 16, 2003, the
Comnipany was reorganized under a plan of reorganization confirmed by the United States Bankruptey
Court for the Southern District of New York. In connection with itls reorganization, the Company will
apply fresh start accounting in the first quarter of 2003.

As discussed above, the financial statements of XO Communications, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2001 were audited by other auditors who have ceased operations. As described in Note 5,
these financial statements have been revised to include the transitional disclosures required by Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which was adopted by
the Company as of January 1, 2002. Our audit procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 6 with
respect to 2001 included (a) agreeing the previously reported net loss to the previously issued financial
statements and the adjustments to reported net loss representing amortization expense recognized in those
periods related to goodwill and intangible assets that are no longer being amortized to the Company's
underlying records obtained from management, and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of the
reconciliation of adjusted net loss to reported net loss, and the related loss-per-share amounts. In our
opinion, the disclosures for 2001 in Note 6 are appropriate. However, we were not engaged to audit,
review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 financial statements of the Company other than with respect
to such disclosures and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance on the 2001
financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
February 28, 2003



The following report is a copy of a report previously issued by Arthur Andersen LLP (“Andersen”),
whose report has not been reissued by Andersen. Certain financial information in the period ended
December 31, 2001, was not reviewed by Andersen and includes additional disclosures to conform with
new accounting pronouncements and SEC rules and regulations issued during such fiscal year, see
Item 1, Business, for discussion of risks.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Stockholders of XO Communications, Inc :

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of XO Communications, Inc. (“XO
Parent,” a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (collectively the “Company™) as of December 31, 2001
and 2000. and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equily and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally aceepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all matenal
respects, the financial position of XO Communications, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and
2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company
will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note | to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company has incurred recurring operating losses and negative cash flows from operating activities, has
defaulted on its debt obligations and has begun to implement a proposed recapitalization that contemplates
XO Parent filing a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code.
These matters, among others, raise-substantial doubt about the Company’s ability 1o continue as a going
concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also descnibed in Note 1. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and
classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might otherwise
be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as
a whole. The schedule listed in the index of financial statements is presented for purposes of complying
with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and is not part of the basic financial statements.
This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures apphied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and, in our opinion, fairly states, in all material respects, the financial data required to be set
forth therein in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Vienna, VA
February 6, 2002



XO Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Dollars in thousands, except for share and per share data)

Reorganized XO  Predecessor XO

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents .. .o . . .o $ 478560 .| $ 314.038
Marketable sccurities 42,052 246,945
Accounts receivable, net of dllo“dncc for doublfu] accounts of $32, 966 and $£37, 030 at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respecuively .. .. 93,958 116,541
Other current assets . .. R R 12,421 83,480
Total current assets . R L . . 626,991 761.004
Property and equipment, net . e e 485,984 2,780,589
Broudband wircless hicenses and othcr intangibles, net . . . 109,515 984.614
Other assets, net . . . R . . . . . . 42,675 59,289
Total assets . .o . - . AU $1,265,165 $ 4.585.496
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current habilities
Accounts payable .. .. [, . $ 63,064 $ 63.729
Accrued habilities . . .. . . 208,353 266,102
Current habilities subject to compromne .. . S .. — 5,497.207
Total current habilities .. . . . .. . 271,417 5,827,038
Long-term debt and accrued interest pa\able . . 336,791 —
Other long-term liabilities . .. . 76,332 —
Long-term habilities not subject to compromlsc . . — 75.242
Long-term habilities subject to compromisc . Lo . — 7.182
Total Labilitics . 884,740 5,909.462

Predecessor XO redeemuble prcfcrred slock par \’1]un, $0 01 pcr slnrc 2\ 000 000 sh.ires
authorized 7,856,918 shares 1ssued and outstanding, aggregate llqulddtlon preference of
$1.693,293, sub_]cct to compronuse . . . — 1,708,316

Commitments and contingencies Slockho]dcm equity (deticit)

Rcorganized XO prcfcrred stock par value $0 01 per share, 200,000,000 shares
authonzed. none 1ssued .. — -

Reorganized XO warrants and common stock, par v’iluc $001 pcr share, 1 000 000 000
shares authorized 96,274,140 and 95,000,001 shares 1ssued and oulstdndmg on

December 31, 2003 and January 1, 2003, respectvely 482,440 —
Reorganized X0 subscription rights excrcised, 32,503,234 shares dlllhOl'lZCd nonc issued

and outstanding . 162,516 —
Reorganized XO subscnptlon rlghts rcccnablc 32, 303 234 shares authorized nonc

issued and outstanding . (162,516) —

Predecessor XO common stock, par value $0 02 pur <h.jrc Class A, 1,000, 000 000 shdrcs
authornized, 331,033,219 shares issued and outsldndmg. CL{SS B, 1’0 000, 000 shares

authorized, 104,423,158 shares issued and outstanding . — 4,628,139
Deferred compensation . . . . . . (839) (8,500)
Accumulated other comprchcml\c mecome . .. 1.378 2,512
Accumulated deficit . . . (102,554) (7,654.433)

Total stockholders’ equity (deticit) . . .. .. . 380.425 (3,032,282)

Total liabilittes and stockholders™ equity (deficit) . . $1.265.165 $ 4.585.496

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

F-4



XO Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Dollars in thousands, except for share and per share data)

Revenue
Costs and C\pemes
Cost of service (excludes depreciation and amortization)
Selling, operating and gencral
Depreciation and amortization
Restructuring and asset write-downs. .

Total costs and cxpenses . .. ..
lLoss from operations
Investment income (loss). nct

Interest expense, net (contractu: al interest was S"\Ol 118 for

the vear ended December 31, 2002)
Gain on repurchase of debt
Reorganization gamn (cxpense). net
Net (loss) mcomc before cumulative effect of
accounting change . .
Cumulative eﬂecl of dccountmﬂ cham.e

Net (loss) income . .

Recognition of preferred stock mOdlﬁCdllon fee, net —
rcorganization item

Gain on repurchases of preferred <loek net

Preferred stock dividends and accretion of preferred stock
redemption obhgation, net (contractnal dividend was
$98,768 for the vear ended December 31, 2002) . .

Net (loss) income applicable to common sharcs

Net (loss) mcome per common share, basic and diluted
Net (loss) mcome before cumulative cflect of

accounting change . .
Cumulative effect of 1cc0unt1nn chdnzc

Net (loss) income . .

Reccognition of preferred stock modlﬁc.mon fee, nel -
reorganization 1tcm

Gain on repurchascs of prcfcrrcd slox.k ncl

Preferred stock dividends and accretion of prefcrrcd stock
redemption obligation, net .

Net (loss) income per common share, basic and diluted ...

Weighted average shares, basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to ¢

Reorgamzed XO

Predecessor XO

Year Ended Predecessor XO Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, January 1, December 31,  December 31,
2003 2003 2002 2001
$ 1,110.483 $ — § 12598353 § 1,258.567
422,129 — 322924 527,698
679,286 — 765,853 1,008,887
109.308 —_ 699,806 1.162,671
11,618 — 480,168 509,202
1,222,341 — 2,468,751 3,208,458
(111.858) — (1,208,898) (1.949.891)
46.152 — 16,278 (15,843)
(36,848) — (226,451) (465,401)
— — — 345,010
— 3,032,282 (91,121) —
(102.554) 3,032,282 (1,510,192) (2,086,125)
— — (1.876,626) —
(102,554) 3,032,282 (3,386.818) (2,086,123)
— — 78,703 —
— — —_ 376.879
— — 42,247) (129.671)
$ (102.554) | § 3.032.282 § (3.350,362) $ (1.838917)
S (107) | $ 68 .$ (342) $ (516)
— — (424) —
(107) 6 86 (7 66) (516)
— — 018 —
— — — 093
— — (010) (032)
$ (1.07) | $ 686 S (7.58) § (455)
95.632,859 441,964,342 441.964,342 403,882,956

onsolidated financial statements.
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X0 Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Predecessor Company

Balauce at December 21, 2000
Issuance of common and restricted stock
m acquisitions
Issuance of compensatory stock options
Compensanon atinbutable o stock
options and restricted stock vesting
Issuance of common stock through
employee benefit plans
Conversion of Class B common stock
mto Class A common stock
Conversion of 6% redeemuable
cumulauve preferred stock nto
Class A common stock
Issuance of common stock related to
equity investment net of offcring costs
Coniprebensive loss
Net loss
Gan on rcpurchascs of preferred
slock, net
Preferred stock dividends and
accrcuon of preferred stock
redcmption obligation, net
Other comprehensive mcome — net
unrcalized holding guins and foreign
currency translation adjustments
Re:ihized net losses transferred o
current period earnings

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2001

Compensation atinbutable to stock
options and restricted stock vesting
Issuance of common stock through
cmployee beaefit plans
Conversion of 6%% redeemable
cumulauve preferred stock nto
Class A common stock
Conversion of Preferred Stock
Refund of Employee Stock Purchase
Plan funds withheld after
cancellation (a}
Cancellauon of Craig McCaw’s Class A
common stock
Comprehensive loss
Net loss
Recogriuon of preferred stock
modificauion fee, net -
reorganizaton 1em
Preferred stock dmnadends and
accretion of preferred stock
redempuon obligation. net
Realized net losses and foreign
currency translation adjustments
transferred Lo current
pened earnings

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2002
Cancellation of predecessor common
sock, deferred compensation,
accumulated deficit and
accumulated other comprehensive
mncome under Plan of
Reorganization

Balance at January 1. 2003

(a) In the latter half of 2001, the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan was cancelled, however employce salary deferrals continued 1n

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Commeon Stack Other
- Comprehensive \
Shares Deferred Income Accumulated
Class A Class B Amount Compensation (Loss) Deticit Total
262010713 105414226 § 4,392,646 $(72,050) $(17,041) $(2.465.154) $ 1.838.401
11 211,416 — 29,088 — — — 29,055
— — 2.551 (2,551) — —
— — — 37172 — — 37,173
11,939,685 — 30.899 — — — 30.899
991.068 (991.068) — - — - —
1,621.320 — 17.700 — — — 17,700
50 000,000 — 153,658 — — — 155,658
— — — - — (2.086.125)  (2.086.125)
_ _ — — — 376.879 376.879
— — — — — (129.671) (129.671)
- — — — 22,556 — 22,556
— — — — 4.891 — 4,891
— — — — — — (1.811.470)
327,774,204 104,423,158  § 4.628,509 $(37.428) $ 10,406 $(4304,071) § 297.416
— — — 28,928 — — 28,928
85 854 — 24 - — — 24
3173 — 35 - — — 35
23.570 — — — — -—_ —_
— (429) — — — (429)
(6.853,582) — - — — — —
— — - — — (3.3586.818) (3.386.818)
— — — — — 78,703 78 703
— — — — — (42,247) (42,247)
— — — — (7 894) — (7.894)
— — — — — — (3,358.236)
321,033,219 104 423,158 4,628,139 (8.500) 2,812 (7.654,433) (3.032,282)
(331,033.219)  (104.423,158) (4.628,139) 8.500 (2.512) 7654,433 3,032,282
— — 3 - 3 = $  — 3 — 3 —

December 2001, and were subsequently refunded in early 2002

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Reorganized Company
Balance at January 1, 2003
Issuance of common stock
under Plan of
Reorganization

Rights offering

Issuance of common stock
through employee benefit
plans. net

Comprehensive ltoss

Net loss

Other comprehensive income
- unrcuhzed holding gans
ansing dunng the year

Total conmprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2003

XO Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

S N Accumulated
Subscription Rights Other
Common Stock Excraised Subscaption Recenable Deferred Accumulated  Comprehensive
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount  Compensation Deticnt Income Total
-5 - -5 = - - 5 — s - $ — s —
95.000,001  475.000 — — — — - — — 475000
— — 32503234 162.516 (32,503.234) (162,516) — — — —
1.274.139 7.440 — — — — (839) — — 6601
—_ — — — — — — (102.534) — (102,554)
- - - —_ - — — — 1.378 1.378
- = —_ —_ —_ - — — — (101 176)
96.274 140 $482.440 32,503 234 8162516 (32503 234) $(162.516) $1.378

$(839)

$(102 554)

See accompanying notes 1o consolidated financial statements.
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XO Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Dollars in thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Nct (loss) income .

Adjustments to reconcile net (Ioss) incomc to net cash
provided by (used in) opecrating activitics
Depreciation and amortization .

Accrual of interest

Stock-based compensation ..

Non-cash gain on sale of investments .

Non-cash restructuring charges and asset write- downs
Non-cash rcorganization expense, net. ..

Other income, gam on rcpurchases of debt, net
Cumulative eflcct of accounting change ..

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from
acquisitions
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued habilities
Other habilities subject to compromme
Other habilities not subject to compronuse

Net cash provided by (used 1n) operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Caprtal cxpenditures, net

Net releases of pledged sccuritics

Sales of marketable sccurities and mvestments .
Purchascs of markctable securitiecs and investments .. .
Cash recerved from (paid for) divestitures (acquisitions) .

Net cash provided by (used ) investing activities . ..

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from borrowings under senior secured credit
facility and 1ssuance of notes

Nect proceeds from sale of common stock and modification
of preferred stock agreement .

Proceeds from 1ssuance of common stock under meloycc
benelit plans

Repurchases of scnior notes and redeemable prcfcrrcd stock

Repayments of caprtal lease and other obhgations . .
Dmvidends paid on convertible preferred stock .
Costs incurred 1 connection with financing activities

Net cash (used i) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash .

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Reorganized XO

Predecessor XO

l)\ei.:‘:nll-;:g gdl, l’r?l(:iellc::?;rl:‘(() Year Ended December 31,
2003 2003 2002 2001
$(102,554) $ 3,032,282 $(3,386,818) $(2,086,125)
109,308 — 699,806 1,162,671
36,791 — — —
708 — 28,928 . 37.173
(27.224) — — —
6,765 — 477.250 598,541
— (3,032,282) 89,448 —_
— — — (345,010)
— — 1,876.626 —
22,583 —_ 85,514 (43,254)
1,317 —_ (21,572) (66.366)
(7,568) — —_ —
(33,825) — — —
. — 195,904 —
— — (27,484) 181,693
6,301 — 17,602 (560.877)
(82.346) — (208,713) (1,554,752)
— — 3,161 150
473,423 — 364,069 2,912,454
(238.041) — (103,935) (2,041,247)
— — 3.000 (25.203)
153,036 — 57,582 (708,598)
— —_ — 1,142,500
— — — 248,657
6,452 — — 30,899
— — - (290.307)
(1,267) — (6,079) (44,124)
— — — (53,778)
—_ — — (14,200)
5,185 — (6,079) 1,019,647
— — (1,256) 3,013
164,522 — 67,849 (246.815)
114,038 314,038 246,189 493,004
S 478,560 $ 314038 $ 314038 § 246,189
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XO Communications, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Overview

XO Communications Inc., a Delaware corporation (“XO Parent™), through its subsidiaries, owns and
operates an integrated metropolitan and nationwide fiber optic network that provides broadband
communication services, local and long distance voice communication services and a wide array of data
and integrated data services 1o business customers in many United States markets. Voice services include
local and long distance services, calling card and interactive voice response systems. Data services include
Internet access, private data networking and hosting services. XO Parent, through 1ts subsidiaries, also
offers integraled combined voice and data services in flat rate “bundled™ packages.

Organization

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and activities of XO Parent, and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Company” or “X0O™). As further discussed in Note 2, on
June 17, 2002 (the “Petition Date™). XO Parent filed a voluntary petition for relicf under Chapter 11 of
the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code™) with the United States Bankruptcy Court
for the Southern District of New York (the “Bankruptcy Court”) On January 16, 2003 (the “Effective
Date”), XO Parent emerged from the Bankruptcy Court proceedings pursuant to the terms of its third
amended plan of reorganization (the “‘Plan of Reorganization”). Accordingly, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Statement of Position 90-7,
“Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code,” (“SOP 90-7"). As
discussed in Note 3, the Company implemented fresh start accounting under the provisions of SOP 90-7.
Under the fresh start accounting provisions of SOP 90-7, the fair value of the reorganized Company was
allocated to its assets and liabilities, and its accumulated deficit was eliminated. Predecessor financial
statements are not comparable to the financial statements of the Reorganized Company.

On February 19, 2004, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York
approved the Asset Purchase Agreement by and between XO Parent and Allegiance Telecom, Inc., or
Allegiance, pursuant to which XO Parent has agreed to acquire substantially all of the assets of Allegiance
for approximately $311.0 million in cash and approximately 45.4 million shares of XO’s common stock.
XO anticipates that the acquisition of the Allegiance assets will close during the third quarter of 2004 See
Note 22 for additional disclosure. '

2. REORGANIZATION

On the Effective Date, XO Parent consummated 1ts Plan of Reorganization and emerged from its
Chapter 11 reorganization proceedings with a significantly restructured balance sheet. The consummation
of the Plan of Reorganization resulted in the following changes in XO Parent’s capital structure:

» The conversion of $1.0 billion of loans under 1ts pre-petition secured credit facility nto
$500.0 million of outstanding principal amount under an amended and restated credit
agreement (the “Credit Facility”);

+ The extinguishment of all amounts due under its pre-petition unsecured senior and
subordinated notes and certain general unsecured obligations;

» The cancellation of all outstanding shares and interests in its pre-petition preferred stock and
pre-petition common stock: and

F-9



» The issuance of approximately 95.0 million shares of common stock of the reorganized
Company (“New Common Stock™) and warrants to purchase up to an additional 23.75 million
shares of New Common Stock of the reorganized Company.

The following table shows the distribution each party of interest impacted by XO Parent’s bankruptcy
was entitled to As certain claims are still being reviewed by the Bankruptcy Court, proportional
distributions have not yet been made and cannot be made until the court rules (dollars in thousands
except share data).

Shares of New

Common Series A Series B Series C Credit
-Party of Interest Stock Warrants  Warrants  Warrants Facility Cash
$1 Billion sentor sccured credit facihty . Lo 90,250,001 — — —  $500000 $§ —
Senior unsecured notes . 4,715.344 9.430.689 7.073,015 7073015 — 1,600
Subordinated notes — — — — — 616
General unsccured creditors . 34,656 69,309 51,980 51,980 — 403
Total entitlement . . 95,000,001 9,499,998 7,124,995 7,124,995  $500,000 $2,619
Not yet distrnbuted .. 1,230,638 2.461,743 1,846,151 1,846,151 — 1,612
Total 1ssued or paid . 93,769,363 7,038,255 5278844 5278844  $£500,000 $1.007

See notes 13 and 14 for further disclosure on our equity and debt instruments

In accordance with the Plan of Reorganization, XO Parent issued to certain holders of claims of
interest in XO Parent, who held such claims and/or interests as of the November 15, 2002 record date,
rights to subscribe for up to 40.0 million shares of New Common Stock, at $5.00 per share, through a
rights offering, (the “Rights Offering”). The first stage of the Rights Offering closed on November 14,
2003 whereby $162.5 million in cash for 32.5 million shares was placed into escrow until the conclusion of
the second stage. On January 5, 2004, XO Parent concluded the second stage of its Rights Offering. An
aggregate of 39.7 mullion shares were issued in the offering, yielding net proceeds of $197.6 million. These
proceeds were used to pay down the Credit Facility. The following unaudited pro forma information shows
the impact to XO’s historical balance sheet as of December 31, 2003 as a result of these transactions
(dollars in thousands):

Rights Pro forma

December 31, Offering December 31,

2003 Adjustments 2003

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Long-term debt . . . $ 536,791 $(197.612) $ 339,179
Total habilities . . 884,740 (197.612) 687,128
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 380,425 197,612 578.037
Total liabilities and stockholders® equity (deficit) $1.265,165 $ —_ $1,265,165

3. FRESH START ACCOUNTING

The Company adopted the fresh start accounting provisions (“fresh start™) of SOP 90-7 during the
first quarter of 2003. Under SOP 90-7, the implementation of fresh start reporting 1s triggered in part by
the emergence of XO Parent from its Chapter 11 proceedings. Although the Effective Date of the Plan of
Reorganization was January 16, 2003, due to the immateriality of the results of operations for the period
between January 1, 2003 and the Effective Date, the Company accounted for the consummation of the
Plan of Reorganization as if it had occurred on January I, 2003 and implemented fresh start reporting as
of that date. Fresh start requires that the Company adjust the historical cost of its assets and liabilities to
their fair value. The fair value of the reorganized Company. or the reorganization value, of approximately
$1.3 billion was determined based on the negotiated sum of the reorganized Company's habilities and
equity that were issued and outstanding after final negotiations and Bankruptcy Court approval. Thesc
included $500 O million of debt outstanding under the Credit Agreement, $475.0 million of New Common
Stock, and $373.1 million of other liabilities that were not eliminated or discharged under the Plan of
Reorganization.
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Fresh start requires that the reorganization value be allocated to the entity’s net assets in conformity
with procedures specified by SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” (“SFAS No. 141°"). The
Company engaged an independent appraiser to assist in the allocation of the reorganization value to the
reorganized Company’s asscts and liabilities by determining the fair market value of its property and
equipment, intangible assets and certain obligations related to its facility leases. A reconciliation of the
adjustments to be recorded in connection with effecting the Plan of Reorganization and adopting fresh
start accounting is presented below (dollars in thousands):

Predecessor XO Fresh Start Reorganized XO
December 31, 2002  Reorganization  ‘Adjustments(d) January 1, 2003

ASSETS
Current assets. .
Cash and cash cquivalents ) $ 314.038 $ — $ — $ 314.038
Marketable sccurttics . 246.945 — — 246,945
Accounts receivable, net . 116.541 — — . 116,541
Other current assets . . 83.480 — (48.288) 35,192
Total current assets . 761,004 — (48.288) 712,716
Property and cquipment, net . . 2,780,589 — (2,304.001) 476,588
Broadband wircless licenses and other intangibles,
nel . 984.614 — (848.936) 135.678
Other assets, net . . . 59.289 — (36.181) 23,108
Total assets . . $ 4,585,496 $ — $(3,237,406) $1.348,090
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS®
(DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current hiabilities
Accounts payable . $ 63.729 $ — $ 3,539 $ 67,268
Accrued habilities 266.102 — (30,910) 235,192
Current habilitics subject to compromise 5.497.207 (5,466.667) (2) (30,540) -
Total current hahihities 5.827,038 (5,466.667) (57.911) 302,460
Long-term debt — . — 500.000 (b) — 500,000
Other long-term habihtics . 75.242 —_ (4,612) 70,630
Long-term habilities subject to compromise 7.182 — (7.182) . —
Total liabilitics 5.909,462 (4,966.667) (69,705) 873,090
Predecessor XO redeemable preferred stock — '
subject 1o compromise 1,708,316 (1,708.316) (a) — —
Stockholders™ (defient) equity
Predecessor XO common stock 4,628,139 —_ (4.628.139) —
Reorgamized XO common stock and warrants — 475.000 (c) —_ 475.000
Deferred compensation . . (8.500) — 8,500 —
Accumulated other comprehensive income 2512 — (2.512) —
Accumulated deficit . (7,654,433) ) 6,199,983 (c) 1.454,450 —
Total stockholders’ (defict) equity . (3.032,282) 6,674,983 (3.167,701) (¢) 475,000
Total habihties and stockholders ,
(deficit) equity. . $ 4.585,496 $ — $(3.237,406) $1,348,090

(a) To record the discharge of pre-petution indebtedaess. including a $1 0 billion credut facility, $4 2 billion of senior und converuble subordinated notes,
$245 2 nulhon of accrued intercst. and the chiminauon of $1 7 billon of pre-petiuon redeemable preferred stock and $30 6 millon of accrucd
dividends, all 1n accordance with the Plan of Reorgunization

(b) To record the outstanding principal under the Credit Agreement. in accordance with the Plan of Reorganization

(c) To record the 1ssuance of 950 million shares of New Common Stock and warrants 1n accordance with the Plan of Reorgamzation Participation
the Rights Offering was recorded 1n the first quarter of 2004

(d} To adjust the carrying value of assets. habiliiies and stockholders” equity to fair value. 1n accordance with fresh start
(e} Net reorgamzaton gain on January I. 2003 consisted of the following (dollars in thousands)

Net gain resulting from reorgamzaton of debt, preferred stock and equity $ 6.199.983
Net loss resulting from fresh start farr value adjusiments to assets and (3,167.701)
Iabilitzes

Total reorganization gain, net $ 3.032,282
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4. ACCOUNTING IMPACT OF CHAPTER 11 FILING

Liabilities subject 1o compromise reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for
Predecessor XO and the XO Parent stand-alone financial statements represent the liabilities of XO Parent
incurred prior to the Petition Date. In accordance with SOP 90-7, liabilities subject to compromise were
recorded at the amount allowed on pre-petition claims in the Chapter 11 proceedings. Other obligations
that were not subject to compromise retained their historical balance sheet classifications and amounts.
Liabilities subject to comproniise consisted of the following as of December 31, 2002 (dollars in
thousands):

Long-term debt . .o $5.165,718
Accrued interest and preferred stock dividends . . 295,820
Pre-pctitton accounts payable and accrued habihties . . 33.640
Capntal lease obligations . . 9.211
Total hiabilities subject to compromise . . 5,504,389
Less long-term habihities subject to compromisc . . . 7,182

Current habilities subject to compromise . . $5.497.207

In order to record its debt instruments at the amount allowed by the Bankruptcy Court in accordance
with SOP 90-7, as of the Petition Date, XO Parent wrote off all of its debt issuance costs and discounts
related to debt (collectively the “*Deferred Financing Fees”) as a component of reorganization expense.
Reorganization expense also included professional fees incurred mn connection with the Chapter 11
proceedings, as well as gains or penalties from the settlement or rejection of liabilities subject to
compromise and the net gains from the investment termination payment received as a settlement during
the bankruptcy process Reorganization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 consisted of the
following (dollars 1n thousands):

Net loss from the scttlement or rejection of habtlities subject to compronuse . I S 14916
Net gan from mnvestment termination payment . N (16.667)
Deferred Financing Fees . . 56,270
Professional fees . . . 36.602
Total reorganization expense. nct . . $oLa2l

Under SOP 90-7, XO Parent was required to accrue interest expense during the Chapter 11
proceedings only to the extent that such interest was expected to be paid pursuant to the proceedings.
Under the Plan of Reorganization, there were no cash payments of interest on the loans outstanding under
the $1.0 billion pre-petition credit facility or XO Parent’s unsecured notes. Therefore, XO Parent ceased
accruing interest on the pre-petition credit facility and on 1ts unsecured notes from the Petition Date
through the Effective Date.

In accordance with SOP 90-7, XO Puarent recorded its preferred stock at the amount allowed by the
Bankruptcy Court. Accordingly, as of the Petition Date, XO Parent recognized a gain equal 1o the
remaining $81.5 million unamortized balance of a deferred modification fee and wrote off all issuance costs
and discounts related to its preferred stock, which resulted in a charge of $2.8 mullion. In addition, the
Company stopped accruing preferred stock dividends subsequent to the Petition Date.
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XO Parent Stand-Alone Financial Statements

In accordance with SOP 90-7, stand-alone financial statements of XO Parent are presented below.
Such financial statements have been prepared using standards consistent with the Company’s consolidated
financial statements without eliminating intercompany transactions and without consolidating controlled
subsidiaries (dollars in thousands).

XO Communications, Inc.
(XO Parent)
Debtor in Possession
Stand-Alone Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2002

(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets.
Pledged securities ........ e e e e e $ 1,100
Other current assets ..... .. e e e . Ceee e 66,764
Total current assets .. . ... . - e 67,864
Property and equipment. net . e e Ceee e 65.654
Broadband wireless licenses, net . e e e e el 67.039
Other intangibles, net ... . . L 79,711
Investment in and notes recel\able from SUbS]dIdnCS net . . L. e e 8.542,749
Other assets, net ... ...... . e e e e e il 43.638
Total assets . R . .. o L. $ 8,866,655
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities not subject to compromse . . e e $ 50,422
Debt and accrued interest payable to subsuhan ﬁubjcu to compromise .. ....  ...... 620,389
Current liabilities subject to compromise .... ........ . oicciiee el 5,497.207
Total current liabilities .. .. .. R . . A 6,168,018
Long-term liabilities not subject to compronuse . ..... e e e 62,633
Long-term liabilities subject to compromise... ... ..... R e e 7.182
Total habilines . .... . . ... . L. 6,237,833
Redeemable preferred stock held by and pavable to a subsidiary subject to compromise ... 514,640
Redeemable preferred stock subject to compromise  ..... . e 1,708,316
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock e e e e e e 4,628,139
Deferred compensation ... .. o e e e (8.149)
Accumulated deficit . .. . T R (4,214,124)
Total stockholders’ equity .. . ...... e e e e e 405.866
Total labilities and stockholders’ equity  ....... ......... e e . $ 8,866,655



XO Communications, Inc.
(XO Parent)
Debtor in Possession
Stand-Alone Statement of Operations
(Unaudited)

Revenue
Costs and expenses

Sclling, operating, and general (excludes stock based compensation)

Stock-based compensation .
Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses

Loss from operations

Reorganization expense, net . ...
[nterest income on notes receivable from subsidianes
Interest expense ...

Net income

Recognition of preferred stock modification fee. net - reorganization item

Net income applicable to common shares

X0 Communications, Inc.
(XO Parent)
Debtor in Possession
Stand-Alone Statement of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income

Adjustments for non-cash items.
Depreciation and amortization. ...  ......

Reorganization expense

Stock-based compensation

Interest income on notes receivable from subsidianes ... ..
Interest expense
Changes in assets and lhabilnies:

Notes receivable from subsidiaries. net

Net cash used in operating activities . ..
Net increase (decrease) 1n cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

Period from the
Petition Date of June
17, 2002 through
December 31, 2002

$ R—

75,000
' 12,352
_ 47,584
134,936
(134,936)
(91,121)
286,202
o (3468)
. 56.677
78,703

—_—
$ 135,380

Period From the
Petition Date of
June 17, 2002
through
December 31, 2002

$ 56.677

47,584
91.121
12,352
(286,202)
3,468

75,000



5. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
{a) Review of Significant Accounting Policies

As discussed in Note 3, the Company adopted fresh start as of January [, 2003, creating, in
substance, per SOP 90-7, a new reporting entity The reorganized Company has adopted the policy of
expensing customer installation costs and internal labor directly associated with network construction in the
period in which the costs are incurred as this labor effort is not specific to any large segregated project, but
rather 1o ordinary course business operations. The predecessor Company capitalized and amortized-these
costs. In accordance with SOP 90-7, the reorganized Company was also requircd to implement newly
issued accounting pronouncements that would require adoption within twelve months of applying fresh
start. ’ .

(b) Principles of Consolidation I

The Company's consolidated financial statements include all of the assets, habilities and results of
operations of subsidiaries 1n which the Company has a controlling interest. All inter-company accounts and
transactions among consolidated entities have been eliminated.

{¢c) Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Management periodically assesses the accuracy of these estimates and assumptions.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts in order to conform to the current
year presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on net loss or total stockholders’ equity.

{d) Adoption of SFAS No 145

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statements No 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and
Technical Corrections as of April 2002 (“SFAS No. 145™), which eliminates the requirement to report .
material gains or losses from debt extinguishments as an extraordinary item, net of any applicable income
tax effect, in an entity’s statement of operations. SFAS No. 145 instead requires that a gain or loss
recognized from a debt extinguishment be classified as an extraordinary item only when the
extinguishment meets the criteria of both “unusual in nature™ and “infrequent in occurrence” as prescribed
under APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of
a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions” (“APB No. 30"). Upon adopting SFAS No. 145, the Company reclassified a 2001
$345.0 million gain from debt repurchases from extraordinary to recurring.

{e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less 4t the
time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of money market accounts that
are available on demand. The carrying amount of these instruments approximates fair value due 10 their
short maturities.

(f) Marketable Securities '

Substantially all of the Company’s marketable securities currently consist of investments in publicly
traded companies. The Company classifies investments 1n equity securities as available-for-sale and records
such investments at fair value. The fair values are based on quoted market prices. Investments 1n debt

|
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securities are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value, as the debt trades in a thin markét. -
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale marketable securnties are reported as a separate
component of comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses for available-for-sale securities are,
recognized 1n mvestment income. '

(g) Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets include property and equipment, broadband wireless licenses, and intangible -assets
to be held and used. Long-lived assets, excluding intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount should be
addressed pursuant 1o SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived. Assets,’
(“SFAS No. 144™). The criteria for determining impairment for such long-lived assets to be held and
used is determined by comparing the carrying value of these long-lived assets to management’s best
estimate of future undiscounted cash flows expected 1o result from the use of the assets. The Company
believes that no impairment existed under SFAS No. 144 as of December 31, 2003. Tn the event that
there are changes in the planned use of the Company’s long-lived assets or 1ts expected future '
undiscounted cash flows are reduced significantly, the Company’s assessment of its ability to recover the
carrying value of these assets under SFAS No. 144 could change.

’

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually during the fourth
quarter, or more frequently if an event indicates that the asset might be impaired in accordance with
SFAS No. 142, "*Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The Company believes that there was no
impairment of its intangible assets with indefinite useful lives as of December 31, 2003.

(h) Property and Equipment :

Property and equipment acquired prior to December 31, 2002 is stated at its fair value at January I,
2003, as required by fresh start. Additions to property and equipment during 2003 are stated at cost.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets beginning in
the month telecommunications networks and acquired bandwidth are substantially complete and available
for use and in the month equipment and furniture are acquired. Telecommunications networks and
bandwidth include the deployment of fiber optic cable and telecommunications hardware and software for
the expressed purpose of delivering telecommunications services. Costs of additions and improvements are
capitalized, and repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Direct external costs of
constructing property and equipment are capitalized including interest costs related to construction! The
reorganized Company has adopted the policy of expensing internal labor directly associated with network
construction in the period in which the costs are incurred as this labor effort is not specific to any large
segregated project. oo

Equipment held under capital leases is stated at the lower of the fair value of the asset or the net
present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease. For equipment held under
capilal leases, depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated
useful lives of the leased assets or the related lease term.

The estimated useful] lives of property and equipment are as follows:

Telecommunications networks and acquired bandwadth . 3-20 years '
Furniture, fixtures, equipment, and other . 5-7 vears ) '
Lcaschold improvements . the shorter of the estimated or the

terms of the leases useful lives
t

Thesc useful lives are determined based on historical usage with consideration given to technological
changes and trends in the industry, which could impact the network architecturc and asset utilization.
Accordingly, in making this assessment, the Company considers its planned use of the assets, the views of
experts within the Company and outside sources regarding the impact of technological advances and trends
in the industry on the value and useful lives of its network assets. The Company periodically evaluates the
estimated useful lives used to depreciate its assets. While the Company believes its estimate of useful hives
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are reasonable, significant differences in actual expericnce or significant changes in assumptions may affect
future depreciation expenses.

(i) Broadband Wireless Licenses and Other Intangibles

Broadband wireless licenses were stated at their fair values at January 1, 2003, as required by fresh
start. The reorganized Company is amortizing these licenses over an estimated useful life of 10 years based
on the 1nitial license term granted by the Federal Communications Commission. Amortization commences
when commercial service using broadband wireless technology is deployed in the license’s geographic area.

Other intangibles of the Company are valued at fair value as required by the provisions of fresh start
and SFAS No. 141 and consist of customer relationships, mternally developed technology and XO’s trade
name. The customer relationships and internally developed technology are being amortized using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of three years. The XO trade name was determined
to have an indefinite life Accordingly, it is not subject to amortization.

{(j) Goodwill

Goodwill consisted primarily of goodwill from the Concentric merger. Effective January 1, 2002, the
Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142"). The
Company performed the required transitional impairment tests of goodwill as of January 1, 2002, and
determined that the goodwill was totally impaired. Accordingly, in the first quarter of 2002 the Company
recognized a $1,876.6 million charge as a cumulative effect of accounting change to write ofl all of its
goodwill,

(k) Other Assels

Other assets consist primarily of escrow and security deposits and pledged securities. The escrow and
security deposits and pledged securitlies are stated at cost, and their fair value approximates their carrying
value.

(1) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No 109,
“*Accounting for Income Taxes,” (“SFAS No. 109”) which requires that deferred income taxes are
determined based on the estimated future tax effects of differences between the financial statement and tax
bases of assets and liabilities given the provisions of the enacted tax laws Valuation allowances aré used to
reduce deferred tax assets to the amount considered likely to be realized. The provisions of SFAS No 109
have been applied as if the Company were a separate tax payer.

{m) Revenue Recognition -

Revenues from telecommunications services are recognized when the services are performed, evidence
of an arrangement exists, the fee is fixed and determinable and collectibility is probable. Tn circumstances
when these criteria are not met, revenue recognition is deferred until resolution occurs.

Service discounts and incentives related to telecommunication services are recorded as a reduction of
revenue when granted or ratably over a contract period. Fees billed in connection with service installations
and other non-recurring charges are deferred and recognized ratably over the estimated customer life.

The Company establishes allowances for collection of doubtful accounts and other sales credit
adjustments. Allowances for sales credits are established through a charge to revenue, while allowances for
doubtful accounts are established through a charge to selling, operating and general expense. The °
Company assesses the adequacy of these reserves monthly by considering general factors, such as the
length of time individual receivables are past due, historical collection experience, the economic and
competlitive environment, and changes in the creditworthiness of its customers. The Company believes that

the established valuation allowances were adequate as of December 31, 2003. If circumstances relating to
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specific customers change or economic conditions worsen such that the Company's past collection
experience and assessment of the economic environment are no longer relevant, XO's estimate of the
recoverability of its trade receivables could be further reduced.

Revenue from the sale or lease of unlit network capacity is recognized upon consummation of the
transaction and the acquirer’s acceptance of the capacity in instances when the Company receives upfront
cash payments and is contractually obligated to transfer title to the specified capacity at the end of the .
contract term. If the transaction does not meet these criteria. revenue 1s recognized ratably over the
contract term. There were no sales of unlit capacity during the reported periods whereby revenue was
recognized “up front” upon consummation of the transaction. '

(n) Cost of Service

Cost of service includes expenses directly associated with providing telecommunications services 1o
customers, including, among other items, the cost of connecting customers to the Company’s networks via
leased facilities, the costs of leasing components of our network facilities and costs paid to third party
providers for interconnect access and transport services. All such costs are expensed as incurred. The
Company accrues for the expected costs of services received from third party telecommunications providers
during the period the services are rendered. Invoices received from the third party telecommunications
providers are often disputed due to billing discrepancies. The Company accrucs for all invoiced amounts,
even amounts in dispute, as these amounts represent contingent liabilities that are considered probable and
measurable. Disputes resolved in the Company’s favor may reduce cost of service in the period the dispute
is scttled and typically reflect costs paid in the prior periods. Because the period of time required to resolve
these types of disputes often lapses over several quarters, the benefits associated with the favorable
resolution of such disputes normally are realized in periods subsequent 1o the accrual of the disputed
invoice.

fo) Net Income {Loss) Per Share

Net income (loss) per common share, basic and diluted, is computed by dividing net income
(loss) applicable to common shares by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
the period. In periods of net loss, the assumed common share equivalents for options and warrants'are
anti-dilutive. .

(p) Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No, 148,
*Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure,” (“SFAS No. 148”). This
statement amends SFAS No. [23, **Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS No. 123), to
provide for alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, this statement amends the disclosure
provisions of SFAS No. 123 and APB No 28, “Interim Financial Reporting,” (“APB No. 28") 1o require
disclosure in the summary of significant accounting policies of the effects of an entity’s accounting policy
with respect to stock-based employee compensation on reporied net income and earnings per share in
annual and interim financial statements.

As allowed by SFAS No. 148, the Company has chosen to continue to account for compensation cost
associated with jts employee stock plan in accordance with the intrinsic value method prescribed by APB
No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” (*“APB No. 25") adopting the disclosure-only
provisions of SFAS No. 123. Under this method, no compensation expense is recorded 1f stock options are
granted at an exercise price equal 10 or greater than the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the
grant date. If the Company had adopted the fair value method of accounting for its stock awards, stock-
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based compensation would have been determined based on the fair value for all stock awards at thc grant
date using a Black-Scholes pricing model and the following weighted average assumptions:

Reorganized XO  Predecessor XO  Predecessor XO

2003 2002 2001
Expected volatility 75 0% 125 0% 125.0%
Risk frce mterest rate 26% 40% 4 3%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0 0% 00%
Expected hife (range in ycars) 4.0 40 40
Fair value per share at grant date $295 50l $ 5.10

The Company’s pro forma net loss applicable to common shares, and pro forma net loss per common
share, basic and diluted, 1f the Company had used the fair value method would have been as follow
(dollars in thousands, except per share data):

Reorganized XO Predecessor XO Predecessor XO
Deeember 31, 2003 December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001

Net loss applicable to common shares, as reported $(102.354) $(3.350,362) $(1.838,917)

Add- Stock-based employce compensation expense
included 10 net loss apphicable to common shares,
as reported . . . 708 28.928 37,173

Deduct Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determuned under fair value based methods
for all stock awards, net of related tax effects . (16,189} (1.462) (44.138)

Pro forma net loss . $(118.035) $(3,322,896) $(1,845,882)

Net loss per common share. basic and diluted

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted - .
as reported e e $  (1.07) $ (7.58) $ (455)

Net loss per common share. basic and diluted -
pro forma . . ) $  (123) $ (7.52) $ (437)

{q) Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss includes the Company’s net loss applicable to common shares, as well as net
unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investments and, for any periods prior to the second
quarter of 2002, forcign currency translation adjuslmcnts relating to the Company’s European operations,
which were dlsposcd of in February 2002.

{r) Concentration of Credit Risk

Other financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk
consist primarily of trade receivables. Although the Company’s trade receivables are geographically
dispersed and include customers in many different industries, a portion of the Company’s revenue is
generated from services provided to other telecommunications service providers. Several of these
companies have filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code while others have
experienced business downturns. The Company believes that its established valuation and credit aﬂowances
are adequate to cover these risks.

(s) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosure about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (“SFAS No. 107), requires
disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, for which it 1s practicable (o esumate the
value. The carrying amounts for the majority of the Company’s financial instruments classified as current
assets and liabilities approximate their fair value due to their short maturities. Marketable securities are
recorded at fair value. Amounts outstanding under long-term debt agreements approximate their emmated
fair values as they accrue interest at rates that are variable every 3-6 months.

F-19



(1} Recent Accounting Pronouncenients

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, (“FASB™) issued SFAS No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” (*SFAS No. 143”), which requires an entity to recognize
the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which a legal or contractual
removal obligation is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. If a reasonable estimate
of fair value cannot be made in the period the asset retirement obligation is incurred, SFAS No. 143
requires the liability to be recognized when a reasonable estimate of the fair value can be made. As
required by SOP 90-7, we implemented SFAS No. 143 on January 1, 2003, in conjunction with the
implementation of fresh start and recorded an estimated asset retirement obligation of $12.0 million, as
disclosed in Note 12. -

Effective January 1, 2003. the Company adopted SFAS No. 146, **Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS No. 146"), which requires that costs, including severance costs,
associated with exit or disposal activities be recorded at their fair value when a liability has been incurred.
Under previous guidance, certain exit costs, including severance costs, were accrued upon managements’
commitment 10 an exit plan, which is generally before an actual liability has been incurred. The adoption
of SFAS No. 146 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, *Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activitics,” (“SFAS No. 149”), which amends and clarifies accounting for
derivative instruments, including ccrtain derivative instruments embedded 1n other contracts, and for
hedging activities under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified
after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS
No. 149 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statcments.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,” (“SFAS No. 150™), which establishes standards for how
companies classify and measure certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities ‘and
equity. It requires companies 1o classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability;(or an
asset in some circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective beginning with the second quarter of fiscal 2003.
The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a4 material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest I
Entities,” an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements”
(*“FIN 467). FIN 46 applies to any business enterprise that has a controlling interest, contractual -
relationship or other business relationship with a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and establishes guidance
for the consolidation of VIEs that function to support the activities of the primary beneficiary. In .
December 2003, the FASB completed its deliberations regarding the proposed modification to FIN 46 and
issued Interpretation Number 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities-an Interpretation of ARB
No. 51" (*FIN 46R™). The decision reached included a deferral of the effective date and provisions for
additional scope exception for certain type of variable interests. Application of FIN 46R is required in
financial statements of public entities that have interests in VIEs or potential VIEs commonly referred to
as special-purpose entities for period ending after December 15, 2003. Application by public entities (other
than small business issuers) for all other types of entities is required in financial statements for periods
ending after March 15, 2004. The Company does not believe that the adoption of FIN 46R will hd\’C any
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force reached a final consensus on Tssue
No. 00-21. “Accounting for Revenue arrungements with Multiple Deliverables™ (“EITF 00-21"), which 1s
effective for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Under the
EITF 00-21, revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables are required to be divided into separate units
of accounting under certain circumstances. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have a material cﬁecl on
the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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In December 2003, the SEC issued Stafl Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition”,
which updates the guidance in SAB No. 101, integrates the related set of Frequently Asked Questions,
and recognizes the role of EITF 00-21. The adoption of SAB No. 104 did not have a material effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements. '

6.  CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ACCOUNTING CHANGE

Effective January |, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142 and performed the required
transitional impairment tests of goodwill, and determined that the value of its goodwill was totally
impaired Accordingly, in the first quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a $1,876.6 million charge as a
cumulative effect of accounting change to write-off all of its goodwill. The adjusted net loss and related
earnings per share before cumulative effect of accounting change for the year ended December 31, 2001
compared. to the actual results for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 1s as follows (dollars in
thousands, except per share data):

Reorganized XO Predecessor XO
2003 2002 2001

Reported net loss before cumulative effect of accounting change $(102.,554) $(1,510,192) $(2,086,125)
Goodwill amortization . . — — 395,601
Adjusted net loss before cumulative effect of accounting change $(102,554) (1.510,192)  (1,490.524)
Net loss per common share before cumulative effect of accounting change,

basic and dituted
Reported nct loss before cumulative cffect of accounting change $  (1.07) $ (342) § (516)
Goodwill amortization . .o . — — ! 147
Adjusted net loss per common share before cumulative effect of

accounting change, basic and diluted L Lo $  (107) $ (342) §$ (369)

7. RESTRUCTURING CHARGES AND ASSET WRITE-DOWNS

During 2003, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $11.6 million from the reduction of its
work force by approximately 550 employees, primarily employed in network operations, sales and
marketing and information technology and estimated losses associated with restructured leases. During the
second half of 2001, and the first half of 2002, the Company implemented a plan to restructure certain of
its business operations. The restructuring plan included divesting its European operations and reducing the
Company’s discretionary spending, capital expenditures and workforce based on its assessment at that time
of current and expected future market conditions.

As of December 31, 2003, the remaining restructuring accrual was $60.0 million, which relates
primarily to payments due to landlords on exited leased facilities. The restructuring accrual has decreased
from $79 0 million as of December 31, 2002, due to $17.2 mllion in payments associated with exited
leased facilities and $40.3 million of non-cash reductions made in conjunction with the Company’s
implementation of fresh start 1o reflect the December 31, 2002 accrual at its estimated net present value
offset by a $26.8 million increase from reorganization adjustments.

8. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):

Reorganized XO  Predecessor X0
December 31, December 31,

2003 2002
Investments 1n equity and debt secuntics . . $42.052 $' -
U S. Government and agency notes and bonds . — 246.945
$42,052 $246,945




The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and fair value of the invesiment securities
available-for-sale as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

* Gross
Gross Unrealized
Unrealized Holding
Fair Value  Cost Basis  Holding Gains \Losses
As of December 31, 2003
Equity sccunties . . $ 30,041 $ 28.663 $3,001 $(1.623)
Debt sccurnties . 12,001 12.011 —
Total marketable secunties . . S 42,052 $ 40.674 $3,001 $(1.623)

As of December 31, 2002
U.S. Governments and agency notes and bonds $246,945 $244.433 $2,

ta
[
o
>
|

Debt securities as of December 31, 2003 mature in 2007.

9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following components (dollars in thousands):
Reorganized XO  Predecessor XO

December 31, December 31,

2003 2002
Telecommunications networks and acquired bandwidth $407,747 $2.920,819
Furniture, fixtures, equipment, and other . . 77,783 656.994
485.530 3,577,813
Less accumulated depreciation 79,501 1.165,216
406,029 2.412,597
Network construction-in-progress. . . 79.955 367,992
$485,984 $2,780.589

As discussed in Note 3, the Company applied fresh start on January 1, 2003. Accordingly its property
and equipment as of January 1, 2003, were recorded at fair value which resulted in a significant write
down of property and equipment and a reduction in the associated depreciation expense in 2003. During
2003, 2002 and 2001, depreciation expense was $83.1 million, $598.5 million and $447 O million,
respectively. During 2003, 2002 and 2001 the Company capitalized interest on construction costs of
$3.0 million, $11.1 million, and $51.6 million, respectively. Assets classified as construction-in-progress are
not being depreciated as they are not currently ready for their intended use.
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10. BROADBAND WIRELESS LICENSES AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

Broadband wireless licenses and other intangible assets consisted of the following (dollars in
thousands): '
Reorganized XO  Predecessor XO

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002

Broadband wircless licenses . $ 39,508 $ 997942
Customer relationships . . . 49,987 123,745
Internally developed technology . . . 9.521 ' —
Acquired technology . . . . — 130.515
Other . — 35413
119.016 1,287,615

Less accumulated amortization .o (26,163) (303,001)
92,853 984.614
XO Trade name — indefimite hfe asset . . 16.662 . —
$109,515 $ 984,614

As discussed in Note 3, the Company applied fresh start on January 1, 2003. Accordingly its
broadband wireless licenses and other intangibles as of January 1, 2003, were recorded at fair value which
resulted in a significant write down of broadband wireless licenses and other intangibles and a reduction in
the associated amortization expense in 2003. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001 was $26 2 million, $101.3 million and $715.7 million, respectively. Broadband wireless
licenses are amortized when commercial service using the wireless technology is deployed in the license’s
geographic area. As of December 31, 2003, approximately $23.5 million of broadband wireless licenses are
not being amortized as commercial services have not been deployed in the license’s geographic area.
Estimated amortization expense for the next five years 1s $26.1 million, $26.1 million, $6.3 million,
$6.3 million and $4.4 million, respectively.

11. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following components (dollars in thousands):
Reorganized XO  Predecessor XO

December 31, December 31,

2003 2002 -

Accrued taxes . . $ I49.046 $ 37.649
Accrued compensation . . 46,124 58,551
Accrued operative expenses 27837 27.807
Deferred income . . 26.011 37,109
Accrued telecommunications costs . 19,491 28,494
Accrued restructuning . . 20,046 I16,364
Other accrucd habilities . . . 19,798 '40‘128
$208,353 $266.102

12.  ACCOUNTING FOR ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Company leases Internet data center facilities and various technical sites. Terminating and
decommissioning these locations would require the removal of any XO assets and restoration of the leased
space to 1ts original condition. Accordingly, upon adoption of SFAS No. 143, the Company recorded an
estimated assct retirement obligation of $12 0 million, which was estimated using management’s best
estimate of the expected cash flows. The present value of the assel retirement obligation was calculated
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using a discount rate of 8.0% over a period of 5-20 years, which is representative of the estimated
remaining period XO will occupy its data centers and technical facilities. Accretion expense of $0.8 million
for 2003 is included in selling, operating and general expense in the accompanying consolidated statement
of operations.

13. LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company has a secured Credit Facility which matures on July 15, 2009. There are no additional
borrowings available under the Credit Facility. There are no current debt service requirements since cash
interest payments as well as automatic and permanent quarterly reductions on the principal amoum
outstanding do not commence until 2009. However, in the event that consolidated excess cash flow (as
defined in the Credit Facility) for any fiscal quarter during the term of the agreement is greater than
$25 million, at the request of the lender, the Company will pay an amount equal to 50% of such excess
cash flow greater than $25 million toward the reduction of outstanding indebtedness. In addition, if the
ratio of XO's consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization to interest expense
for the four consecutive quarters exceeds 4:1, XO would be required to pay cash interest, unless waived by
the lenders.

The security for the Credit Facility consists of all assets of XO Parent, including the stock of its
direct and indirect subsidiaries, and all assets of virtually all of those subsidiaries. The Credit Facility
limits additional indebtedness, liens, dividend payments and certain investments and transactions, and
contains certain covenants with respect to EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization) requirements and maximum capital expenditures. The Company was in compliance with
these covenants at December 31, 2003. The Company 1s also required to maintain an unrestricted cash
balance of $45 million at December 31, 2003, and $25 nullion at the end of each fiscal quarter thereafter
during the term

At December 31, 2003, long-term debt of $529 9 million was outstanding on the Credit Facility and
$6.9 million of accrued interest that if not paid, converts to principal. Al December 31, 2003, more than
90% of the underlying loans of the Credit Facility are held by an entity controlled by Mr. Carl C. Icahn,
Chairman of the board of directors (**Mr. Icahn”). As discussed above, the Company is not required to
pay cash interest accrued on the principal amount under the Credit Facility until it meets certain financial
ratios; however the Company can elect to begin paying interest in cash prior to the required date. Loans
under the Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, at an alternate base rate, as defined, or a
Eurodollar rate, plus in each case, applicable margins. Once the Company begins to pay accrued interest
in cash, the applicable margins are reduced. At December 31, 2003, the annualized weighted average
interest rate applicable to outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility was 7.57%. '

14. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation that was adopted in connection with the Plan
of Reorganization. the Company has the authority to issue 1,000.0 million shares of New Common Stock
and 200 0 mullion shares of new undesignated preferred stock. As of December 31, 2003, approximately
96.3 million sharcs of New Common Stock had been issued, more than 80% of which were owned by
entities controlled by Mr. Icahn. -

As discussed in Note 2, XO Parent’s pre-petition senior note holders and pre-petition general
unsecured creditors were entitled to, among other consideration, warrants to purchase shares up lo an
additional 23.75 million shares of New Common Stock.

The warrants consist of:

+ Series A Warrants to purchase 9.5 million shares of New Common Stock at an exercise price of
$6.25 per share;

 Scries B Warrants to purchase approximately 7.1 million shares of New Common Slock at an
exercise price of $7 50 per share: and
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» Series C Warrants 1o purchase approximately 7.1 million shares of New Common Stock at an
exercise price of $10.00 per share.

The warrants were valued at approximately $44 9 million using a Black Scholes model at the Effective
Date and are included 1n reorganized XO’s common stock in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet. The warrants will expire 7 years after the date of issuance. The exercise price applicable to each
respective series of warrants is subject to adjustment 1n certain events. Entities controlled by Mr Tcahn
own approximately 40% of these warrants as they owned pre-petition senior notes. '

In addition to the outstanding warrants discussed above, the Company has a stock option plan that
can further dilute investors if exercised. This stock option plan is discussed further in Note 16. On
December 31, 2003, there were 2.4 million exercisable stock options.

15. INCOME TAXES

As of December 31, 2003, XO had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1.0 billion. All
of XO's net operating loss and a substantial amount of XO's capital loss carryforward generated prior to
the Bankruptcy Effective Date have been reduced as a result of the discharge and cancellation of various
pre-petition liabilities. XO’s use of the surviving capital loss carryforward ol $0.2 billion is subject to
limitations imposed under the ownership change rules in the U.S. Tnternal Revenue Code. Also, the
utilization of the expected tax benefit from property and equipment depreciation could also be impacted by
the ownership change rules of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code.

XO will join with the affiliated group of corporations controlled by Mr. Icahn in filing a consolidated
federal income tax return for the vear ended December 31, 2003. Tn January 2004, Mr. Icahn’s ownership
percentage fell below the amount required by the Internal Revenue Code for the filing of consolidated
returns. As such, in January 2004, XO deconsolidated with Starfire Holding Corporation (“Starfire™), the
Parent entity of the affiliated group of corporations controlled by Mr. Tcahn. XO cntered nto a Tax
Allocation Agreement with Starfire which provides that while XO files on a consolidated basis with
Starfire, Starfire will pay all consolidated federal income taxes on behalf of the consolidated group that
includes XO, and XO will make payments to Starfire in an amount equal to the tax liability, if any, that it
would have if it were to file as a consolidated group separate and apart from Starfire. Upon
deconsolidation, the Tax Allocation Agreement generally provides that Starfire will reimburse XO each
year going forward for the excess of XO's actual income taxes over the income tax that would have been
required if NOLs or other tax attributes used by the Starfire consolidated group excluding XO, 1f any,
were available to XO.
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Components of deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (dollars in thousands)
Reorganized XO  Predecessor XO

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002

Deferred tax assets

Provisions not currently deductible . $ 172,368 $ 123,280

Property, equipment and other long-term assets (net) L 893,957 367,208

Net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards 483,453 1,.863.336
Total deferred tax assets . R . 1,549,778 2,353,824
Valuation allowance . . (1.540,612) (2,028.331)
Net deferred tax assets . . 9.166 325,493
Deferred tax habilitics

Property, equipment and other long-term assets (net) . — (101,402)

Other identifiable intangibles . (15,997) (222,537)

Other . . . — (1,554)
Total deferred tax habilities . . . (15,997) (325.493)
Net deferred tax hability . . . $  (6.831) 3 —

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal and state tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as
follows:
Reorganized  Predecessor

P

2003 2002
Statutory U S federal rate .. . 35 0% 350%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit . . 6 0% 6 0%
Valuatton allowance for deferred tax assets .. . (41 0%) (18 3%)
Other identifiable mtangibles — (227%)
Eilective Income tax rate —% ' T

16. STOCK COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS ,

The XO Communications, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan™) was
adopted upon the Effective Date. Under the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, the Company is authorized to
issue awards for up to 17.6 million shares of New Common Stock in the form of restricted stock or
options to purchase stock. The 2002 Stock Incentive Plan is administered by the Compensation,
Commiittee of the Company’s Board of Directors, which has the discretionary authority to determine all
matters relating to awards of stock options and restricted stock, including the selection of eligible
participants, the number of shares of common stock to be subject to each option or restricted stock award,
the excrcise price of each option, vesting, and all other terms and conditions of awards. Unless the
Compensation Committee designates otherwise, all options expire on the earlier of (i) ten years after the
date of grant, (ii) twelve months after termination of employment with XO due to death or complete and
permanent disability, (iii) immediately upon termination of employment by XO for cause, or (1v) three
months after termination of employment by the employee or by XO for other than cause. Upon the
Effective Date of the plan of Reorganization, all options under any predecessor XO stock option plans
were cancelled and the plans were terminated.

On June 20, 2003, XO filed a registration statement covering the offer and sale of stock options and
stock appreciation nghts (“SARs™) 1o be granted in conjunction with the 2003 Employee Retention and
Incentive Plan (the “Retention Plan”) for an aggregate award of 1.9 million shares of New Common
Stock. (the “Retention Plan Awards”). Approximately 200,000 options and approximately 10,500 SARs
were granted in the third quarter of 2003, fifty percent of which were vested and exercisable on the date of
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grant, with the remaining fifly percent vesting ratably every month for twenty four months following the
month of grant. Additional grants may be made in 2004 if the Company attains certain financial goals in
the second half of 2003. The financial goals and the terms of the Retention Plan were established by the
Company's Board of Directors. The per share exercise price for the Retention Plan Awards was set at
$5.84. Any compensation was recorded as deferred compensation and amortized to on a straight line basis
expense based on the associated vesting period.

. The following two tables summarize information regarding option activity under the 2002 Stock
Option Plan for the vear ended December 31, 2003: '

Number of Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price
Outstanding at the Effccuive Date . . — $ —
Granted . . oo . . 15,394.162 $3°09
Canceled . . . (3.697,068) $5.02
Excraised . . . . (1,274.139) $5'01
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 . . 10.422,953 $512
Excrcisable, at December 31, 2003 . . .o 2,424,903 $510
Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Options Average Weighted Options Weighted
Outstanding at Remaining Average Exercisable at ‘Average
December 31, Contractual Exercise December 31, Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices 2003 Life Price 2003 ’ Price
$5.12 2,424,903 “$510

§ 4.80-87.05 10,422,955 91

17. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE !
Cash flows

Supplemental disclosure of the Company’s cash flow information is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Reorganized XO Predecessor XO
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Non-cash financing and nvesting activities were as follows
Class A common stock. warrants and options 1ssued 1n acquisitions
and under lease arrangements . $ — $ — $ 29,055
Redeemable preferred stock dividends, paid in shares of
redeemable preferred stock . ) — — 86,237
Accrued redeemable preferred stock dividends, pavable n shares of
redeemable preferred stock . . — — 6.524
Assumption of preferred stock and habilitics 1 acquisitions . — — . 8.816
Conversion of 6'2% redeemable cumulative preferred stock to
Class A common stock . — 35 17,700
Conversion of accrued interest to long-term debt . .o 29,901 — : —
Cash paid for interest’ § 2315 $11,681 $313,178

Employee Savings and Rettrement Plan

At December 31, 2003. the Company had a defined contribution plan, generally covering all full time
employces in the United States. The Company provides a match to all eligible employees based on certain
plan provisions and the discretion of the Board of Directors. Effective April 1, 2002, the Company changed
its employer matching contribution from a 100% matching contnbution up 10 5% of the participant’s
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compensation to a 50% matching contribution up to 5% of the participant’s compensation. Company
contributions were $4.8 million, $7.0 million and $12.5 million during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

18. OPERATING SEGMENTS
Reportable Segments

The Compuny operates its business as one telecommunications segment. The Company’s communica-
tions segment includes all of its products and services including data, voice, integrated voice and data, and
other services. These services have similar network operations and technology requirements and are sold
through similar sales channels 1o a similar targeted customer basc. Therefore, the Company manages these
services as a single segment that are sold in geographic areas, or markets, within the United States, or that
are sold to customers with a presence across geographical markets.

Products and Services

The Company classifies its products and services revenues offered by its communications services
segment into voice services, data services, integrated voice and data services, and other services (dollars in
thousands):

Predecessor XO
Reorganized XO Year Ended December

Year Ended 31,
2003 2002 2001
Voice services . . $ 572774 $ 659.558 $ 609.883
Data services . . . 392,742 472,247 596,664
Integrated vorce and data services . 144,967 128,048 52,018
Total revenue Lo $1,110.483 $1,259.853  $1 258.567

19. SELECTED QUARTERLY DATA (Unaudited)

Quarterly financial information is summarized in the 1able below (dollars in thousands, except per
share data): :
Reorganized XO
Quarter ended 2002
March 31, June 30), September 30, December 31,

Revenue . . .. ... $286,093 $283,918 $279.433 $261.039
Cost of service . 107,506 104,898 106,935 102,790
Loss from operations . (14,015) (13,260) (35.878) (48.705)
Net loss (a) . . (20.488) (19,836) (40,787) (21,443)
Net loss per common share (basic and diluted) (a)(d) (022) (021) (0 42) (022)

Predecessor XO
Quarter ended 2002
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Revenue $ 333405 § 325480 $ 301 526 $ 299,442
Cost of service ’ . 140,367 134,346 126,215 121.996
Loss from operations (b) . (182,663) (176,771) (673,001) (176,463)
Net loss before cumulative effect of accounting change (299,028)  (346.133) (695,209) (169,822)
Net loss (¢) . (2.175.654)  (346.133) (695.209) (169.822)
Net loss applicable to common shares . (2,198,480)  (286.851) (695,209) (169,822)
Net loss per common share (basic and diluted) (c)(d) 497) (0 65) (157) (039)

a Founth quarter of 2003 includes a $33 3 mullion reahized investment gain

b In the third quarter of 2002, loss from operations ncludes a non-cash asset wnte down totaling $477 3 mullion
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¢ In the first quarter of 2002, net loss includes a $1.876 6 nullion impairment charge 1o wnte-off all of XO's goodwill a5 a cumulauve effect of
accounting change, pursuant to SFAS No 142

d For the year 2003. the net loss per share data has been calculated based on the shares outslanding subsequent to consummation of the Plan of
Reorgamzation For the year 2002, the net loss per share dala has been calculated based on the shares outstanding of the Company’s pre-petition
class A and class B common stock prior to the consummation of 1ts Plan of Reorganization

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Various entities controlled by Mr. Icahn hold the following interests in XO:

Qutstanding Common  Series A, B and

Stock C Warrants Credit Facility
(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
At December 31, 2003 . . . Greater than 80% Greater than 40% Greater than 90%
At January 31. 2004 .. . Greater than 60% Greater than 40% Greater than 90%

In addition, entities controlled by Mr. Icahn have acquired an option to purchase 6.25 million
additional shares of XO’s New Common Stock from Franklin Mutual Advisors, LLC at a strike price of
$4.25 per share which expires June 21, 2004. After closing the Rights Offering in January 2004,

Mr. Icahn’s ownership interest in our outstanding common stock was reduced to over 60% (unaudited).

As a result of his majority ownership, Mr. Icahn can elect all of our directors, appoint the members
of the committees of our Board of Directors, appoint key members of our executive management team,
and appoint our auditors. Currently. Mr Icahn is Chairman of the Board of Directors and three employees
of Tcahn Associates sit on the Board of Directors and various Committees of the Board of Directors
Under applicable law and XO’s Certificate of Incorporation and by-laws, certain action cannot be 1aken
without the approval of holders of a majority of our voting stock, including, without limitation, mergers,
acquisitions, the sale of substantially all our assets, and amendments to our Certificate of Incorporation
and by-laws.

Mr Icahn, through various entities that he owns or controls, has the right to require XO to register,
under the Securities Act of 1933, shares of New Common Stock held by such entities and to include
shares of New Common Stock held by them in certain registration statements filed by XO, pursuant to a
Registration Rights Agreement approved by the Bankrupicy Court in connection with XO Puarent’s
Chapter 11 proceedings.

In February 2003, Dixon Properties, LLC (“Dixon™), which is controlled by Mr. Icahn, acquired
ownership of the building in which XO headquarters is located 1n a transaction that was approved by the
Bankruptcy Court. XO currently leases approximately 170,000 square feet of space in that building.
Pursuant to the assumed lease agreement, XO has paid $3.3 million in lease expense to Dixon for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and XO is obligated to pay approximately $15.6 million to Dixon through the
expiration of the initial term of the lease, which is November 30, 2007.

XO has entered into a Tax Allocation Agreement, dated January 16, 2003, between XO and Starfire
Holding Corporation (“Starfire’), the parent entity of the affiliated group of corporations controlled by
Mr. Icahn. XO and Starfire intend to file consolidated returns during the period in which Mr. Icahn’s
ownership of XO is equal to or greater than 80%, as required by the Internal Revenue Code. The Tax
Allocation Agreement provides that Starfire will pay all consolidated federal income taxes on behalf of the
Tcahn consolidated group that includes XO, and XO will make payments to Starfire 1n an amount equal to
the tax liability, if any, that it would have incurred if it were to file 1ts own consolidated return separate
and apart from Starfire. Upon the closing of the Rights Offering in January 2004, Mr. Icahn ownership
percentage fell below 80% (unaudited). Consequently XO will no longer file as part of Icahn’s
consolidated group after January 2004 Upon deconsolidation, the Tax Allocation Agreement generally
provides that Starfire will reimburse XO each year going forward for the excess of XO's actual income tax
expense over the income tax that would have been owed if the net operaung losses or other tax attributes
used in prior periods by the Starfire consolidated group excluding XO, if any, were still available to XO.
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The Company provides certain telecommunications services to companies affiliated with Mr. Icahn.
For the year ended December 31, 2003, the total revenue recognized on such services affiliated with
Mr. Icahn was approximately $0.4 million. The Company has purchased approximately $0.3 million 1n
services from Icahn affiliates during 2003. During 2003, XO purchased approximately $1.1 million in
hardware and services from Dell Computers, Inc. Mr. Adam Dell, an XO director, is Mr. Michael Dell’s,
the Chief Executive Officer of Dell Computers, brother.

2]1. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Commitments

The Company is leasing premises under various noncancelable operating leases for administrative
space, building access, and other leases, which, in addition to rental payments, requirc payments for
insurance, maintenance, property taxes and other executory costs related to the leases. The lease
agreements have various expiration dates and renewal options through 2029. The Company also has
various noncancelable long-term contractual obligations associated with maintenance and service
agreements.

Future minimum lease commitments required under noncancelable operating leases and contractual
obligations are as follows (dollars in thousands):

. Other
Operating long-term
lease contractual
Year Ending December 31, obligations  obligations
2004. . . $ 60,623 $ 53.974
2005 . Lo . . 57.974 33,768
2006 . . . 53,269 24,484
2007 . . . . . 49,159 23.451
2008 . . . . 38,823 23.048
Thereafter . 188,084 96.811
Total mmmum commitments . . $447.932 $255.536

Rent expense for cancelable and noncancelable leases totaled approximately $54.0 million,
$76 4 million, and $100.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
The minimum lease payments noted above have not been reduced for sublease income totaling
approximately $6.1 million at December 31, 2003.

Capital Leases

Network assets under capital leases totaled approximately $1.4 million and $16.3 million as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and are included in telecommunications networks in property
and equipment. Depreciation on leased assets of $0.4 million and $2.0 million for the years ended
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December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, is included in depreciation expense. Future minimum lease
. payments under capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2003 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2004 . . . $2.809
2005 . N o . 2,668
2006 . . 2416
2007 NN . . 1,733
2008 . . . . . 271
Thereafter . . P =
Total mmmmum captal lease payments . . . . 9,903
Less imputed interest . . . . (2.722)
Less current portion of capital lease obhgations . . (1.660)

Long-term portion of capital lease obligation . . . . $5,521

The Company provides intercity transport primanly through five year leases of wavelength capacity
that are paid for at the beginning of the term. The first of these leases expires in 2006. At that time, XO
will either rencw these leases or light its intercity fiber network, either of which will be a substantial
capital expenditure.

Legal Proceedings

XO is involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings consisting of commercial, securities,
tort, and employment matters, which arise in the ordinary course of business. In addition, disputes with
respect to general unsecured claims and two administrative expense claims against XO Parent in the
aggregate amount of approximately $23.0 million remain pending from the XO Parent Chapter 11
proceedings. In accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” XO makes a provision for
a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be
reasonably estimated. XO believes it has adequate provisions for any such matters. XO reviews these
provisions at Jeast quarterly and adjusts these provisions to reflect the impacts of negotiations, scttlements,
rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. Litigation
is inherently unpredictable. However, XO believes that it has valid defenses with respect to legal matters
pending against it. Nevertheless, it is possible that cash flows or results of operations could be materially
affected 1n any particular period by the unfavorable resolution of one or more of these contingencies.

Unfunded Affiltate Pension Obligation (Unaudited)

As affiliates of Mr. Icahn held over 80% of the outstanding New Common Stock of XO Parent at
December 31, 2003, applicable pension and tax laws made each member of a plan sponsor’s “controlled
group” (generally defined as entities in which there 1s at least an 80% common ownership interest) jointly
and severally hiable for certam pension plan obligations of the plan sponsor. These pension obligations
include ongoing contributions to fund the plan, as well as liability for any unfunded liabilities that may
exist at the time the plan is terminated. In addition, the failure to pay these pension obligations when due
may result in the creation of liens in favor of the pension plan or the Pension Benefit Guaranty
Corporation, (the “PBGC”) against the assets of each member of the plan sponsor’s controlled group.

As a result of the reduction to less than 80% ownership interest in XO Parent by Mr. Icahn’s affihates
after the Rights Offering, XO Parent and its subsidiaries will no longer be subject to the pension liabilities
of any entities in which Mr. Tcahn has a direct or indirect ownership interest of at least 80%.
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22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Unaudited)

Acquisition of Assets of Allegiance Telecom, Inc.

On February 19, 2004, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York
approved the Asset Purchase Agreement by and betwcen XO Parent and Allegiance Telecom, Inc., or
(“Allegiance™), pursuant to which XO Parent has agreed to acquire substantially all of the assets of
Allegiance for approximately $311.0 million in cash and approximately 45.4 million shares of New
Common Stock. Governmental approval should occur prior to, or shortly after the second quarter of 2004.
At that point 1n time, the two companies will operate under a management agrecment whereby the
combined management team will exercise day to day operating control over the assets and operations to be
acquired from Allegiance. The acquisition of the Allegiance assets should be consummated during the
third quarter of 2004 after all other federal and state regulatory approvals are obtained. While the
Company believes the approvals will be forthcoming, there can be no assurance that XO will obtain the
governmental approvals and clearances required to consummate the acquisition of the Allegiance assets.

The Allegiance assets consist primarily of:

« switching and routing equipment, located both in current Allegiance facilities and in facilities
operating by one or more incumbent Jocal exchange carriers;

» physical points of presence in the form of network operations centers, data centers, central offices,
and sales offices located in 36 major metropolitan areas;

» customer and sales agreements that constitute a majority of Allegiance’s voice and data revenues;

» leased intercity and metro fiber network capacity that is both redundant 10 and expansive of XO's
current network; and

» billing, provisioning, and other back-office information technology platforms.

Rights Offering

As part of its Plan of Reorganization, XO Parent agreed to initiate a Rights Offering that allowed
certain holders of claims and interests in XO Parent as of the November 15, 2002 record date 1o subscribe
for up to 40.0 million shares of New Common Stack at $5.00 per share The Rights Offering closed on
January 5, 2004, An aggregate of 39.7 million shares were issued, yiclding net proceeds of $197.6 million
The proceeds were used to reduce its outstanding debt and accrued interest under the Credit Facility from
$536.8 million to $339.2. See also Note 2.



XO Communications, Inc.

Schedule 11 — Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
For The Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Predecessor XO

Additions
Beginning  charged to Balance
(dollars in thousands) Balance expense Reductions Ending
Allowance for doubtful accounts
2001 . . . . . $20.999 $ 45,757 $ (34,264) $ 32492
2002 $ 32492 $ 53,631 $ (49.093) § 37.030
Restructuning accrual
2001 (a) . . .. $ — $509,202 $(363,429) $125.773
2002 (b) . $123.773 $480,168 $ 78,990

$(526,951)

(2) Only $16 6 million of the reduction in the 2001 restructuring accrual was for cash payments The balance was associated with
the write down for the excess of carrying value of assets to be sold or abandoned and was applied to those assets

(b) Only $49 7 nulhon of the reduction in 2002 restructuring accrual was for cash payments The balance was associated with the
non-cash asset write down resulting from an agreement with Level 3 to amend various agreements relating to XO's Level 3

intercity fiber network facilhities

Reorganized XO
Additions
Beginning  Reorganization  charged to Ending
(dollars in thousands) Balance Adjustments expense Reductions  Balance
Allowance for doubtful accounts )
2003 . . . . $37.030 5§ - $29.998 $(34,042) 332,986
Restructunng accrual
2003 (¢) . . $38.725 $26,809 $11.618 $(17,176)  $59.976

(c) The beginming balance was reduced to 1ts net present value when we implemented fresh start
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LMDS HOLDINGS, INC. SMALL AND MINORITY-OWNED
TELECOMMUNICATIONS BUSINESS PARTICIPATION PLAN FOR ITS
TENNESSEE BUSINESS OPERATIONS

PURPOSE:

The purpose of the Small and Minority-Owned Telecommunications Business Participation Plan ("Plan")
of LMDS Holdmgs, Inc (“Holdings™ or “Company™) 15 to 1dentify small and munority-owned telecommunications
businesses in Tennessee that are qualified to provide goods and services to Holdmgs, and to promote awareness
among these entitics of the opportunities to develop business relationships with Holdings 1n those areas in
Tennessee 1n which Holdings provides telecommunications services.

POLICY STATEMENT:

Holdings acknowledges the mmportance of supporting the participation of small and minority-owned
telccommumnications businesses 1n the telecommunications industry 1n Tennessce and throughout the United States

It 1s the policy of Holdings, wherever possible, to provide small and minority-owned telecommunications
businesses with an opportunity to compete for contracts and subcontracts to supply goods and services to Holdings
in those arcas m which Holdings 1s providing telecommunications services. To this end, Holdings 1s commuitted to
the wdentification and selection of qualified small and minority-owned telecommunications businesses that may wish
to contract with Holdings for purposes of supplymg the Company’s Tenncssee operations with goods and scrvices
relating to the ficld of telecommunications. 1t also 1s the policy of Holdings, where appropriate and feasible, to
provide mnformation on programs, 1f any, to provide technical assistancc to small and munority-owned
telecommunications businesses whenever and wherever available 1in Tennessec

Holdings acknowledges 1ts obligation, under TENN CODE ANN § 65-5-212, to contribute 1ts statutory share
to the fund cstablished by the Tennessee Departiment ol Economic and Community Development for the purposc of
supporting the Small and Mmority-Owned Telecommunications Business Assistance Program (“Program™)
Tennessee  This Program provides for loan guarantees, technical assistance and services, and consulting and
educational services for small and mmority-owned telecommunications businesses in Tennessee

DEFINITIONS:
“Aetr” - Section 16 and 17 of Chapter 408 of the Public Acts of 1995.
“Holdmgs " -- a Delaware Corporation headquartcred at 11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190

“Minority-Owned Telecommuncations Busmess ™ ~ As defined m the Act and in TENN. CoODE ANN § 65-5-
212, a telecommunicauons business which 1s solely owned, or at least tifty-one percent (51%) of the assets or
outstanding stock of which 1s owned, by an individual who personally manages and the daily operations of such
business, and who 1s tmpeded from normal entry mto the econonuc mamstream because of race, religion, sex or
national origmn and such business has annual gross receipts of less than four million dollars ($4,000,000), or as
otherwise modified or amended 1n the future by the legislature for the State of Tennessee

a “Personally Manages™ m this context shall mean actively involved m the day-to-day management.
b. “Controls”™ n this context shall mecan exercising the power to make policy decisions
¢ “Who 1s 1impeded from normal entry™ m this context shall individuals who have been subjected to

racial or ethnic prejudice or cultural bias because of their 1dentity as a member of a group without
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regard to their quahitics as individuals and as provided i the regulation implementing Section B(a)
and 7()) of the Small Business Act, as amended by the Business Opportunity Development Reform
Act of 1988, and Business Opportunity Development Reform Act Technical Corrections Act. (15
U.S C. 67(a) and 636())), as amended by Pub L. 100-656 and Pub. L 101-37

“Small Telecommunications Bustess ™ - A telecommunications company with annual gross receipts of less
than four nullion dollars ($4,000,000), or as otherwise modified or amended 1 the future by the legislature for the
State of Tennessee.

“Subcontract” - Any agreement {(other than one involving an employer-employee relationship) entered nto
by Holdings with a non-affiliated company or individual calling for the dircct or mdirect purchase of raw materials,

components, supphes and services needed to support Holdings’ operations.

IMPLEMENTATION OF PI.AN;

Wherce appropnate, Holdings will invite bids. 1ssue requests for proposals, or otherwise solicit offers [rom
small and munority-owned telecommunications businesses to furnish specified goods or services to Holdings in
furtherance of 1ts Tennessee operations, except m the case of emergencies, or 1n such cases where Holdings 1s bound
by contract to purchase goods and services from other sources.
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ADMINISTRATION OF PLLAN:

In conducting 1ts business affairs m Tennessce, Holdings will appomnt one of its employees as the
Adnunistrator of the Plan  The Admumustrator will be responsible for identilying and utthzing available resources tor
idenufymg small telecommunications and nunority-owned telecommunications busiesses iterested 1 and
qualified to furnish goods and services to Holdings in Tennessce, as Holdings™ needs arise. The Administrator also
will be responsible for cultivating an awareness among such business entities with respect to potential opportunities
to develop business relations with Holdings

The Administrator will endeavor to serve as resource for technical assistance to small and nunority-owned
telecommunications business, and will refer such busimesses to sources of information and technical assistance,
mternal and external, where feasible.

PILAN ADMINISTRATOR:

The adnumstration of this Plan will be under the direction ol (heremalter called the “Adnumistrator™):

David LaFrance

Regulatory and External Atfairs
LMDS Holdings, Inc

11111 Sunset Hills Road
Reston, VA 20814

The duties of the Admunstrator include the following:

1. To develop Company policies and procedures relating to the Plan

[E°)

To search for and develop opportunities to use qualified small and nunority-owned

teleconumunications businesses to participate 1n and bid on contracts and subcontracts to supply
goods and services to Holdings by utilizing the following resources, where available.

d

(V%)

The United States Department of Commerce, Oftice of Minority Business Data Center,
the Small Business Admunistration and 1ts Procurement Automated Source System
("PASS™) and 1ts Officc of Minority Small Business and Capital Ownership
Development, the Tennessee Chamber of Commerce; the Tennessee Department of
Economic and Community Development, the National Mimority Supplier Development
Counscl; the  National Association of Women Business Owners, the National
Association of Mmority Contractors.

L.ocal and national associations, and minority supplier development councils

Trade faurs and industry mectings.

Advertisement mn industry and local publications

Historically Black Colleges, Universities, and Minority Institutions

To establish and mamtaimn an updated Plan and related documentation that are consistent with the

current rules, orders and policies of the Tennessee Regulatory Authornty regarding small and
munority-owned telecommunications businesses, and that arc in full comphance with TENN. CODE
ANN. § 65-5-212 '

4. To prepare and subnut such mformation and documentation as may be required by the Tennessee
Regulatory Authority

5. To cooperate with the Tennessee Regulatory Authority and with other agencies of the State of
Tennessec to find and utilize, where possible, the qualified business cntities defined herem.
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6 “To support activities for assisting potential buyers n locating and qualilying the types of business
concerns 1dentified herein

9. To cooperate 1 any authonized surveys by the Tennessee Regulatory Authority.

10. To provide mformation and educational activities to Holdings personnel and to tram such persons
to seek out, encourage, and promote the use of small and minority-owned telecommunications
businesses.

COMPLIANCE REPORTS:

Holdings will submit such reports as may be required for use 1n connection with subcontracting plans by
the Tennessee Regulatory Authority and/or the State of Tennessee. Holdings will cooperate to the fullest extent
possible with all reasonable and appropriate surveys or studies required by the contracting agency for purposes of
deternumng compliance with the State’s small and nunority-owned telecommunications business participation
program However, IToldings reserves the right to designate any documents, reports. surveys, studtes or information
submutted for this purpose as “confidential” or "proprietary.”
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RECORD MAINTENANCE:

i

Holdings will maintain records relating to 1ts Small and Minority-Owned Telecommumications Business
Participation Plan for purposes of evidencing the Company’s implementation of this policy, for use by Holdings 1n
evaluating the effectiveness and n achieving the goals of its Plan, and for the Company’s use 1n updatmg the Plan
on an annual basis with the Tennessee Regulatory Authority, or as otherwise required. -

J
ADOPTED THIS 2~ day of March, 2006.
LMDS Holdngs, Inc.

By: / /)r /Mf{/’”’///% 74

BenJamJn R. Preston

i
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[n Re Apphication of

LMDS HOLDINGS, INC.

For a Certificate of Public
Convenience and Necessity

To Provide Facilities-Based Local
Exchange and Interexchange
Telecommunications Services
Within the State of Tennessee

BEFORE THE TENNESSEE REGULATORY AUTHORITY

Docket No.

Pre-Filed Testimony of David LaFrance

I, David LaFrance do hereby testify as follows in support of LM DS Holdings Inc.’s (“Holdings”
or “Applicant”) Application for Certificate of Public Necessity to Provide Local Exchange and
Interexchange Telecommunications Services within the State of Tennessce:

Q.

A.

Please state your name, business address and title.

My name 1s David LaFrance, and my business address is 11111 Sunset Hills Road,
Reston, Virginia, 20190. My title is Senior Manager - Regulatory and External Affairs at
LMDS Holdings, Inc.

Please state your qualifications.

[ am currently Senior Manager of Regulatory and External Affairs for LMDS Holdings,
Inc. responsible for managing federal and state regulatory matters. From September, 1998
through November, 2005 T held a series of positions with XO Communications, Inc. with
responsibility for state regulatory matters in the Qwest region. From September, 1994 to
September, 1998 I was the primary telecommunications policy advisor to the Utah Public
Service Commission and prior to that served from 1990 to 1994 as the primary
telecommunications analyst for the Rhode Island Public Ultilitics Commission. I hold a
Bachelor of Arts degree from Saint Michael’s College and an interdisciplinary Master of
Arts from the American University School of Communication and the Kogod Business
School.

Are all of the statements in Holdings> Application correct and true to the best of
your knowledge, information and belief?

Yes.
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Q. Please describe the current corporate structure of Holdings.

Holdings is currently a wholly-owned subsidiary of XO Communications, Inc. However,
XO Communications, Inc. is in the process of a pro forma restructuring merger. As a
result of thus restructuring, XO Communications, Inc. will be merged into XO
Communications, LLC and removed from the owncrship structure of Holdings. This will
leave XO Holdings, Inc. in the place of XO Communications, Inc. as parent-company to
Holdings. Holdings will share the same ultimate owner with XO Communications, LLC,
Carl C. Tcahn. An Petition for Approval of this transaction has been filed with thc TRA
under separate cover and issued Docket No. 05-0334. A press release describing this
transaction can be found at ht(p://www.xo.com/news/278 hunl.

Q. Does Holdings have the requisite managerial, technical and financial abilities to
provide service for which it has applied?

A. Yes.
Q. Please describe Applicant’s financial abilities?

Specifically, as stated in the Press Release appended as Exhibit C, Applicant will have an
infusion of $300,000,000 upon closing of the restructuring of its corporate structurc.
Also included are the 10K filings of XO Communications, Inc. as Exhibit F, and
projected financial statements of Applicant, filed under seal, appended as Exhibit E.

Q. Please describe the technical and managerial qualifications of Holdings.

A. Applicant’s management team includes individuals with substantive experience in
successfully developing and operating telecommunications business. Consequentially,
the Company has the adequate internal technical resources to support its Tennessee
operations. This expertise in the telecommunications industry makes Applicant’s
management team well-qualified to operate its local exchange and interexchange
opcrations in Tennessee. Specific details of the business and technical experience of
Holdings” officers and management personnel are attached as Exhibit D, which also
contain biographies and a brief description of the business experiences of key
management personnel who will be responsible for Applicant’s telecommunications
scrvices in Tennessee and throughout the United States.

Q. What services will Holdings offer?
The Applicant plans to initially offer dedicated point-to-point transport and data services
to enterprise customers and othcr common carriers. At a later date, Holdings may expand

its service offerings, to include a broader range of products and services.

Q. Will granting a Certificate serve the public interest of Tennessee consumers?
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A decision by the TRA to grant Applicant authority to provide local exchange and
interexchange tclecommunications services is in the public interest. Applicant is well
qualified to operate as such a service provider in Tennessee. Consumers of
tclecommunications services in Tennessee will receive the bencefits of downward pressure
on prices, increased choice, improved quality of service and customer responsiveness,
innovative service offerings, and access to increasingly advanced telecommunications
technology. The market incentives for new and existing providers of telecommunications
scrvices will be improved through an increase in the diversity of suppliers and
competition within the local exchange and interexchange telecommunications market.
Granting Holdings’ Application would enhance the development of competition in the
local exchange and interexchange markets and provide the consumers of Tennessee with
all of the benefits described above.

Has Holdings filed its small and minority-owned business plan?
Yes.
Has H.ol.dings filed a dialing parity plan?

As a data and transport provider, Holdings will not offer voice grade telecommunications
services to end users. Therefore, a dialing parity plan is not applicable.

Will Holdings offer service in areas served by rural telecommunications providers
or independent telecommunications providers?

Holdings is requesting authority to provide its data and transport tclecommunications
services in all areas on the state.

Is Holdings authorized to provide service in other states?

Yes, Holdings is currently authorized to provide service n the District of Columbia,
Maryland, Missouri, New York, Texas, Washington. .Holdings is in the process of
applying for Certificates in the following jurisdictions: Alabama, Arizona, California,
Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, lowa, Kansas, Kentucky,
Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New
Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, South
Carolina, Tennessee, and Wisconsin.

Who is knowledgeable about Holdings’ operations and will serve as the TRA’s
regulatory and customer service contact?

All ongoing compliance matters should be directed to my attention. All correspondence,
notices, inquiries and orders relating to consumer issues, billing 1ssues, technical service
quality issues, and customer complaint issues should be sent to Tamic Whitefoot,
Operations Director, LMDS Holdings, Inc., 4800 Concentric Blvd., Saginaw, MI 48604,
Telephone: (877) 714-6398, Facsimile: (989) 758-6510,
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E-mail: tamic.w hitelooi@ixo.com.

Q. Has Holdings been involved in any pertinent mergers or acquisitions?
No.
Q. Will Holdings comply with all of the rules, regulations and orders of the TRA?
A. Yes.
Q. Does this conclude your testimony?
A. Yecs.
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EXHIBIT I

BOND

TO BE LATE FILED
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EXHIBIT J

PROPOSED TARIFF
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LMDS Holdings, Inc. Tennessee Tariff No. 1
Original Page 1

COMPETITIVE LOCAL EXCHANGE TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES

TITLE PAGE

LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICES

OF

LMDS Holdings, Inc.

This Tariff contains the descriptions, regulations and rates applicable to the furnishing of
local exchange services by LMDS Holdings, Inc. (“LMDS”) hereinafter the “Company”
with principal offices located at 11111 Sunset Hills Road, Reston, VA 20190. This Tariff
is on file with the Tennessee Regulatory Authority and copies may be inspected, during
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EXPLANATION OF SYMBOLS
When changes are made in any Tariff page, a revised page will be issued canceling the Tariff
page affected. Changes will be identified on the revised pages(s) through the use of the above

mentioned symbols.

The following are the only symbols used for the purposes indicated below:

©) - To signify changed regulation.

™) - To signify discontinued rate or regulation.

1)) - To signify increased rate.

™) - To signify a move in the location of text.

™) - To signify new rate or regulation.

R) - To signify reduced rate.

(S) - To signify reissued matter.

(T) - To signify a change in text but no change in rate or regulation.
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TARIFF FORMAT

A. Page Numbering - Page numbers appear in the upper right comner of the page. Pages are
numbered sequentially, however, new pages are occasionally added to the Tariff. When a new
page is added between pages already in effect, a decimal is added. For example, a new page
added between pages 14 and 15 would be 14.1.

B. Page Revision Numbers - Revision numbers also appear in the upper right corner of each page.
These numbers are used to determine the most current page version on file with the Tennessee
Regulatory Authority. For example, the 4" Revised Page 14 cancels the 3" Revised Page 14.
Because of various suspension periods, deferrals, etc, the Tennessee Regulatory Authority
follows in their Tariff approval process, the most current page number on file with the TRA is not
always the Tariff page in effect. Consult the Check Sheet for the page currently in effect.

C. Paragraph Numbering Sequence - There are nine levels of paragraph coding. Each level of
coding is subservient to its next higher level:

2.1.1.A.1.
2.1.1.A.1.(a).
2.1.1.A.1.(a).L.
2.1.1.A.1.(a).1.(i).
2.1.1.A.1.(a).L.G).(1).

D. Check Sheets - When a Tariff filing is made with the Tennessee Regulatory Authority, an
updated Check Sheet accompanies the Tariff filing. The Check Sheet lists the pages contained in
the Tariff, with a cross reference to the current revision number. When new pages are added, the
Check Sheet is changed to reflect the revision. All revisions made in a given filing are designated
by an asterisk (*). There will be no other symbols used on this page if these are the only changes
made to it (i.e., the format, etc. remains the same, just revised revision levels on some pages). The
Tariff user should refer to the latest Check Sheet to find out if a particular page is the most
current on file with the Tennessee Regulatory Authority.
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SECTION 1 - DEFINITIONS

Advance Payment - Part or all of a payment required before the start of service.

Authorized User - A person, firm or corporation which is authorized by the Customer or joint user to be
connected to the service of the Customer or joint user.

Broadband Wireless Service - A high capacity broadband wireless service offered by the Company.

Circuit — A dedicated telecommunications path provided by the Company to connect a Customer Remote
location with a Company Hub as specified by the Customer in a Service Order. Circuits come in different
types depending on the speed and data rates provisioned over the physical facilities of the Circuit (i.e., DS1,
DS3, OCx, 5 Mbps, 10 Mbps).

Company - LMDS Holdings, Inc., the issuer of this Tariff, which is a Delaware corporation, or any of its
affiliates which concur in this Tariff.

Customer - The person, firm or corporation which orders service and is responsible for the payment of
charges and compliance with the Company’s regulations.

Hub — A location at which the Company maintains facilities to aggregate customer traffic and/or to
interconnect Customer traffic with the facilities of other telecommunications carriers. Transport of
information from a Hub to Remotes and vise versa occurs via Links and/or Circuits. Transport is provided
by line of sight technology which includes point to multipoint and point to point wireless technology.

Individual Case Basis (ICB) - A service arrangement in which the terms, conditions, rates and charges
are developed based on the specific circumstances of the Customer's situation, and as further described in
Section 3.1.2.

Link — A direct wireless connection between two physical locations using radio transmission and
reception equipment at each end.

Non-Recurring Charges - The one-time initial charges for services or facilities, including but not limited
to charges for construction, installation or special fees for which the Customer becomes liable at the time
the Service Order is executed.
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SECTION 1 — DEFINITIONS, (CONT’D.)

Point of Demarcation — The point at the Remote Site at the Customer’s premises at which the Company’s
responsibility to provide equipment and service ends and the Customer’s responsibility for the information
begins, as specified in a Service Order.

Recurring Charges - The monthly charges to the Customer for services, facilities and equipment which
continue for the agreed upon duration of the service.

Remote - A Customer end point location that serves as the termination point for various Circuit types.
Transport of information from a Remote to a Hub and vise versa occurs via Links and/or Circuits.
Transport is provided by line of sight technology which includes point to multipoint or point 1o point
wireless technology, or by terrestrial cable and wire facilities. 1f a site is used as an intermediate location in
a chain of point to point services, both ends are defined as a Remote.

Service Commencement Date - The date on which the Company notifies the Customer that the services
are installed or connected and available for use. The parties may mutually agree on a substitute Service
Commencement Date. '

Service Order - The written request for communications services executed by the Customer and the
Company in the format devised by the Company. The signing of a Service Order by the Customer and
acceptance by the Company initiates the respective obligations of the parties as set forth therein and
pursuant to this Tariff.

Site — A location from which radio transmission and reception equipment produces Links. A Site may be a
Hub or, a Remote.

United States - The 48 contiguous states and the District of Columbia, Hawaii, Alaska, Puerto Rico, the US
Virgin Islands, as well as the off-shore areas outside the boundaries of the coastal states of the 48 contiguous
states to the extent that such areas appertain to and are subject to the jurisdiction and control of the United
States.

User or End User - Any person or entity that obtains the Company’s services provided under this Tariff,
regardless of whether such person or entity is so authorized by the Customer.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS

2.1 Undertaking of the Company

2.1.1

2.1.2

Scope

The Company undertakes to furnish communications service in connection with one-way
and/or two-way information transmission between points within the State of Tennessee
under the terms of this Tariff.

Customers may use services and facilities provided under this Tariff to obtain access to
services offered by other service providers. The Company is responsible under this Tariff
only for the services and facilities provided herein, and it assumes no responsibility for
any service provided by any other entity that purchases access to the Company network
in order to originate or terminate its own services, or to communicate with its own
customers.

Shortage of Equipment or Facilities

The Company reserves the right to limit or to allocate the use of existing facilities, or of
additional facilities offered by the Company, when necessary because of lack of facilities,
or due to some other cause beyond the Company’s control.

The furnishing of service under this Tariff is subject to the availability on a continuing basis
of all the necessary facilities, including facilities the Company may obtain from other
carriers, to furnish service.

- The provisioning and restoration of services in emergencies shall be in accordance with

Part 64, Subpart D, Appendix A, of the Federal Communications Commission’s Rules and
Regulations, which specifies the priority system for such activities as further described in
Section 2.1.10 below.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)

2.1 Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)

2.1.3 Terms

2.1.3.1

2.1.3.2

2.1.33

2.1.34

2.1.3.6

and Conditions

Except as otherwise provided herein, service is provided on the basis of a
minimum period of at least one month and shall continue to be provided until
canceled by the Customer, in writing, on not less than 30 days notice. For the
purpose of computing charges in this Tariff, a month is considered to have 30 days.

Customers may be required to enter into written Service Orders which shall contain
or reference the name of the Customer, a specific description of the service
ordered, the rates to be charged, the duration of the services, and the terms and
conditions in this Tariff. Customers will also be required to execute any other
documents as may be reasonably requested by the Company.

At the expiration of the initial term specified in each Service Order, or in any
extension thereof, service shall continue on a month to month basis at the then
current rates unless terminated by either party upon 30 days written notice. Any
termination shall not relieve the Customer of its obligation to pay any charges
incurred under the service order and this Tariff prior to termination. The rights and
obligations which, by their nature, extend beyond the termination of the term of the
service order shall survive such termination.

In any action between the parties to enforce any provision of this Tariff, the
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its legal fees and court costs from the
non-prevailing party in addition to other relief a court may award.

2.1.3.5 This Tariff shall be interpreted and governed by the Jaws of the State of
Tennessee without regard of the State’s choice of laws provision.

Service may be terminated upon written notice to the Customer if:
(a) the Customer is using the service in violation of this Tariff, or
(b) the Customer is using the service in violation of the law, or as set forth in

Section 2.5.5 of this Tariff.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)
2.1°  Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)
2.1.3 Terms and Conditions, (cont’d.)

2.1.3.7 The Customer agrees to operate Company-provided equipment in accordance with
instructions of the Company or its agents. Failure to do so will void Company
liability for interruption of service and may make the Customer responsible for
damage to equipment pursuant to Section 2.1.3.8 below.

2.1.3.8 The Customer agrees to return to the Company all Company-provided equipment
delivered to the Customer within five (5) days of termination of the service in
connection with which the equipment was used. Said equipment shall be in the
same condition as when delivered to the Customer, except for normal wear and
tear.

Customer agrees to reimburse the Company, upon demand, for any reasonable
costs incurred by the Company due to the Customer’s failure to comply with this
provision.

2.1.3.9 Another telephone company must not interfere with the right of any person or
entity to obtain service directly from the Company.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)

2.1 Undertakiné of the Company, (Cont’d.)

2.1.4 Liability of the Company

2.1.4.1

2.1.4.2

2.1.4.3

The liability of the Company for damages arising out of the furnishing of its
services, including but not limited to mistakes, omissions, interruptions, delays,
errors, or other defects, representations, or use of these services, or arising out of
the failure to furnish the service, whether caused by acts of omission, shall be
limited to the extension of allowances for interruption as set forth in Section 2.6.
The extension of such allowances for interruption shall be the sole remedy of the
Customer and the sole liability of the Company. The Company will not be liable
for any direct, indirect, incidental, special, consequential, exemplary or punitive
damages to Customer as a result of any Company service, equipment or facilities,
or the acts, omissions or negligence of the Company’s employees or agents.

Except for the extension of allowances to the Customer for interruption in service
as set forth in Section 2.6, the Company shall not be liable to a Customer or third
party for any direct, indirect, special, incidental, reliance, consequential,
exemplary or punitive damages, including, but not limited to, loss of revenue or
profits, for any reason whatsoever, including, but not limited to, any act or
omission, failure to perform, delay, interruption, failure to provide any service or
any failure in or breakdown of facilities associated with the service.

The Company shall not be liable for any delay or failure of performance or
equipment due to causes beyond its control, including but not limited to: acts of
God, fire, flood, explosion or other catastrophes; any law, order, regulation,
direction, action, or request of the United States Government, or of any other
state or local governments having or claiming jurisdiction over the Company, or
of any department, agency, commission, bureau, corporation, or other
instrumentality of any one or more of these federal, state or local governments, or
of any civil or military authority; national emergencies; insurrections; riots; wars;
unavailability of rights-of-way or materials; or strikes, lockouts, work stoppages,
or other labor difficulties.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)
2.1 Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)
2.1.4 Liability of the Company, (cont’d.)

2.1.4.4 The Company shall not be liable for any claims for loss or damages involving any -
act or omission of (a) any entity furnishing to the Company or to the Company’s
Customers” facilities or equipment used in conjunction with services or facilities
provided by the Company; or (b) common carriers or warehousemen.

2.1.4.5 The Company shall not be liable for any damages or losses due to the fault or
negligence of the Customer or due to the failure or malfunction of Customer-
provided equipment or facilities.

2.1.4.6 The Customer shall indemnify and hold the Company harmless from any and all
loss, claims, demands, suits, or other action, or any liability whatsoever, including
attorney fees, whether suffered, made, instituted, or asserted by the Customer or
any other party or person(s), and for any loss, damage, or destruction of any
property, whether owned by the Customer or any other party, caused or claimed to
have been caused directly or indirectly by the installation, operation, failure to
operate, maintenance, removal, presence, condition, location, or use of any
installation so provided. The Company reserves the right to require each Customer
to sign an agreement acknowledging acceptance of the provisions of this section as
a condition precedent to such installations.

2.1.4.7 The Company is not liable for any defacement of, or damage to, Customer
premises resulting from the furnishing of services or equipment on such premises
or the installation or removal thereof.
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2.1

SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)

Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)

2.1.4 Liability of the Company, (cont’d.)

2.14.8

2.149

Notwithstanding the Customer’s obligations as set forth in Section 2.3 below, the
Company shall be indemnified, defended and held harmless by the Customer, or by
others authorized by it to use the service, against any claim, loss or damage arising
from Customer’s use of services furnished under this Tariff, including: claims for
libel, slander, invasion of privacy or infringement of copyright arising from the
material, data, information, or other content transmitted via the Company’s service;
patent infringement claims arising from combining or connecting the service
offered by the Company with apparatus and systems of the Customer or others; and
all other claims arising out of any act or omission of the Customer or others, in
connection with any service provided by the Company pursuant to this Tariff.

The entire liability of the Company for any claim, loss, damage or expense from
any cause whatsoever shall in no event exceed sums actually paid by Customer for
the specific services giving rise to the claim. No action or proceeding against the
Company shall be commenced more than thirty (30) days after the date of the
occurrence that gave rise to the claim.

2.1.4.10 The Company shall be indemnified and held harmless by the End User against any

claim, loss or damage arising from the End User’s use of services offered under
this Tariff including: claims for libel, slander, invasion of privacy or infringement
of copyright arising from the End User’s own communications; patent
infringement claims arising from the End User’s combining or connecting the
service offered by the Company with facilities or equipment furnished by the End
User of another-carrier; and all other claims arising out of any act or omission of
the End User in connection with any service provided pursuant to this Tariff.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)
2.1 Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)
2.1.4 Liability of the Company, (cont’d.)

2.1.4.11 The Company does not guarantee or make any warranty with respect to service
installations at locations at which there is present an atmosphere that is explosive,
prone to fire, dangerous or otherwise unsuitable for such installations. The
Customer and End User shall indemnify and hold the Company harmless from any
and all loss, claims, demands, suits or other actions, or any liability whatsoever,
whether suffered, made, instituted or asserted by the Customer or by any other
party, for any personal injury to, or death of, any person, or persons, or for any
loss, damage or destruction of any property, whether owned by the Customer or
others, caused or claimed to have been caused directly or indirectly, by the
installation, operation, failure to operate, maintenance, removal, presence,
condition, location or use of service furnished by the Company at such locations.

2.1.4.12 The liability of the Company for errors in billing that result in overpayment by the
Customer shall be limited to a credit equal to the dollar amount erroneously billed.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)
2.1 Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)
2.1.4  Liability of the Company, (cont’d.)

2.1.4.13 The Company assumes no responsibility for the availability or performance of any
cable or satellite systems or related facilities under the control of other entities, or
for other facilities provided by other entities used for service to the Customer, even
if the Company has acted as the Customer’s agent in arranging for such facilities or
services. Such facilities are provided subject to such degree of protection or non-
preemptability as may be provided by the other entities.

2.1.4.14The Company makes no warranties or representations, express or implied either
in fact or by operation of law, statutory or otherwise, including warranties of
merchantability or fitness for a particular use, except those expressly set forth
herein.

2.1.5 Notification of Service-Affecting Activities

The Company will provide the Customer reasonable notification of service-
affecting activities that may occur. Such activities may include, but are not limited
to, equipment or facilities additions, removals or rearrangements and routine
preventative maintenance. Generally, such activities are not specific to an
individual Customer but affect many Customers’ services. No specific advance
notification period is applicable to all service activities. The Company will work
cooperatively with the Customer to determine the reasonable notification
requirements. With some emergency or unplanned service-affecting conditions,
such as an outage resulting from cable damage, notification to the Customer may
not be possible.
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2.1

SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)

Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)

2.1.6 Provision of Equipment and Facilities

2.1.6.1 The Company shall use reasonable efforts to make available services to a Customer
on or before a particular date, subject to the provisions of, and compliance by the
Customer with, the regulations contained in this Tariff. The Company does not
guarantee availability by any such date and shall not be liable for any delays in

commencing service to any Customer.

2.1.6.2 The Company shall use reasonable efforts to maintain facilities and equipment that
it furnishes to the Customer. The Customer may not, nor may the Customer permit
others to, rearrange, disconnect, remove, attempt to repair, or otherwise interfere
with any of the facilities or equipment installed by the Company, except upon the

written consent of the Company.

2.1.6.3 The Company may substitute, change or rearrange any equipment or facility at any
time, but shall not thereby alter the technical parameters of the service provided to

the Customer.

2.1.6.4 Equipment the Company provides or installs at the Customer premises for use in .
connection with the services the Company offers shall not be used for any purpose

other than that for which the Company provided it.

2.1.6.5 The Company shall not be responsible for the installation, operation, or
maintenance of any Customer-provided communications equipment. Where such
equipment is connected to the facilities furnished pursuant to this Tariff, the
responsibility of the Company shall be limited to the furnishing of facilities offered
under this Tariff and to the maintenance and operation of such facilities. Subject to

this responsibility, the Company shall not be responsible for:

(a) the transmission of signals by Customer-provided equipment or for the
" quality of, or defects in, such transmission; or

(b) the reception of signals by Customer-provided equipment; or

(c) network control signaling where such signaling is performed by Customer-

provided network control signaling equipment.
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SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)

2.1 Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)

2.1.7 Special Construction

Subject to the arrangement of the Company and to all of the regulations contained in this

Tariff, special construction of facilities may be undertaken on a reasonable efforts basis at

the request of the Customer. Special construction is that construction undertaken:

(a) where Company facilities are not presently available, and Company agrees to
construct those facilities;

(b) of a type other than that which the Company would normally utilize in the
furnishing of its services;

(c) over a transmission link other than that which the Company would normally utilize
in the furnishing of its services;

(d) in a quantity greater than that which the Company would normally construct;

(e) on an expedited basis;

® on a temporary basis until permanent facilities are available;

© involving abnormal costs; or

(h) in advance of its normal construction.

Special construction may be assessed for point to point to point or point to multipoint radio

transmission and reception facilities. Such facilities may include, but are not limited to,

radio transmission equipment, transmit and receive antennae, circuit equipment, and

professional engineering services for design and construction of Hub and/or Remote

terminal equipment including mounting of antennae, masts, and installation of transmission

cable. Special construction charges will be determined on a case by case basis.

2.1.8 Ownership of Facilities
Title to all facilities provided in accordance with this Tariff remains with the
Company, its agents, contractors or suppliers.
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COMPETITIVE LOCAL EXCHANGE TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES

SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)
2.1 Undertaking of the Company, (Cont’d.)
2.1.9 Non-routine Installation

At the Customer’s request, installation and/or maintenance may be performed outside the
Company’s regular business hours or at a hazardous location or Site. In such cases,
charges based on cost of the actual labor, material, or other costs incurred by or charged
to the Company will apply. If installation is started during regular business hours but, at
the Customer’s request, extends beyond regular business hours into time periods
including, but not limited to, weekends, holidays, and/or night hours, additional charges

may apply.
2.1.10 Telecommunications Service Priority

The Telecommunications Service Priority System is the regulatory, administrative and
operational system authorizing and providing for priority treatment, to provide and
restore National Security Emergency Preparedness Telecommunications service. Under
the rules of the Telecommunications Service Priority System, The Company is authorized
and required to provide and restore services with Telecommunications Service Priority
assignments before services without such assignments. The provision and restoration of
Telecommunications Service Priority System services shall be in compliance with Part
64, Appendix A, of the Federal Communications Commission’s Rules and Regulations,
the guidelines set forth in the Telecommunications Service Priority for National Security
Emergency Preparedness Service User Manual and Service Vendor Handbook.
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COMPETITIVE LOCAL EXCHANGE TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES

SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)
2.2 Use of Service

Service is provided for use by the Customer and may be used by others, when so authorized by
the Customer, provided that all such usage shall be subject to the provisions of this Tariff, and
shall not affect the Customer’s responsibility for all payments required under this Tariff.

2.2.1 Prohibited Uses

2.2.1.1 The services the Company offers shall not be used for any unlawful purpose or
for any use for which the Customer has not obtained all required governmental
approvals, authorization, licenses, consents and permits.

2.2.1.2 The Company may require a Customer to immediately shut down its
transmission if such transmission is causing interference to others.

2.2.1.3 The Customer may not use the services so as to interfere with or impair service
over any facilities and associated equipment, or so as to impair the privacy of any
communications over such facilities and associated equipment.
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2.3 Obligations of the Customer

2.3.1

Customer Responsibilities

The Customer shall be responsible for:

@
(b)

©

(@)

the payment of all applicable charges pursuant to this Tariff;

damage to or loss of Company facilities or equipment caused by the acts or
omissions of the Customer; by the noncompliance by the Customer with these
regulations; or by fire or theft or other casualty on the Customer premises, unless
caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the employees or agents of the
Company;

providing at no charge, as specified from time to time by the Company, any needed
personnel, equipment, space and power to operate Company facilities and
equipment installed on the Customer premises, and the level of heating and air
conditioning necessary to maintain the proper operating environment on such
premises;

obtaining, maintaining, and otherwise having full responsibility for all rights-of-
way including private or public easements, licenses, roof rights and conduit
necessary for the installation and ongoing maintenance of wireless transmission
and reception equipment including, but not limited to, roof top antennas, inside
wiring and associated indoor equipment used to provide services to the Customer
from the Company’s designated Point of Demarcation to the location of the
equipment space described in 2.3.] (c). Any costs associated with the obtaining and
maintaining of the rights-of-way described herein, including the costs of altering
the structure to permit installation of Company-provided facilities, shall be borne
entirely by, or may be charged by the Company to, the Customer;
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23 Obligations of the Customer, (Cont’d.)

2.3.1 Customer Responsibilities, (cont’d.)

(e)

)

(g)

(h)

providing a safe place to work and complying with all federal and state laws and
regulations regarding the working conditions on any premises at which Company
employees and agents shall be installing or maintaining Company facilities and

" equipment. The Customer may be required to install and maintain Company

facilities and equipment within a hazardous area if, in the Company’s opinion,
injury or damage to Company employees or property might result from installation
or maintenance by the Company. The Customer shall be responsible for
identifying, monitoring, removing and disposing of any hazardous material (e.g.
friable asbestos) prior to any construction or installation work;

complying with all laws and regulations applicable to, and obtaining all consents,
approvals, licenses and permits as may be required with respect to the location of
Company facilities and equipment in or on any Customer premises or the right-of-
way for which Customer is responsible under section 2.3.1(d); and granting or
obtaining permission for Company agents or employees to enter the premises of
the Customer at any time for the purpose of installing, inspecting, maintaining,
repairing, or upon termination of service as stated herein, removing the facx]mes or
equipment of the Company.

not creating or allowing to be placed or maintained any liens or other
encumbrances on the Company’s equipment or facilities; and

making Company facilities and equipment available periodically for maintenance
purposes at a time agreeable to both the Company and the Customer. No
allowance for interruptions in service will be made for the period durmg which
service is interrupted for such purposes. :
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2.3 Obligations of the Customer, (Cont’d.)
232 Claims

With respect to any service or facilities provided by the Company, the Customer shall
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company from and against all claims, actions,
damages, liabilities, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney fees for:

(a) any loss, destruction or damage to property of the Company or any third party, or
the death or injury to persons, including, but not limited to, employees or invitees
of either party, to the extent caused by or resulting from the negligent or intentional

act or omission of the Customer, its employees, agents, representatives'or invitees;

or '

(b) any claim, loss, damage, expense or liability for infringement of any copyright,
patent, trade secret, or any proprietary or intellectual property right of any third
party, arising from any act or omission by the Customer, including, without
limitation, use of Company services and facilities in a manner not contemplated by
the agreement between Customer and the Company.
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24 Customer Equipment and Channels

24.1

24.2

243

In General

A Customer may transmit or receive information or signals via the facilities of the
Company.

Station Equipment

24.2.1

2.4.2.2

Customer-provided terminal equipment on the Customer premises and the electric
power consumed by such equipment shall be provided and maintained at the
expense of the Customer.

The Customer is responsible for ensuring that Customer-provided equipment
connected to Company equipment and facilities is compatible with such equipment
and facilities. The magnitude and character of the voltages and currents impressed
on Company-provided equipment and wiring by the connection, operation, or
maintenance of such equipment and wiring shall be such as not to cause damage to
the Company-provided equipment and wiring or injury to the Company’s
employees or to other persons. Any additional protective equipment required to
prevent such damage or injury shall be provided by the Company at the
Customer’s expense.

Interconnection of Facilities

2.4.3.1

2.4.3.2

2.43.3

Any special interface equipment necessary to achieve compatibility between the
facilities and equipment of the Company used for furnishing service and the
channels, facilities, or equipment of others may be provided at the Customer’s
expense. -

Service may be connected to the services or facilities of other communications
carriers only when authorized by, and in accordance with, the . terms and
conditions of the tariffs, other official rates of the other communications carriers
which are applicable to such connections. '

Facilities furnished under this Tariff may be connected to Customer provided
terminal equipment in accordance with the provisions of this Tariff.
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Customer Equipment and Channels, (Cont’d.)

244

Inspection and Testing

2.44.1

2.44.2

Upon suitable notification to the Customer, and at a reasonable time, the Company
may make such tests and inspections as may be necessary to determine that the
Customer is complying with the requirements set forth in section 2.4.2.2 for the
installation, operation, and maintenance of Customer-provided facilities,
equipment, and wiring in the connection of Customer-provided facilities and
equipment to Company-owned facilities and equipment.

If the protective requirements for Customer-provided equipment are not being
complied with, the Company may take such action as it deems necessary to
protect its facilities, equipment, and personnel. The Company will notify the
Customer promptly if there is any need for further corrective action. Within ten
days of receiving this notice the customer must take this corrective action and
notify the Company of the action taken. If the Customer fails to do this, the
Company may take whatever additional action is deemed necessary, including
the suspension of service, to protect its facilities, equipment and personnel from
harm. The Company will, upon request 24 hours in advance, provide the
Customer with a statement of technical parameters that the Customer’s
equipment must meet.
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2.5 Payment Arrangements
2.5.1 Payment for Service

The Customer is responsible for the payment of all charges for facilities and services
furnished by the Company to the Customer or to authorized or joint users. For the purposes
of this Tariff, all rates are in U.S. dollars.

2.5.1.1 Taxes and Regulatory Fees

The Customer is responsible for the payment of any permissible sales, use, gross
receipts, excise, access or other local, state and federal taxes, charges, fees or
surcharges, including but not limited to any universal service assessments, however
designated (excluding taxes on the Company’s net income), imposed on or based
upon the provision, sale or use of the Company’s services. All such taxes or fees
shall be separately designated on the Company’s invoices to the extent required by
law. If an entity other than the Company (e.g., another carrier or a supplier)
imposes charges on the Company, in addition to its own internal costs, in
connection with a service for which the Company’s Non-recurring Charge is
specified, those charges will be passed on to the Customer. [t shall be the
responsibility of the Customer to pay any such taxes, charges, fees or surcharges
that subsequently become applicable retroactively.
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2.5 Payment Arrangements, (Cont’d.)

2.5.2 Billing and Collection of Charges

The Customer is responsible for the payment of all charges incurred by the Customer or

other users for services and facilities furnished to the Customer by the Company.

The Company shall bill on a month-to-month basis all charges incurred by, and credits due

to, the Customer under this Tariff attributable to services established, provided, or

discontinued.

2.5.2.1 Non-Recurring Charges are due and payable within 30 days after the date an
invoice is mailed to the Customer by the Company.

2.5.2.2 The Company shall present invoices for Recurring Charges monthly to the
Customer in advance of the month in which service is provided. Recurring Charges
shall be due and payable within 30 days after the invoice is mailed to the Customer
by the Company.

2.5.2.3 When service does not begin on the first day of the month, or end on the last day of
the month, the charge for the portion of the month in which service was furnished
will be calculated on a pro rata basis. For this purpose, every month is considered
to have 30 days.

2.5.2.4 Billing of the Customer by the Company will begin on the Service Commencement
Date, which is the first day following the date on which the Company notifies the
Customer that the service or facility is available for use, except that the Service
Commencement Date may be postponed by mutual agreement of the parties, or if
the service or facility does not conform to standards set forth in this Tariff or the
Service Order. Billing accrues through and includes the day that the service,
circuit, arrangement or component is discontinued.

2.5.2.5 If any portion of the payment is received by the Company after the date due, or if
any portion of the payment is received by the Company in funds which are not
immediately available, then a late payment penalty of 1.5% shall be due to the
Company.
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Payment Arrangements, (Cont’d.)

253

2.54

Advance Payments

To safeguard its interests, the Company may require a Customer to make an advance
payment before services and facilities are furnished. In addition, where special construction
is involved, the advance payment may also include an amount equal to the estimated Non-
Recurring Charges for the special construction and Recurring Charges (if any) for a period
to be set between the Company and the Customer. The advance payment will be credited to
the Customer’s initial bill. An advance payment may be required in addition to a deposit.

Deposits

(A)

(B)

©

D)

To safeguard its interests, the Company may require the Customer to make a
deposit to be held as a guarantee for the payment of charges in accordance with
Tennessee Public Service Commission Rule 515-12-1.05(4). A deposit may be
required if the Customer's financial condition is not acceptable to the Company
or is not a matter of general knowledge. A deposit does not relieve the Customer
of the responsibility for the prompt payment of bills on presentation. The deposit
will not exceed an amount equal to two and one-half twelfths of the estimated
charge for the service for the ensuing twelve months. A deposit may be required
in addition to an advance payment.

Upon discontinuance of service, the Company shall promptly and automatically
refund the Customer's deposit plus accrued interest, or the balance, if any, in
excess of the unpaid bills including any penalties assessed for service furnished
by the Company.

Deposits will accrue interest annually at the rate of 7% per annum in accordance
with Tennessee Public Service Commission Rule 515-12-1.05(4)(b). Upon
request of the Customer, accrued interest shall be annually credited to the
Customer by deducting such interest from the amount of the next bill for service
following the accrual date. '

The Company shall annually and automatically refund the deposits of Customers
who have paid bills for twelve consecutive months without having had service
discontinued for nonpayment or had more than one occasion on which a bill was
not paid within the period prescribed and are not then delinquent in payment.
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2.5.5 Return Check Charge

A. A return check charge of $25.00 will be assessed for checks retumed for
insufficient funds if the face value of the check does not exceed $50.00.

B. A return check charge of $30.00 will be assessed for checks returmed for
insufficient funds if the face value of the check exceeds $50.00 but does not
exceed $300.00.

C. A return check charge of $40.00 or 5% of the value of the check, whichever is
greater, will be assessed for checks retumed for insufficient funds if the face
value of the check exceeds $300.00.

2.5.6 Disputed Bills

The Customer shall notify the Company of any disputed items on a bill within 30 days of
receipt of the bill. If the Customer and the Company are unable to resolve the dispute to
their mutual satisfaction, the Customer may file a complaint with the Tennessee
Regulatory Authority in accordance with the TRA’s rules of procedure.

2.5.6.1 The date of the dispute shall be the date the Company receives sufficient
documentation to enable it to investigate the dispute.

2.5.6.2 The date of the resolution is the date the Company completes its investigation
and notifies the Customer of the disposition of the dispute.
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Payment Arrangements, (Cont’d.)

2.5.5 Discontinuance of Service

2.5.5.1 Upon nonpayment of any amount owing the Company, the Company may, by
giving ten (10) days prior written notice to the Customer, discontinue or suspend

service without incurring any liability.

2.5.5.2 Upon violation of any of the other material terms or conditions for furnishing
service, the Company may, by giving 30 days prior written notice to the Customer,
discontinue or suspend service without incurring any liability if such violation

continues during that period.

2.5.5.3 Upon condemnation of any material portion of the facilities used by the Company
or its agents to provide service to a Customer or if a casualty renders all or any
material portion of such facilities inoperable beyond feasible repair, the Company,
by nolice to the Customer, may discontinue or suspend service without incurring

any liability.

2.5.5.4 Upon the Customer’s insolvency, assignment for the benefit of creditors, filing for
bankruptcy or reorganization, or failing to discharge an involuntary petition within
the time permitted by law, the Company may immediately discontinue or suspend

service without incurring any liability.

2.5.5.5 Upon any governmental prohibition or required alteration of the services to be
provided or any violation of an applicable law or regulation, the Company may

immediately discontinue service without incurring any liability.

2.5.5.6 Upon the Company’s discontinuance of service to the Customer under Section
2.5.5.1 or 2.5.5.2, or 2.5.5.7 the Company, in addition to all other remedies that
may be available to the Company by law or in equity or under any other provision
of this Tariff, may declare all future monthly and other charges which would have
been payable by the Customer during the remainder of the term for which such
services would have otherwise been provided to the Customer to be immediately

due and payable.
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25 Payment Arrangements, (Cont’d.)

2.5.5 Discontinuance of Service, (cont’d.)

2.5.5.7 The Company may discontinue service pursuant to this sub-section 2.5.5.7
immediately and without notice, if the Company deems that such action is
necessary to prevent or to protect against fraud or to otherwise protect its
personnel, agents, facilities or services.

@

(b)

()

C))

(e)

the Customer refuses to furnish information to the Company regarding the
Customer’s credit-worthiness, its past or current use of common carrier
communications services or its planned use of service(s);

the Customer provides false information to the Company regarding the
Customer’s identity, address, credit-worthiness, past or current use of
common carrier communications services, or its planned use of the
Company’s service(s),

the Customer states that it will not comply with, or fails to comply with, a
request of the Company for security for the payment for service(s) in
accordance with Section 2.5.4;

the Customer has been given written notice by the Company of any past
due amount (which remains unpaid in whole or in part) for any of the
Company’s other common carrier communications services to which the
Customer either subscribes or had subscribed or used;

the Customer uses service to transmit a message, locate a person or
otherwise give or obtain information without payment for the service;
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2.5.5 Discontinuance of Service, (cont’d.)

2.5.5.7 (continued)

) the Customer uses, or attempts to use, service with the intent to avoid the
payment, either in whole or in part, of the Tariffed charges for the service
by:

1) using or attempting to use service by rearranging, tampering with,
or making connections to the Company’s service not authorized
by this Tariff;,

) using tricks, schemes, false credit devices, electronic devices; or

@A) any other fraudulent means or devices;

(2) the Customer owes any sum thirty (30) days past due;

(h) within five (5) business days of the date of written notice to the Customer
that the Customer is not complying with any provision of this Tariff, the
noncompliance is not corrected.

2.5.5.8 The discontinuance of service(s) by the Company pursuant to this Section 2.5.5
does not relieve the Customer of any obligation to pay the Company for charges
due and owing for service(s) furnished up to the time of discontinuance or for any
applicable termination charges, reasonable attorneys’ fees, or any other fees
incurred by the Company in the collection of any amount due under this Tariff
for services rendered or facilities provided, shall become due. Any attorneys’ or
other collection fees incurred by the Company after discontinuance of service
shall become due immediately upon invoice of such fees to the customer. This is
in addition to all other remedies that may be available to the Company at law or
in equity or under any other provision of this Tariff.
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Payment Arrangements, (Cont’d.)

2.5.6 Cancellation of Application for Service

2.5.6.1 Applications for service cannot be canceled unless the Company otherwise agrees.
Where the Company permits Customer to cancel an application for service prior to
the start of service or prior to any special construction, no charges will be imposed

except for those specified below.

2.5.6.2 Where, prior to cancellation by the Customer, the Company incurs any expenses in
installing the service or in preparing to install the service that it otherwise would
not have incurred, a charge equal to the costs the Company incurred, less net
salvage, shall apply. In such case, the charge will be based on such elements as the
cost of the equipment, facilities, and material, the cost of installation, engineering,
labor, and supervision, general and administrative expense, other disbursements,
depreciation, maintenance, taxes, provision for return on investment, and any other

costs associated with the construction or arrangements.

The special charges described in 2.5.6.2 will be calculated and applied on a case-

by-case-basis.

2.5.6.3 Upon cancellation of a Service Order by the Customer after execution of the
Service Order but before the Service Commencement Date, all applicable
charges, including but not limited to charges enumerated in Section 2.5.6.2,
termination charges, reasonable attorneys’ fees, or any other fees incurred by the
Company in the collection of any amount due under this Tariff for services
rendered or facilities provided, shall become due. Any attorneys’ or other
collection fees incurred by the Company after cancellation of service shall
become due immediately upon invoice of such fees to the Customer. This is in
addition to all other remedies that may be available to the Company at law or in

equity or under any other provision of this Tariff.
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2.6 Allowances for Interruptions in Service

Interruptions in service, which are not due to the negligence of, or noncompliance with the
provisions of this Tariff by, the Customer or the operation or malfunction of the facilities, power or
equipment provided by the Customer, will be credited to the Customer as set forth in 2.6.1 for the
part of the service that the interruption affects.

2.6.1 Credit for Interruptions

2.6.1.1 A credit allowance will be made when an interruption occurs because of a failure
of any component furnished by the Company under this Tariff. An interruption
period begins when a Customer reports a service, facility or circuit is interrupted
and releases it for testing and repair. An interruption period ends when the service,
facility or circuit is repaired or is inoperative but the Customer declines to release it
for testing and repair.

2.6.1.2 For calculating credit allowances, every month is considered to have 30 days. A
credit allowance is applied on a pro rata basis against the rates specified thereunder
and is dependent upon the length of the interruption. Only those facilities on the
interrupted portion of the circuit will receive a credit.
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2.6.1 Credit for Interruptions, (cont'd.)

2.6.1.3 A credit allowance will be given for interruptions of 15 minutes or more. Credit
allowances will be calculated as follows:

Interruptions of 24 hours or Less:

Length of Period to be Credited Interruption Credit
Less than 15 minutes None

15 minutes up to, but not including 3 hours 1/10 Day

3 hours up to, but not including 6 hours 1/5 Day

6 hours up to, but not including 9 hours 2/5 Day

9 hours up to, but not including 12 hours 3/5 Day

12 hours up to, but not including 15 hours 4/5 Day

15 hours up to, but not including 24 hours One Day

Two or more interruptions of 15 minutes or more during any 24-hour period shall
be considered as one interruption.

Interruptions Over 24 Hours and Less Than 72 Hours. Interruptions over 24 hours
and less than 72 hours will be credited 1/5 day for each 3-hour period or fraction
thereof. No more than one full day’s credit will be allowed for any period of 24
hours.

Interruptions Over 72 Hours. Interruptions over 72 hours will be credited 2 days
for each full 24-hour period. No more than 30 days credited will be allowed for any
one month period.
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2.6.2 Limitations on Allowances

No credit allowance will be made for:

(a) interruptions due to the negligence of, or noncompliance with the provisions of this
Tariff by, the Customer, authorized user, joint user, or other common carrier
providing service connected to the service of the Company;

(b) interruptions due to the negligence of any person other than the Company,
including but not limited to the Customer or other common carriers connected to
the Company’s facilities;

(c) interruptions due to the failure or malfunction of non-Company equipment;

) interruptions of service during any period in which the Company is not given full
and free access to its facilities and equipment for the purpose of investigating and
correcting interruptions;

(e) interruptions of service during a period in which the Customer continues to use the
service on an impaired basis;

® interruptions of service during any period when the Customer has released service
to the Company for maintenance purposes or for implementation of a Customer
order for a change in service arrangements;

(2 interruption of service due to circumstances or causes beyond the control of the
Company;

(h) interruptions of service not reported to the Company within thirty (30) days of the
date that service was affected.
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2.6.3 Use of an Alternative Service

Should the Customer elect to use another means of communications during the period of
interruption, the Customer must pay the charges for the alternative service used.

2.6.4 Cancellation For Service Interruption

Cancellation or termination for service interruption is permitted only if any circuit
experiences a single continuous outage of 8 hours or more or cumulative service credits
equaling 16 hours in a continuous 12-month period. The right to cancel service under this
provision applies only to the single circuit which has been subject to the outage or
cumulative service credits.
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2.7 Cancellation of Service

If a Customer cancels a Service Order or terminates services before the completion of the
term for any reason whatsoever other than a service interruption (as defined in 2.6.1 above),
Customer agrees to pay to Company the following sums which shall become due and
owing as of the effective date of the cancellation or termination and shall be payable within
the period set forth in 2.5.2: 1) all Non-Recurring charges reasonably expended by the
Company to establish service to Customer, plus 2) any disconnection, early cancellation or
termination charges reasonably incurred and paid to third parties by the Company on behalf
of Customer, plus 3) all Recurring Charges specified in the applicable Service Order for the
balance of the then current term.

2.8 Transfers and Assignments

Neither the Company nor the Customer may assign or transfer its rights or duties in
connection with the services and facilities provided by the Company without the written
consent of the other party, except that the Company may assign its rights and duties (a) to
any subsidiary, parent company or affiliate of the Company; (b) pursuant to any sale or
transfer of substantially all the assets of the Company; or (c) pursuant to any financing,
merger or reorganization of the Company.
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2.9

SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS, (CONT’D.)

Notices and Communications

29.1

2.9.2

293

2.94

The Customer shall designate on the Service Order an address to which the Company shall
mail or deliver all notices and other communications, except that Customer may also
designate a separate address to which the Company’s bills for service shall be mailed.

The Company shall designate on the Service Order an address to which the Customer shall
mail or deliver all notices and other communications, except that Company may designate a
separate address on each bill for service to which the Customer shall mail payment on that
bill.

All notices or other communications required to be given pursuant to this Tariff will be in
writing. Notices and other communications of either party, and all bills mailed by the
Company, shall be presumed to have been delivered to the other party on the third business
day following placement of the notice, communication or bill with the U.S. Mail or a
private delivery service, prepaid and properly addressed, or when actually received or
refused by the addressee, whichever occurs first.

The Company or the Customer shall advise the other party of any changes to the addresses
designated for notices, other communications or billing, by following the procedures for
giving notice set forth in Section 2.9.3.
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3.1

SECTION 3 - SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS

Broadband Wireless Service

3.1.1

Description of Service

Broadband Wireless service is offered as a high capacity dedicated transmission facility
available 24 hours per day, 7 days per week. Customers may commit {0 one, two or three
year service terms. The minimum service period for Broadband Wireless Service is one
year. Should the Customer terminate service prior to the end of the term commitment, the
Customer will be billed a termination charge equal to the monthly recurring charge times
the number of months remaining in the term.

Broadband Wireless Service provides dedicated wireless bandwidth between a Customer
Remote and a Company Hub. Equipment at the Remote transmits and the Hub equipment
receives a point-to-point or point-to-multipoint transmission utilizing radio frequencies in
the Local Multipoint Distribution Service (LMDS) 27.5 to 31.225 GHz spectrum. The
entire usable bandwidth of the transmission path is available and dedicated to the
Customer for its exclusive use. Broadband Wireless Service provides line-of-sight
transmission and will not penetrate trees, walls, glass or other path-obstructing materials.
The use of time-division multiple access (TDMA) and FDMA (frequency DMA)
technology allows multiple customers within a 3-7 mile coverage radius to share the
same radio channel (multipoint). :
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SECTION 3 - SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS, (CONT"’D.)

3.1 Broadband Wireless Service, (Cont’d.)

3.1.2

Limitations

Service will be provided subject to availability and where technical capabilities permit.
The following limitations will apply to the provision of all Broadband Wireless Services.

Broadband Wireless Service microwave equipment requires an unobstructed line-of-sight
to a Company Hub. Actual data transmission rates depend on a number of factors,
including, but not limited to, the distance from the Customer Remote Site to the
Company Hub. The Customer shall be responsible for any and all costs associated with
obtaining and maintaining rights-of-way at a Remote Site, including costs of altering a
structure to permit installation of Company provided facilities. Customer shall bear all
such costs which will be charged by the Company subject to Customer’s prior approval.
The Company may require the Customer to demonstrate compliance with this section
prior to accepting an order for Broadband Wireless Service.

Broadband Wireless Service is offered subject to the availability of necessary facilities or
equipment, or both facilities and equipment, and subject to the provisions of this Tariff.
The obligation of the Company to provide Broadband Wireless Service is dependent
upon its ability to procure, construct, and maintain facilities that are required to meet the
customer’s order for service. The Company’s’ provision of Broadband Wireless Service
through its own facilities requires the use of microwave transmit/receive equipment. Such
equipment must be attached to or located at the Customer’s Remote Site, often on the
roof of the building in which the customer premises is located. Broadband Wireless
Service equipment cannot be installed on the rooftop without the consent of the building
owner and/or property manager(s). In addition, Broadband Wireless Service equipment
cannot be installed without access to the building’s telecommunications closet(s), which
may not be under the control of the Customer or the Company. Therefore, the Company’s
Broadband Wireless Service is subject to the availability of rooftop access and
telecommunications closet access.
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SECTION 3 - SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS, (CONT’D.)

Broadband Wireless Service, (Cont’d.)

3.1.2 Limitations, (cont’d.)

The Company reserves the right to limit or to allocate the use of existing facilities when
necessary due to lack of facilities, relevant resources, or causes beyond the Company’s
control.

The Company does not undertake to transmit messages, but offers the use of its facilities
when available, and will not be liable for errors in transmission nor for failure to establish
connections.

The Customer shall ensure that its equipment is properly interfaced with the Company’s
facilities or services used in providing Broadband Wireless Services; that the signals
emitted into the Company’s network are of the proper mode, bandwidth, power, signal
level or other technical parameters for the intended use of the Customer and in
compliance with the criteria set forth in this Tariff, and that the signals do not damage
equipment, injure personnel or degrade service to other Customers.
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3.1

SECTION 3 - SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS, (CONT’D.)

Broadband Wireless Service, (Cont’d.)

3.1.3

3.14

Wireless T-1

Wireless T-1 is a Broadband Wireless Service offering that provides Customer a total
turnkey transport product including: installation; 24 hour/7 day a week network
nionitoring, maintenance and network performance reporting; detailed billing; and, on-
going post-sales support. A Customer purchases connectivity between a Company Hub
and Customer designated Remote. The Company will confer with the Customer to about
antenna design and propagation. A Broadband Wireless customer can purchase
bandwidth on a point to point or point to multipoint basis in the following increments:

4T-1s
6T-1’s
8T-’s
10 T-1°s
12 T-1’s

Wireless Ethernet

Wireless Ethernet utilizes Broadband Wireless Service technology to deliver Layer-2,
10/100BaseT or faster metropolitan wireless Ethernet connections or Dedicated Internet
Access (DIA). The Wireless Ethernet product can be used to deliver end-to-end wireless
connectivity utilizing standardized 10Mbps or 100Mbps Ethernet interfaces. Customers
can purchase a fixed amount of bandwidth and use the allocated bandwidth for any lawful
purpose consistent with this Tariff. The Broadband Wireless Service Customer can
purchase fixed bandwidth on a point to point or point to multipoint basis in the following
increments:

Wireless Ethernet Dedicated Internet Access
5 Mbps 5 Mbps

10 Mbps 10 Mbps

15 Mbps 20 Mbps

20 Mbps
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3.1

SECTION 3 - SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS, (CONT’D.)

Broadband Wireless Service, (Cont’d.)

3.1.5

Rates and Charges

Rates and charges for Broadband Wireless Services are specified below. The Customer
will be billed a fixed, flat Monthly Recurring Charge (MRC) for bandwidth in addition to
a Non-Recurring Charge (NRC) for installation services provided at the same customer
location. As set forth in section 2.5.1.1, additional Federal, State and Local taxes and
Surcharges may also apply. Rates indicated below do not include sales, use, gross
receipts, excise, access or other local, state and federal taxes, charges, user fees, or
surcharges.

In addition to the rates and charges specified below, the Company may provide service
on an Individual Case Basis. The Company may in response to competitive requests for
proposal, develop a responsive individual case billing arrangement for services offered in
this Tariff. Prices quoted in response to such requests may be different from those in
effect in this Tariff. Such prices will also be available for similarly situated Customers.
All individual case billing arrangement price quotes will be offered to the Customer for
acceptance in writing. Such Individual Case Billing Arrangements will specify, among
other things, the length of service, minimum volume of service required, and the rates and
charges for the proposed service.

A. Rate Elements

1. Air Link. - A monthly recurring Air Link rate element provides for the
dedicated transmission media between a Customer Remote and a
Company Hub. One Link charge applies for each Link that comprises a
Circuit.

2. Port Charge - A monthly recurring Port Charge rate element applies for
each Wireless Tl or Wireless Ethernet port access connection to the
Broadband Wireless Service network. The specified charge is billed per
port per month for the dedicated bandwidth increments specified below.
Data rates for Wireless Ethernet traffic may not exceed the dedicated
bandwidth set out in the Service Order.
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SECTION 3 - SERVICE DESCRIPTIONS, (CONT’D.)

3.2 Terrestrial DS1 Service

Terrestrial DS1 Service is a dedicated, high capacity, full duplex service with a line speed of
1.544 Mbps isochronous serial data having signal format of either Alternate Mark Inversion
(AMI) or Bipolar 8 Zero Substitution (B8ZS) and either Super frame (D4) or Extended Super
frame formats. DS1 Service has the equivalent capacity of 24 Voice Grade services or 24 DSO
services. AMI can support 24 56Kpbs channels and B8ZS can support 24 64Kbps channels.
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SECTION 4- RATES AND CHARGES

4.1 Broadband Wireless Service

4.1.1 Wireless T1 Rates

4T-1s
6 T-1's
8T-’s
10 T-1’s
12 T-1°s

4.1.2 Wireless Ethernet Rates

5 Mbps

10 Mbps
15 Mbps
20 Mbps

Monthly Recurring Charges

Link
$£300
$450
$600
$750
$£890

Monthly Recurring Charges

Port
$120
$180
$240
$300
$360

Link Port
$400 $200
$525 $200
$850 $200
$1,600 $200

4.1.3 Dedicated Internet Access Rates

5 Mbps
10 Mbps
20 Mbps

Monthly Recurring Charges

Link Port
§775 $£200
$1,300 $200
$2,050 $200

Non Recurring Charges

Link

$1,500
$1,500
$1,500
$1,500
$1,500

Port

$1,500
$1,500
$1,500
$1,500
$1,500

Non Recurring Charges

Link Port
$750 $750
$750 $750
$750 $750
£750 $750
Non Recurring Charges
Link Port
$750 §750
$750 $750
$750 $750

Issued: March xx, 2006

David LaFrance, Regulatory & External Affairs

11111 Sunset Hills Road

Reston, VA 20190

Effective: March xx, 2006

TNLO0600 i



LMDS Holdings, Inc. Tennessee Tariff No. 1
Original Page 46

COMPETITIVE LOCAL EXCHANGE TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES

SECTION 4- RATES AND CHARGES, (CONT’D.)

4.2 Terrestrial DS1 Service

Terrestrial DS1 voice loop monthly recurring charge ICB
Terrestrial DS1 voice loop install charge ICB
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